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2008 Summary

•  Earnings were $18.1 billion, the third highest in Company history 

•  Revenues grew 6% to a Company record of $183 billion

•  Global revenues grew 13%

•  Infrastructure and Media segments grew operating profi t 10% 

•  Total equipment and services backlog grew to $172 billion, an increase of 9% 

•  Services grew 10% with a backlog of $121 billion

•  Industrial organic revenues grew 8%

•  Invested $15 billion in the intellectual foundation of the Company, including 
products, training, marketing, and programming 

•  Filed 2,537 patent applications in 2008, an increase of 8% 

•  Named 4th most valuable brand in the world by BusinessWeek

  Note: Financial results from continuing operations unless otherwise noted
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Dear Fellow Owners,

2008 was a tough year, and we expect 2009  
to be even tougher.

The liquidity challenge I reported in last year’s  
letter has become a global financial meltdown.  
In 2008, we worked hard to keep the Company 
safe and to anticipate how the financial  
crisis would impact our businesses. In the past,  
I believed that our diversified portfolio would  
protect us in all kinds of economic cycles. But  
we never anticipated a global financial system  
failure and its continuing economic fallout.
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The macro-environment has been brutal. The losses in the whole financial services 
industry are projected to be at least $2 trillion. The lending capacity that has come out  
of the system is somewhere between $5 trillion and $10 trillion. We have now entered 
an economic recession across most of the world. 

Government actions have helped to stabilize the environment. Capital markets have 
improved, largely due to aggressive actions by the U.S. Federal Reserve, U.S. Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation, U.S. Department of the Treasury, and global governments. 
In addition, stimulus programs being implemented around the world will provide trillions  
in new investments.

In this very tough environment, GE earned $18 billion, our third highest year in history. 
Thanks to the extensive repositioning of our portfolio over the past eight years, we  
redeployed our capital to enable growth. Our operating cash flow for the year remained 
strong at over $19 billion. We have a $172 billion backlog in infrastructure products  
and services. We have geographic diversity, with 53% of our revenues outside the U.S. 
We also have a great pipeline of new products. 

The credit for this performance in the toughest times I’ve ever seen goes to the people 
of GE. The efforts of more than 300,000 skilled GE workers, technicians, credit analysts, 
technologists, engineers, service providers, our experienced management team, and  
all employees helped us end 2008 with solid profitability and prepare our Company  
for future growth. 

Despite our efforts, the GE stock got hammered. Companies with a presence in financial 
services, like GE, are simply out of favor. I can tell you that no one is more disappointed 
than I am with the performance of our stock in this tough environment. I assure you that 
we will work hard to restore your trust, and we will continue to work hard to build GE  
for the long term.

We are in a recession and, at times like these, it is difficult to predict how bad and for 
how long. We are running GE to “weather the cycle.” However, I believe we are going 
through more than a cycle. The global economy, and capitalism, will be “reset” in several 
important ways.

The interaction between government and business will change forever. In a reset 
economy, the government will be a regulator; and also an industry policy champion,  
a financier, and a key partner. 

The financial industry will radically restructure. There will be less leverage, fewer 
competitors, and a fundamental repricing of risk. It will remain an important industry, 
just different. 

There are other resets as well: the diminished role of the automotive industry;  
a prolonged downturn in housing; a decline in the prominence of alternative investments; 
and the nature of executive responsibility and compensation. You get the point. Successful 
companies won’t just “hunker down”; they will seek out the new opportunities in  
a reset world.

In that context, we have taken strong actions to protect the Company during this 
recessionary cycle. At the same time, we will continue to execute our long-term strategy. 
We will continue to build strong businesses that will perform over the long term. And  
we will drive the common initiatives that build competitive advantage. 

 “In this very tough environment, GE earned $18 billion, our third 
highest year in history … We have a $172 billion backlog in 
infrastructure products and services … We also have a great 
pipeline of new products.”
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Prepared for Tough Times
We have prepared for a difficult economy in 2009. To that end, we have lowered  
costs, increased loss reserves, improved our cash position, and intensified our  
management processes.

We made some tough calls as we navigated this environment. We raised $15 billion of 
equity at a time when liquidity was virtually frozen. We have gained access to government 
funding programs that put us on equal footing with banks. 

We have improved our funding. We have already raised about two-thirds of the debt 
required to grow our businesses in 2009. We have increased our alternative funding  
to $54 billion, mainly through our banks. 

We have improved our liquidity. We reduced commercial paper from $100 billion last 
year to $60 billion today. We ended 2008 with $48 billion of cash on our balance sheet. 
We are targeting our leverage in GE Capital to be 6:1 in 2009. 

We are prepared for a very rough economy and have been realistic about our loss 
estimates. We benefit from having less consumer exposure than banks and our commercial 
loans are senior and secured. We are prepared to hold and operate our assets through 
the cycle to maximize value. 

We have taken aggressive action to reduce costs by $5 billion. Our base cost will 
be down 7% next year, driven by headcount reduction and spending cuts. We have 
simplified organizations and reduced layers. We’ll reduce variable costs, including 
$2 billion of sourcing on direct material purchases. We expect our indirect costs to  
be down close to 10%.

Our industrial businesses generate about $16 billion of cash annually, even in an  
economic downturn. We are aiming to reduce working capital by about $5 billion over  
the next two years. This gives us plenty of cash to reinvest in growth, support a strong 
dividend, or strengthen our balance sheet.

But, our top priority for capital allocation at the present time must be safety. To that 
end, we will continue to run the Company with the disciplines of a “Triple A,” including 
adequate capital, low leverage, solid earnings, and conservative funding. 

We have built a foundation that can weather this economic storm. But to emerge from 
this cycle as a more valuable company requires an unflinching commitment to execute our 
long-term strategy: building strong businesses and sustaining competitive advantage.

Building Strong Businesses
Over time, we have been able to transform the GE portfolio to meet new opportunities. 
That remains true today. The chart on this page shows GE’s cumulative net earnings  
over the past four decades: 1970s: $8 billion; 1980s: $24 billion; 1990s: $65 billion;  
2000s: approaching $170 billion. We have performed through economic cycles. 

Last year, we simplified our operating framework to focus on four main businesses: 
technology and energy infrastructure, finance, and media. In 2008, our earnings declined 
19%, while the S&P 500’s earnings declined 30%. This is not the type of “outperformance”  
we like, but we were better than the broad market. Over time, and in an improved  
economy, we expect our businesses will continue to grow faster than the S&P 500. We 
have three priorities for 2009: expand leadership in infrastructure and media; capitalize 
on GE’s cyclical advantages; and create a more focused GE Capital Finance.

GE DELIVERS 1970s 1980s 1990s 2000s
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4 8

90+

~170(In $ billions)

A. Dividend
B. GE earnings
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Expand Leadership in Infrastructure and Media
We have built leadership in infrastructure and media, growing these businesses to about 
$100 billion in revenues with margins of 17%. They require only $2 billion of annual 
investments to drive long-term growth. These businesses grew 10% in 2008 and we 
expect them to grow even in a difficult 2009.

TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE earned about $8 billion in 2008 and under our framework 
we are planning for positive earnings growth in 2009. Margins continue to be solid and 
we expect them to expand in 2009. But we’ll face some headwinds, too. We expect some 
aircraft engine order cancellations and Healthcare’s diagnostic imaging business could 
have a very tough year in the U.S. We are planning for both of these events, which are 
balanced against strong service revenue growth and cost reductions. John Rice  
and his team have done a good job in building a strong set of leadership businesses that 
can grow through this cycle. 

ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE earned about $6 billion in 2008 and we expect earnings and 
margin growth in 2009. The decline in the price of oil is a negative, but we believe  
that as costs go down for steel and other raw materials, some projects may in fact 
accelerate. Long term, growth remains robust; electricity demand should double in  
the next 25 years. We have a substantial advantage in a “clean energy world” thanks  
to our ecomaginationSM initiative. We sold $17 billion in ecomagination products in 2008 
and we are on track for sustained growth. John Krenicki and his team have positioned 
GE to win in the global energy market.

NBC UNIVERSAL earned about $3 billion last year. It’s likely to be down in 2009, as we 
expect the network environment to be particularly tough. But cable, more than 60% of  
our earnings, is going to continue to be a source of strength, building on its ratings success 
in 2008. Our movie business has already invested in new films for next year, which will also 
support DVD sales. Our strengths are good content, a strong cable focus, and international 
distribution. Jeff Zucker and his team have done a great job in repositioning NBC Universal 
to win in the rapidly changing media landscape.

Capitalize on GE’s Cyclical Advantages
GE’s infrastructure businesses have cyclical demand tailwinds in 2009. One driver is  
services. About two-thirds of our earnings come from services. We have a large installed 
base of proprietary technology that has created a $121 billion backlog in services. 

We will have about $40 billion in service revenues in 2009, growing approximately 
10% at attractive margins. Service is more robust in a downturn because it creates value 
for our customers. Service value for our customers comes from two streams: customer 
efficiency through system performance and energy savings; and customer productivity 
through process improvements and data management.

Aviation is an example of a business that can grow earnings even if the market for 
new aircraft declines. We have $90 billion of potential long-term aviation service revenues 
just on the engines we have shipped in the last three years. Our shop visits should  
grow 20% in 2009, as 40% of our engines have not had their first overhaul. Our key  
customers, like Southwest Airlines, appreciate our services because they get predictable 
maintenance costs, improved reliability, and increased engine residual value.

Another driver is the impact government stimulus will have on infrastructure 
investment. GE’s broad technical portfolio positions us as a natural partner as the role  
of government increases in the current crisis. Over the past decade, we have positioned  
GE to lead in the “big themes.” These include emerging market growth, clean energy, 
and sustainable healthcare. 

Global investments in infrastructure were expected to be $7 trillion before the crisis. 
These investments make populations more productive, provide basic needs, and  
importantly, create jobs. Now there will be an additional $3 trillion in government stimulus 
directed towards infrastructure investments.
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In the U.S., stimulus will target clean energy and smart grid technology. GE is well 
positioned to capitalize on these investments. We have a $7 billion renewable energy 
business with solid positions in wind and solar energy. We are deploying smart  
grid technology with key utility customers such as Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 
American Electric Power, and Florida Power & Lighting. This is an approximately  
$635 million business today, but will grow substantially in the next few years.

Similarly, we have built a $2 billion business in Healthcare Information Technology, 
where we are working with key customers to improve the quality of patient care at  
a lower cost. For instance, we are collaborating with industry thought leaders, including 
Intermountain Healthcare, to develop an electronic health record. We have invested 
jointly, co-located our teams, and set common processes and standards. There are also 
ongoing studies in healthcare information technology with Mayo Clinic and the University 
 of California-San Francisco Medical Center. We will help lead the healthcare industry 
in transforming information management with a technology foundation. 

Outside the U.S., government investments will target more basic infrastructure.  
In Iraq, we entered a $3 billion turbine agreement to meet the critical need to re-electrify 
this country. We will deliver the most flexible technology for the best value. In India  
and South Africa, we are pursuing $5 billion of locomotive orders. These projects are 
essential to meeting national energy efficiency, transportation, and environmental goals.  
In China, we are partnering with Commercial Aircraft Corporation of China, LTD (COMAC), 
as they develop an in-country commercial aviation industry. This is expected to generate 
multiple new business opportunities for GE. In Russia and Qatar, we are partnering with 
governments to improve healthcare, representing $1 billion of potential growth.

Governments will invest to stimulate their economies, solve societal problems, and 
create jobs. GE’s broad portfolio and expertise position us as a natural partner. Tackling 
important problems together will require teamwork and respect between business,  
government, and society. We know how to do this and intend to play an important part  
in solving these essential challenges.

Create a More Focused GE Capital Finance
Mike Neal’s GE Capital Finance business earned nearly $9 billion in 2008. Against the 
background of the global credit crisis, his team moved quickly to improve our liquidity, 
strengthen our capital base, reduce our cost structure, and control our losses.

In the past, investors asked me what was our target percentage for earnings  
contribution from financial services and I said below 50%. Going forward we expect 30% 
of our earnings to come from financial services. I never envisioned getting to our target  
in this fashion, but nevertheless we now have a more heavily weighted industrial portfolio. 

Did we end up with too much exposure in certain areas during the credit bubble? 
Maybe, a few. Today, I wish we had less exposure to commercial real estate and  
U.K. mortgages. 

However, while trillions of dollars of value have been lost at many financial institutions 
by investing in structured investment vehicles (SIVs), collateralized debt obligations 
(CDOs), and credit default swaps (CDSs), our risk discipline kept us out of these markets. 
Moreover, our decision to exit $150 billion of insurance assets earlier this decade  
protected us from even greater volatility. 

 “Service is more robust in a downturn because it creates value 
for our customers. Service value for our customers comes from 
two streams: customer efficiency through system performance 
and energy savings; and customer productivity through 
process improvement and data management.”
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We remain a great source of liquidity to companies, consumers, and projects. We 
provided $48 billion of new loans in fourth quarter 2008 and plan for about $180 billion 
in 2009. We are a leader in mid market commercial lending around the world. We 
continue to support many customers in infrastructure industries like aviation, healthcare, 
transportation, and energy. 

We intend to stay anchored in what we know, own, and manage. We underwrite 
all loans and leases to our standards and typically, as senior lenders, we are secured 
in collateral. In addition, we are prepared to hold these assets through the cycle.

At the same time, we are repositioning our fi nancial services business to operate as a 
more focused and smaller fi nance segment. We continue to have a set of strong businesses 
in core lending to mid market customers, who benefi t from our expertise in energy, 
aviation, and healthcare; in global consumer lending, including our banking and joint 
ventures; and in real estate. We will be taking a close look at nonstrategic assets in these 
businesses, such as equipment services businesses, most of our consumer mortgage 
books, and a dozen or so small or subscale commercial and consumer platforms that we 
will reduce over the next few years. These moves will allow us to focus on our core 
operations and our ability to self-fund by growing our deposit base. 

We are targeting our returns in fi nancial services to be about 15%. We remain 
convinced that we have an effective fi nancial services business model. We have over 
10,000 global originators who understand their customers better than banks because 
of GE’s industrial presence. We believe that our fi nancial services can drive earnings growth 
over the long term. 

Sustaining Competitive Advantage
GE is a 130-year-old growth company. By my count, we have survived nine recessions 
and one depression. What drives our results through the cycles is our ability to perform 
and change. We will continue to invest in initiatives that will give GE a solid competitive 
advantage over the long term. 

BE GLOBAL. Our non-U.S. revenues have averaged 13% annual growth this decade. We 
expect our global growth to outpace the U.S. in 2009. This is a source of competitive 
advantage for GE. We are perfecting an approach called “connected and scalable 
localization” whereby we accelerate growth by expanding our local product lines, serving 
new customers, and creating strong partnerships with local champions. GE has 
25 countries each with more than $1 billion in revenues, so empowering our local teams 
is critical to driving growth.

Global diversity is important in this cycle because it diversifi es revenues and risk. We 
expect Healthcare’s diagnostic imaging business to suffer in the U.S. as our customers 
grapple with budget cuts. However, we have a $9 billion global healthcare business that we 
expect to experience strong demographic growth, offsetting weakness in the U.S.

Drive Innovation
Lead with 

technology and 
content innovation

Leverage Strengths
Use GE’s size, expertise, 

fi nancial capability, 
and brand

Build Relationships
Grow customer and 

partner relationships 
worldwide 

Be Global
Connect locally, 

scale globally

OUR STRATEGY

Our strategy borrows our key strengths from the past and makes them 
relevant to a new era of global business:
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DRIVE INNOVATION. We will invest $10 billion in technology and content in 2009, the same 
level as 2008. Since 2000, we have invested approximately $50 billion in product  
technology. We’ll launch economical “value products” in 2009 such as the 2.6-megawatt 
wind turbine, which has high efficiency, more capacity, and lower cost. 

We’ll continue to build our innovation pipeline. We launched a venture in digital 
pathology, which we think will be a $2 billion market over time. We launched hulu,™ 
a joint venture between NBC Universal and News Corp., which is an innovative digital  
content platform competing with YouTube.™ We have invested $150 million in battery 
technology that will power our hybrid locomotives. We will continue to fund innovation 
through the downturn.

BUILD RELATIONSHIPS. GE has many ventures and partnerships that help us grow and 
diversify risk on a global basis. Our multi-business structure makes us a particularly 
desirable partner for governments and other large investors. A great example is  
our spectacular success with the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games. This event produced  
$2 billion of revenues across multiple GE platforms, while building our relationships  
in China.

In 2008, we announced a multifaceted partnership with Mubadala, the commercial 
investing arm of Abu Dhabi, which includes a commercial finance joint venture,  
projects in renewable energy, and a training center in Abu Dhabi. Mubadala will also 
become a “Top 10” GE investor. 

LEVERAGE STRENGTHS. We have core processes centered on organic growth, operating 
excellence, and leadership development. The aim of these processes is to spread  
best practices across the Company.

We compare our progress on common metrics in industrial organic revenue growth, 
margins, return on total capital, and productivity as measured by revenue per employee. 
The chart on this page shows how we compare with a composite of world-class peers. 
We continue to perform.

In addition, we continue to invest $1 billion annually in our people and leadership 
development. We value our team. We remain committed to developing broad and  
“battle-tested” global leaders.

Opportunity to Reset
Let’s face it: our Company’s reputation was tarnished because we weren’t the “safe and 
reliable” growth company that is our aspiration. I accept responsibility for this. But, I think 
this environment presents an opportunity of a lifetime. We get a chance to reset the  
core of GE and focus on what we do best. We can reset expectations for our performance. 
And we can participate in the changes required in the broader economy. 

Peers include: Whirlpool, Disney, News Corp., United Technologies,
Honeywell, Siemens, Philips, ABB, Rolls Royce, Alstom

2008 INDUSTRIAL
ORGANIC REVENUE
GROWTH

GE
Peers

4

8(In %)

2008 MARGINS

GE
Peers

14.6 15.6(In %)

2008 REVENUE
PER EMPLOYEE

GE
Peers

294

566(In $ thousands)

2008 RETURN ON
TOTAL CAPITAL

GE
Peers

12.1

14.8(In %)
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GE has enormous and enduring strengths that are underestimated right now. We 
have leadership businesses and a dedicated team. We have outperformed the S&P 500  
in earnings over the long term, including 2008.

One important reset is in financial services. Earlier this decade, our financial services 
earnings received a valuation similar to our industrial earnings; today, it is lower. In the 
end, having financial services as 50% of our earnings was too high. We intend to reset 
this business to be smaller, less volatile and more connected to the “GE core.”

In addition, we determined that this was a good time to rethink how we communicate 
about the Company and to provide only an annual framework on our operations, 
instead of detailed quarterly guidance. We’ve always tried to be transparent, to offer  
a lot of detail and data, and describe the Company externally the way we run the 
Company internally, and we will continue to do so. As a long-cycle business, we want 
our investors to focus on long-term results.

For 2009, we have sharpened our strategic processes and scenario planning. We have 
increased the frequency and changed the agendas of our operating meetings. Each of  
our businesses has set up a process to identify the “naysayers” in each of our industries 
to make sure their voices are heard inside GE. From top to bottom and across GE, we 
must and will listen more critically and respectfully to each other.

I have also learned something about my country. I run a global company, but  
I am a citizen of the U.S. I believe that a popular, thirty-year notion that the U.S. can 
evolve from being a technology and manufacturing leader to a service leader is just 
wrong. In the end, this philosophy transformed the financial services industry from one 
that supported commerce to a complex trading market that operated outside the  
economy. Real engineering was traded for financial engineering. In the end, our businesses, 
our government, and many local leaders lost sight of what makes a nation great:  
a passion for innovation. 

To this end, we need an educational system that inspires hard work, discipline, and 
creative thinking. The ability to innovate must be valued again. We must discover new 
technologies and develop a productive manufacturing base. Our trade deficit is a sign  
of real weakness and we must reduce our debt to the world. GE will always invest to  
win globally, but this should include a preeminent position in a strong U.S. 

GE plans to play an important role in this process. We are, first and foremost, a  
technology company. And we will continue to invest increasing amounts in R&D to 
develop innovative solutions for our customers. In addition, we will continue investing to 
improve the education system, around the world, to produce more competitive students.

People come to GE because they understand there is more to life than making a buck. 
People come here because they want to make a difference, and never has this been  
more important than it is right now.

The current crisis offers the challenge of our lifetime. I’ve told our leaders at GE that 
if they are frightened by this concept, they shouldn’t be here. But if they’re energized, 
and desire to play a part in transforming the Company for the future, then this is going 
to be a thrilling time to be a part of GE.

GE will be a better company winning through this crisis. Your GE teams have dug  
in and are dedicated to the tasks ahead. My thanks go out to all investors who  
continue to support our efforts. If you are a prospective investor, let me say, now  
is the time to invest in GE!

Jeffrey R. Immelt
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
February 6, 2009
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In a challenging environment, GE businesses
are poised to perform with rigor and to
capture new growth. Technology Infrastructure,
Energy Infrastructure, GE Capital, and
NBC Universal will continue to work with
customers to meet their most urgent needs
and take on the world’s toughest challenges.
GE’s ability to be global, drive innovation, build
relationships, and leverage our strengths will
help us to meet the unique challenges of our
times as we build the future together.



Shanghai, China
Air travel is booming business in China, as an  
estimated 50 new airports will be built in the  
next five years. At a COMAC facility in China  
(main photo), workers prepare a GE CF34-10A 
engine to be installed on an ARJ21 aircraft.

Taking relationships to new heights.
Technology Infrastructure

When China’s first domestically developed regional jet took flight in 2008, two GE 
CF34-10A engines provided the propulsion. The ARJ21 regional jet is the result of close 
collaboration between our Technology Infrastructure’s Aviation business, other leading 
aerospace companies, and the state-owned Commercial Aircraft Corporation of China,  
LTD (COMAC). It represents a $6 billion opportunity for GE Aviation. More importantly,  
from R&D at our Global Research Center in Shanghai to GE Commercial Aviation Services’  
purchase of five with the option for 20 additional ARJ21 aircraft, this endeavor demonstrates 
GE’s ability to truly partner with a country for mutually beneficial growth.

As China’s second- and third-tier cities undergo rapid expansion in the years to come,  
our businesses will be positioned to help fill insatiable demand for power generation, 
healthcare, transportation, and financing in a way no other company can. 



Greenville, South Carolina
A technology team performs a test by taking a direct 
view from inside an F-Class turbine. An F-Class  
turbine (main photo) is hoisted to a test platform;  
it will soon join more than 6,000 GE gas turbines 
installed worldwide.

Powering up production.
Energy Infrastructure

Some of GE Energy Infrastructure’s biggest global growth drivers are built right here  
at home. GE’s Greenville, South Carolina site is the largest gas turbine manufacturing  
plant in the world, producing products for domestic and global export . Built in 1968,  
the site originally housed 250 employees and focused on building the Frame 7 gas turbine. 
Today, the site manufactures a diverse range of energy and infrastructure products,  
and has grown into an integrated campus spanning 413 acres with over 3,000 employees, 
two engineering centers, a Gas Turbine Center of Excellence, and a Repair Development 
Center. GE Energy’s innovative solutions, such as fuel flexibility for turbines, have been critical  
in winning major deals, including the $3 billion agreement signed between GE Energy  
and the government of Iraq, the largest single win in the history of GE Energy.



Positioning through partnerships.
GE Capital Finance

As GE Capital Finance moves toward a smaller and more focused structure, strategic 
partnerships and joint ventures will play a greater role in helping GE capitalize on 
market-specific opportunities. GE’s multifaceted partnership with Mubadala Development 
Company in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, is a powerful example of how this  
new approach will strengthen our position. Building on a strong existing relationship, GE  
and Mubadala will create a jointly owned global financial services business combining 
Mubadala’s expertise in regional investment opportunities with GE’s global origination 
excellence. GE Capital Finance and Mubadala will each commit $4 billion in equity to  
the venture with targeted assets in excess of $40 billion. The partnership also provides 
new higher-return investment opportunities in infrastructure investment, clean energy  
and water R&D, aviation, energy support, and our first ever corporate learning program  
in the Middle East and Africa.

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
On the construction site for Masdar City, the world’s 
first carbon-neutral, zero-waste city powered by 
renewable energy, where GE’s first ecomagination 
center is to be built. GE and Mubadala (main photo) 
discuss high growth opportunities in Abu Dhabi. 



Los Angeles, California
In the kitchen at Bravo’s new show Top Chef
Masters (main photo), a spin-off of Bravo’s hit show 
Top Chef, the highest-rated food show on cable. 
On the set of Monk, USA Network’s standout hit.

Delivering through diversification.
NBC Universal

Realizing that the best way to grow its business amid shifting media consumption habits  
was to adjust its model, the team at NBC Universal launched a significant transformation 
effort. By implementing a diversification strategy that includes aggressive cable acquisition, 
global expansion, investment in film, and the development of innovative digital distribution, 
NBC Universal now has multiple ways to grow. NBC Universal’s cable business, in particular, 
is driving fast growth, accounting for more than 60% of total earnings in 2008. And 
Universal Pictures had its best year ever at the box office with hits such as Mamma Mia! 
and Wanted.



To Our Shareowners:

The Management Development and Compensation Committee of GE’s 
Board of Directors is responsible for designing and implementing  
compensation programs that reward executives for leadership excellence 
and sustained financial and operating performance, align their interests  
with those of our shareowners, and encourage them to remain at GE  
for long, productive careers. As Chairman of this Committee, I would like  
to share my perspective on how GE works to ensure that its executive  
compensation program properly measures and rewards the preservation  
of value in this time of economic stress.

Measuring Success in Severe Economic Conditions
At GE, we believe in developing and retaining market-tested 
leaders with the skills and experience needed to perform in  
a broad range of economic conditions. We invest substantial time 
and resources in training at all levels of the Company. We see 
the greatest return on this investment in tough economic times 
like these. We have a core team of leaders that is prepared to 
handle the difficult conditions we face — and to protect and grow 
shareowner value over the long term.

A guiding principle of our compensation program is to 
ensure that we have in place the right metrics and incentives, 
applied over the appropriate performance periods. We reward 
consistent performance and discourage short-term-oriented 
behavior that may yield a single period of good results without 
regard for proper risk management or the long-term health  
of the business. 

The Committee uses a mix of compensation that balances 
rewards for current and long-term performance. Performance 
metrics include growth in earnings per share, revenue, and cash 
flow. We believe this is the best way to stimulate innovation  
and ensure solid execution, while guaranteeing that risks are 
recognized and managed appropriately over the long term. 

Although we fine-tune our compensation programs as  
conditions change, we believe it is important to maintain  
consistency in our compensation philosophy and approach.  
We recognize that value-creating performance by an executive  
or group of executives does not always translate immediately  
into appreciation in GE’s stock price, particularly in periods of 
severe economic stress. However, we will continue to reward  
such performance based on our firm belief that, over time, true 
value creation does translate into stock price appreciation. 

Rewarding Effective Risk Management
A root cause of the global economic crisis was the failure of 
many executives and businesses to understand and adequately 
manage and price risk. At GE, we have strategies and management 
processes that effectively manage risk and maximize opportunities 
across our businesses. Our process includes long-term strategic 
planning, executive development and evaluation, regulatory and 
litigation compliance reviews, environmental compliance reviews, 
GE Capital’s corporate risk function, and GE’s senior level 
Corporate Risk Committee.

When the current financial crisis recedes, we expect that 
managing risk will be even more important to competitive 
advantage and long-term success. Our executive compensation 
program is designed to reward those executives who demonstrate 
an ability to assess and manage risk effectively. 

Over the past year, our leaders have demonstrated the ability  
to identify risks and adapt our strategies to protect the Company. 
GE acted quickly to improve liquidity, raise capital, and transform 
our financial businesses. We have also exited businesses with 
unacceptable rates of risk-adjusted return. 

We believe it is important to continue to reward those who 
demonstrate this disciplined ability to protect our businesses, but 
it’s only appropriate that certain components of compensation will 
decline during periods of economic stress and reduced earnings.

It is in this context that we have determined 2008 incentive 
compensation awards. In one of the most difficult operating 
environments in memory, GE’s leadership delivered more than 
$18 billion in earnings in 2008, and our industrial and financial 
earnings compared very favorably to the S&P 500. This was  
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the third best earnings year in GE’s history. At the same time, 
however, our 2008 earnings from continuing operations  
were down 19% compared to 2007. To align compensation with 
our financial performance, we reduced the size of our 2008  
average bonus awards by 19% from 2007.

GE Earnings Versus S&P 500 Earnings
Increase (decrease) in earnings from 2007

GE Consolidated (1) (19)%

S&P 500 (2) (30)%

GE Industrial Businesses (3) 5%

S&P 500 Industrial Sector (2) (0)%

GE Financial Businesses (4) (37)%

S&P 500 Financial Sector (2) (170)%

(1) Represents earnings from continuing operations.
(2) Represents operating earnings as reported by Standard & Poor’s. 2008 earnings  

are based upon companies that have reported as of February 2, 2009.
(3) Consists of GE Energy Infrastructure, GE Technology Infrastructure,  

NBC Universal and Consumer & Industrial.
(4) Represents GE Capital Services.

Leadership in the Challenging Times that Lie Ahead
In the midst of this recession, we look to our extremely capable 
and well-trained managers to keep GE safe and focused on  
long-term shareowner value creation. The Board holds our leaders 
to an extremely high standard — we expect them to manage  
their businesses with a sense of ownership that is informed both 
by their deep operational expertise and a broad understanding  
of how industry dynamics and global economic conditions will 
affect their businesses now and into the future. 

These may be unprecedented times, but we are confident that 
GE has a capable, well-trained group of leaders that will secure  
the long-term health, growth, and profitability of the company. In  
the challenging times ahead, growing and retaining strong leaders 
and rewarding them appropriately for disciplined and thoughtful 
management will remain strategic imperatives for GE.

Sincerely, 

Ralph S. Larsen
Chairman, Management Development  
and Compensation Committee 
February 6, 2009

Sustain operating excellence and financial discipline
 

total in GE’s history 
 

in a safe and responsible way

 
paper debt and diversified its funding sources

Create a more valuable portfolio of businesses
 

as a smaller, more focused finance company

Drive organic revenue growth at 2 to 3 times gross  
domestic product

Retain an excellent team with a strong culture
 

and GE Money

Manage the Company’s risk and reputation
 

Beijing 2008 Olympic Games

Build an excellent investor base 

Lead the Board activities

STRATEGIC & OPERATIONAL GOALS

FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES 
     Change From 
(Continuing operations)   Goal Performance Prior Year

Revenues (In $ billions) 190 – 195 183 6%

Earnings (In $ billions) 24.2+ 18.1 (19)%

EPS ($ per share) 2.42+ 1.78 (19)%

CFOA (In $ billions) 23 – 26 19.1 (18)%

ROTC (%) ~20 14.8 (410) bp

Margins (%) ~17 15.6 (100) bp

2008 CEO Goals & Objectives

ge 2008 annual report 15



The GE Board held 22 meetings  
in 2008, and each outside Board 
member visited at least two GE 
businesses without the involvement 
of corporate management, in  
order to develop his or her own feel 
for the Company. 

James J. Mulva 4

Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
Officer, ConocoPhillips, international  
integrated energy company, Houston, Texas. 
Director since 2008.

claudio X. gonzalez 1, 2, 3

Chairman of the Board, Kimberly-Clark  
de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., Mexico City,  
Mexico, consumer products.  
Director since 1993.

robert W. lane 1

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer, Deere & Company, agricultural,  
construction, and forestry equipment, 
Moline, Illinois. Director since 2005.

Andrea Jung 2, 3

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer, Avon Products, Inc., beauty products,  
New York, New York. Director since 1998.

Susan hockfield 3, 4

President of the Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology, Cambridge, Massachusetts.  
Director since 2006.

roger S. penske 4

Chairman of the Board, Penske Corporation, 
Penske Truck Leasing Corporation, and 
Penske Automotive Group, Inc., diversified 
transportation company, Detroit, Michigan. 
Director since 1994.

Alan g. (A.g.) lafley 3

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer, Procter & Gamble Company, personal 
and household products, Cincinnati, Ohio.  
Director since 2002.

James i. cash, Jr. 1, 4

Emeritus James E. Robison Professor of 
Business Administration, Harvard Graduate 
School of Business, Boston, Massachusetts. 
Director since 1997.

Sam Nunn 2, 4

Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Nuclear Threat Initiative, Washington, D.C. 
Director since 1997.

Ann M. fudge 4

Former Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer, Young & Rubicam Brands, global 
marketing communications  
network, New York, New York.  
Director since 1999.

Sir William M. castell 4

Former Vice Chairman,  
General Electric Company.  
Director since 2004.

douglas A. Warner iii 1, 2, 3

Former Chairman of the Board,  
J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., The Chase 
Manhattan Bank, and Morgan Guaranty 
Trust Company, investment banking,  
New York, New York. Director since 1992.

ralph S. larsen 2, 3, 5

Former Chairman of the Board and Chief 
Executive Officer, Johnson & Johnson, phar-
maceutical, medical and consumer prod-
ucts, New Brunswick, New Jersey.  
Director since 2002.

robert J. Swieringa 1

Professor of Accounting and former Anne 
and Elmer Lindseth Dean, S.C. Johnson 
Graduate School of Management, Cornell 
University, Ithaca, New York.  
Director since 2002.

rochelle B. lazarus 3, 4

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,  
Ogilvy & Mather Worldwide, global marketing 
communications company, New York,  
New York. Director since 2000.

Jeffrey r. immelt 4

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer, General Electric Company. Director 
since 2000. 
(pictured on page 1)

1 Audit committee
2  Management development and 

compensation committee
3  Nominating and corporate governance 

committee
4 public responsibilities committee
5 presiding director

iNterNAl directorSeXterNAl directorS
(left to right)

The Board focuses on the areas that are important to share-
owners — strategy, risk management, leadership development, 
and regulatory matters — and in 2008, received briefings on a 
variety of issues including U.S. and global tax policy, environmental 
risk management, healthcare costs, liquidity and credit risk, 
global project and product execution, CSA portfolio management 
and commitment, the impact of changing public policy on core 
markets around the world, and privacy and copyright protection. 
At the end of the year, the Board and each of its committees 
conducted a thorough self-evaluation.
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financial section

Contents

18 Management’s Discussion of Financial Responsibility .......................... We begin with a letter from our Chief Executive and Financial 
Officers discussing our unyielding commitment to rigorous oversight, 
controllership, informative disclosure and visibility to investors. 

18 Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control 
 Over Financial Reporting ..................................................................................... In this report our Chief Executive and Financial Officers provide 

their assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting. 

19 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ................ Our independent auditors, KPMG LLP, express their opinions on our 
financial statements and our internal control over financial reporting. 

20 Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)
 20 Operations ...........................................................................................................  We begin the Operations section of MD&A with an overview of our 

earnings, including a perspective on how the global economic  
environment has affected our businesses over the last three years. 
We then discuss various key operating results for GE industrial (GE) 
and financial services (GECS). Because of the fundamental differences 
in these businesses, reviewing certain information separately for  
GE and GECS offers a more meaningful analysis. Next we provide a 
description of our global risk management process. Our discussion of 
segment results includes quantitative and qualitative disclosure about 
the factors affecting segment revenues and profits, and the effects 
of recent acquisitions, dispositions and significant transactions. We 
conclude the Operations section with an overview of our operations 
from a geographic perspective and a discussion of environmental 
matters. 

 32 Financial Resources and Liquidity ......................................................... In the Financial Resources and Liquidity section of MD&A, we provide 
an overview of the major factors that affected our consolidated 
financial position and insight into the liquidity and cash flow activities 
of GE and GECS.

 44 Critical Accounting Estimates ................................................................. Critical Accounting Estimates are necessary for us to prepare our 
financial statements. In this section, we discuss what these  
estimates are, why they are important, how they are developed  
and uncertainties to which they are subject. 

 48 Other Information ......................................................................................... We conclude MD&A with a brief discussion of new accounting 
standards that will become effective for us beginning in 2009.

 49 Selected Financial Data .............................................................................. Selected Financial Data provides five years of financial information 
for GE and GECS. This table includes commonly used metrics that 
facilitate comparison with other companies. 

50 Audited Financial Statements and Notes
 50 Statement of Earnings
 50 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareowners’ Equity
 52 Statement of Financial Position
 54 Statement of Cash Flows
 56 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

102 Supplemental Information .................................................................................. We provide Supplemental Information to reconcile certain “non-GAAP 
financial measures” referred to in our report to the most closely 
associated GAAP financial measures. We also provide information 
about our stock performance over the last five years.

106 Glossary ....................................................................................................................... For your convenience, we also provide a Glossary of key terms used 
in our financial statements. 

    We also present our financial information electronically at 
www.ge.com/investor. 
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Management’s Discussion of Financial Responsibility

We believe that great companies are built on a foundation of 
reliable financial information and compliance with the spirit and 
letter of the law. For General Electric Company, that foundation 
includes rigorous management oversight of, and an unyielding 
dedication to, controllership. The financial disclosures in this report 
are one product of our commitment to high quality financial 
reporting. In addition, we make every effort to adopt appropriate 
accounting policies, we devote our full resources to ensuring 
that those policies are applied properly and consistently and we 
do our best to fairly present our financial results in a manner 
that is complete and understandable. 

Members of our corporate leadership team review each of 
our businesses routinely on matters that range from overall 
strategy and financial performance to staffing and compliance. 
Our business leaders monitor financial and operating systems, 
enabling us to identify potential opportunities and concerns at 
an early stage and positioning us to respond rapidly. Our Board 
of Directors oversees management’s business conduct, and our 
Audit Committee, which consists entirely of independent directors, 
oversees our internal control over financial reporting. We continu-
ally examine our governance practices in an effort to enhance 
investor trust and improve the Board’s overall effectiveness.  
The Board and its committees annually conduct a performance 
self-evaluation and recommend improvements. Our Presiding 
Director led three meetings of non-management directors this 
year, helping us sharpen our full Board meetings to better cover 
significant topics. Compensation policies for our executives are 
aligned with the long-term interests of GE investors. 

In the last year we identified and disclosed certain immaterial 
errors in our previously reported financial results. We, and our 
Audit Committee, take matters such as this very seriously and 
we have taken steps to further strengthen our controllership 
organization, processes and procedures. We strive to maintain a 
dynamic system of internal controls and procedures — including 
internal control over financial reporting — designed to ensure 
reliable financial record-keeping, transparent financial reporting 
and disclosure, and protection of physical and intellectual property. 
We recruit, develop and retain a world-class financial team.  
Our internal audit function, including members of our Corporate 
Audit Staff, conducts thousands of financial, compliance and  
process improvement audits each year. Our Audit Committee 
oversees the scope and evaluates the overall results of these 
audits, and members of that Committee regularly attend GE 
Capital Services Board of Directors, Corporate Audit Staff and 
Controllership Council meetings. Our global integrity policies —  
“The Spirit & The Letter” — require compliance with law and policy, 
and pertain to such vital issues as upholding financial integrity 
and avoiding conflicts of interest. These integrity policies are 
available in 31 languages, and are provided to all of our employees, 
holding each of them accountable for compliance. Our strong 
compliance culture reinforces these efforts by requiring employees 
to raise any compliance concerns and by prohibiting retribution 
for doing so. To facilitate open and candid communication, we 

have designated ombudspersons throughout the Company to act 
as independent resources for reporting integrity or compliance 
concerns. We hold our directors, consultants, agents and indepen-
dent contractors to the same integrity standards. 

We are keenly aware of the importance of full and open  
presentation of our financial position and operating results and 
rely for this purpose on our disclosure controls and procedures, 
including our Disclosure Committee, which comprises senior 
executives with detailed knowledge of our businesses and the 
related needs of our investors. We ask this committee to review 
our compliance with accounting and disclosure requirements,  
to evaluate the fairness of our financial and non-financial disclo-
sures, and to report their findings to us. We further ensure 
strong disclosure by holding more than 200 analyst and investor 
meetings annually. 

We welcome the strong oversight of our financial reporting 
activities by our independent registered public accounting firm, 
KPMG LLP, engaged by and reporting directly to the Audit 
Committee. U.S. legislation requires management to report on 
internal control over financial reporting and for auditors to  
render an opinion on such controls. Our report follows and the 
KPMG LLP report for 2008 appears on the following page.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining  
adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. 
With our participation, an evaluation of the effectiveness of  
our internal control over financial reporting was conducted as  
of December 31, 2008, based on the framework and criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission.

Based on this evaluation, our management has concluded 
that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as 
of December 31, 2008.

Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued 
an audit report on our internal control over financial reporting. 
Their report appears on the following page.

JEFFREY R. IMMELT KEITH S. SHERIN

Chairman of the Board and  Vice Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
February 6, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm

To Shareowners and Board of Directors 
of General Electric Company:
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position 
of General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates (“GE”) as 
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related statements of 
earnings, changes in shareowners’ equity and cash flows for each 
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. 
We also have audited GE’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). 
GE management is responsible for these consolidated financial 
statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an 
opinion on GE’s internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement and whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial state-
ments included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  
Our audits also included performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that  
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 

of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements appearing 
on pages 50, 52, 54, 56 – 101 and the Summary of Operating 
Segments table on page 26 present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of GE as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of 
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
Also, in our opinion, GE maintained, in all material respects, effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework issued by COSO.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, 
GE, in 2008, changed its method of accounting for fair value 
measurements and adopted the fair value option for certain finan-
cial assets and financial liabilities, in 2007, changed its methods 
of accounting for uncertainty in income taxes and for a change 
or projected change in the timing of cash flows relating to 
income taxes generated by leveraged lease transactions, and, in 
2006, changed its methods of accounting for pension and other 
postretirement benefits and for share-based compensation.

Our audits of GE’s consolidated financial statements were made 
for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating 
information appearing on pages 51, 53 and 55 is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial 
statements rather than to present the financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows of the individual entities. The consoli-
dating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audits of the consolidated financial statements and, 
in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation 
to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

KPMG LLP

Stamford, Connecticut 
February 6, 2009
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Operations
Our consolidated financial statements combine the industrial 
manufacturing, services and media businesses of General Electric 
Company (GE) with the financial services businesses of General 
Electric Capital Services, Inc. (GECS or financial services).

In the accompanying analysis of financial information, we 
sometimes use information derived from consolidated financial 
information but not presented in our financial statements prepared 
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP). Certain of these data are considered “non-GAAP financial 
measures” under the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) rules. For such measures, we have provided supplemental 
explanations and reconciliations in the Supplemental Information 
section.

We present Management’s Discussion of Operations in five 
parts: Overview of Our Earnings from 2006 through 2008, Global 
Risk Management, Segment Operations, Geographic Operations 
and Environmental Matters. Unless otherwise indicated, we refer 
to captions such as revenues and earnings from continuing 
operations simply as “revenues” and “earnings” throughout this 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. Similarly, discussion of 
other matters in our consolidated financial statements relates to 
continuing operations unless otherwise indicated.

Overview of Our Earnings from 2006 through 2008
Our results for the last three years reflect our strategy to 
strengthen our position as a worldwide growth company operat-
ing in diverse industries in which we maintain strong market-
leader positions. During 2008, we encountered unprecedented 
conditions in the world economy and financial markets that 
affected all of our businesses. Over the three-year period our 
consolidated revenues grew 20% on organic growth that averaged 
6% per year, yet earnings declined 6%. Our financial services 
businesses were most significantly affected as earnings fell 24% 
on a 16% increase in revenues over this three-year period. 

The information that follows will show how our global diver-
sification and risk management strategies have helped us to 
grow revenues and industrial earnings to record levels and to 
outperform our peers in financial services businesses. We also 
believe that the disposition of our less strategic businesses, our 
restructuring actions and our investment in businesses with 
strong growth potential have positioned us well for the future.

Energy Infrastructure (19% and 18% of consolidated three-
year revenues and total segment profit, respectively) was well 
positioned to grow significantly over the last several years as the 
worldwide demand for energy, and for alternative sources of 
power, such as wind and thermal, rose to new levels. This resulted 
in a 53% increase in revenues and a 73% increase in segment 
profit over the three-year period. We continued to invest in market-
leading technology and services at Energy, Oil & Gas and Water.

Technology Infrastructure (25% and 29% of consolidated 
three-year revenues and total segment profit, respectively) grew 
revenues 23% and earnings 12% over the three-year period as 
we continued to invest in market-leading technologies and ser-
vices at Aviation and Transportation and strategic acquisitions at 
Healthcare. Aviation continued to grow revenues and earnings to 
record levels as one of the world’s leading providers of aircraft 
engines and services. The Aviation orders backlog also contin-
ued to grow, positioning us well for the future. Product services 
and sales of our Evolution Series locomotives contributed to 
Transportation’s growth over the last three years and we have 
invested heavily in expanding our global platform. Healthcare 
realized benefits from the acquisition of IDX Systems Corporation 
in 2006, expanding the breadth of our product and service 
offerings to the healthcare industry. Healthcare was adversely 
affected by the effects of the Deficit Reduction Act on U.S. 
equipment sales. In addition, lower sales of surgical imaging 
equipment resulted from a regulatory suspension on shipments 
at one of our facilities. We began shipping some of these products 
in the first half of 2008. Enterprise Solutions offers protection and 
productivity solutions such as safe facilities, plant automation, 
power control and sensing applications. 

NBC Universal (10% and 11% of consolidated three-year rev-
enues and total segment profit, respectively) is a diversified media 
and entertainment company that has grown through business 
and geographic diversity. While the television business continues 
to be challenged by the effects of a difficult economy, our cable 
business continues to grow and become more profitable. Our film 
business also continues to perform well, with consistent contri-
butions to earnings. 

Capital Finance (37% and 39% of consolidated three-year 
revenues and total segment profit, respectively) is a strong, 
focused business with leading positions in several mid-market, 
corporate and consumer financing segments. Our performance 
has been strong over the long-term, with solid risk management 
and underwriting through various credit cycles. More recently, 
we have been affected by economic changes, specifically the 
disruptions in capital markets, challenging credit market environ-
ment and rising unemployment. Our earnings in 2008 and 2007 
were $8.6 billion and $12.2 billion, respectively. We expect the 
current challenging credit and economic environment to continue 
to affect our earnings in 2009. Throughout 2008, we tightened 
underwriting standards, shifted teams from origination to collec-
tion and maintained a proactive risk management focus. Our focus 
is to manage through the current challenging credit environment 
and reposition GE Capital as a diversely funded and smaller 
finance company. 

Consumer & Industrial (7% and 3% of consolidated three-year 
revenues and total segment profit, respectively) is particularly 
sensitive to changes in economic conditions. Reflective of the 
downturn in the U.S. housing market, Consumer & Industrial 
revenues have declined over the three-year period. In response to 
these tough economic conditions, in 2007, Consumer & Industrial 
began a restructuring plan focused on reducing manufacturing 
capacity and transferring work to lower-cost countries. Despite 
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these cost reduction efforts, segment profit declined on higher 
material and other costs. 

Overall, acquisitions contributed $7.4 billion, $7.7 billion and 
$3.9 billion to consolidated revenues in 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Our consolidated earnings included approximately 
$0.8 billion in 2008, and $0.5 billion in both 2007 and 2006, from 
acquired businesses. We integrate acquisitions as quickly as pos-
sible. Only revenues and earnings from the date we complete 
the acquisition through the end of the fourth following quarter 
are attributed to such businesses. Dispositions also affected our 
ongoing results through higher revenues of $0.1 billion in 2008 
and lower revenues of $3.6 billion and $1.3 billion in 2007 and 
2006, respectively. This resulted in higher earnings of $0.4 billion 
in both 2008 and 2007, and $0.1 billion in 2006.

Significant matters relating to our Statement of Earnings are 
explained below.

 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS. In September 2007, we committed 
to a plan to sell our Japanese personal loan business (Lake) upon 
determining that, despite restructuring, Japanese regulatory lim-
its for interest charges on unsecured personal loans did not per-
mit us to earn an acceptable return. During 2008, we completed 
the sale of GE Money Japan, which included Lake, along with our 
Japanese mortgage and card businesses, excluding our minority 
ownership in GE Nissen Credit Co., Ltd. In December 2007, we 
completed the exit of WMC as a result of continued pressures in 
the U.S. subprime mortgage industry. Both of these businesses 
were previously reported in the Capital Finance segment.

In August 2007, we completed the sale of our Plastics busi-
ness. We sold this business because of its cyclicality, rising costs 
of natural gas and raw materials, and the decision to redeploy 
capital resources into higher-growth businesses. During 2006, 
we sold our Advanced Materials business. 

In 2006, we substantially completed our planned exit of the 
insurance businesses through the sale of the property and casu-
alty insurance and reinsurance businesses and the European life 
and health operations of GE Insurance Solutions Corporation (GE 
Insurance Solutions) and the sale of GE Life, our U.K.-based life 
insurance operation, to Swiss Reinsurance Company (Swiss Re), 
and the sale, through a secondary public offering, of our remain-
ing 18% investment in Genworth Financial, Inc. (Genworth), our 
formerly wholly-owned subsidiary that conducted most of our 
consumer insurance business, including life and mortgage insur-
ance operations. 

We reported the businesses described above as discontinued 
operations for all periods presented. For further information 
about discontinued operations, see Note 2.

 WE DECLARED $12.6 BILLION IN DIVIDENDS IN 2008. Common per-
share dividends of $1.24 were up 8% from 2007, following a 12% 
increase from the preceding year. On February 6, 2009, our Board 
of Directors approved a regular quarterly dividend of $0.31 per 
share of common stock, which is payable April 27, 2009, to share-
owners of record at close of business on February 23, 2009. This 
payment will complete the dividend for the first half of 2009. The 
Board will continue to evaluate the Company’s dividend level for 
the second half of 2009 in light of the growing uncertainty in the 
economy, including U.S. government actions, rising unemployment 
and the recent announcements by the rating agencies. In 2008, 
we declared $0.1 billion in preferred stock dividends.

Except as otherwise noted, the analysis in the remainder of 
this section presents the results of GE (with GECS included on a 
one-line basis) and GECS. See the Segment Operations section for 
a more detailed discussion of the businesses within GE and GECS.

 GE SALES OF PRODUCT SERVICES were $35.5 billion in 2008, a 
10% increase from 2007. Increases in product services in 2008 
and 2007 were led by growth at Energy Infrastructure and 
Technology Infrastructure. Operating profit from product services 
was $9.3 billion in 2008, up 3% from 2007.

 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS costs were $2.2 billion, $2.6 bil-
lion and $2.3 billion in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The 
cost decreased in 2008 primarily because of the effects of prior 
years’ investment gains, higher discount rates and benefits from 
new healthcare supplier contracts, partially offset by additional 
costs of plan benefits resulting from union negotiations and a 
pensioner increase in 2007. The cost increased in 2007 primarily 
because of plan benefit changes resulting from new U.S. labor 
agreements and increases in retiree medical and drug costs, 
partially offset by increases in discount rates for the year and 
effects of recent investment gains. The cost increased in 2006 
primarily because of the effects of prior-years’ investment losses 
and lower discount rates.

Considering the current and expected asset allocations, as 
well as historical and expected returns on various categories of 
assets in which our plans are invested, we have assumed that 
long-term returns on our principal pension plan assets will be 
8.5% for cost recognition in 2009, the same level as we assumed 
in 2008, 2007 and 2006. GAAP provides recognition of differences 
between assumed and actual returns over a period no longer 
than the average future service of employees.

We expect the costs of our postretirement benefits in 2009 to 
be about the same as the 2008 costs. The effects of decreasing 
discount rates (principal pension plans’ discount rate decreasing 
from 6.34% to 6.11%) will be largely offset by prior-years’ invest-
ment gains and benefits from new healthcare supplier contracts. 
Assuming our 2009 actual experience is consistent with our 
current benefit assumptions (e.g., expected return on assets, 
discount rates and healthcare trend rates), we expect that costs 
of our postretirement benefits will increase by approximately 
$1.0 billion in 2010 as compared to 2009, primarily due to 
amortization of our unamortized losses relating to our principal 
pension plans.
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$521.2 billion, $456.4 billion and $389.0 billion in 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively. GECS average composite effective interest 
rate was 4.8% in 2008, 5.0% in 2007 and 4.6% in 2006. In 2008, 
GECS average assets of $667.2 billion were 13% higher than in 
2007, which in turn were 17% higher than in 2006. We anticipate 
that our composite rates will continue to decline through 2009 
as a result of decreased benchmark rates globally. However, 
these decreases in benchmark rates will be partially offset by 
higher credit spreads and fees associated with government 
guarantees and higher cash balances resulting from pre-funding 
of debt maturities and the need to maintain greater liquidity in the 
current environment. See the Liquidity and Borrowings section 
for a discussion of liquidity, borrowings and interest rate risk 
management.

 INCOME TAXES are a significant cost. As a global commercial 
enterprise, our tax rates are affected by many factors, including 
our global mix of earnings, the extent to which those global 
earnings are indefinitely reinvested outside the United States, 
legislation, acquisitions, dispositions and tax characteristics of our 
income. Our tax returns are routinely audited and settlements of 
issues raised in these audits sometimes affect our tax provisions.

Income taxes on consolidated earnings from continuing 
operations were 5.5% in 2008 compared with 15.6% in 2007 and 
16.9% in 2006. Our consolidated income tax rate decreased from 
2007 to 2008 primarily because of a reduction during 2008 of 
income in higher-taxed jurisdictions. This increased the relative 
effect of tax benefits from lower-taxed global operations on the 
tax rate. In addition, earnings from lower-taxed global operations 
increased from 2007 to 2008. The increase in the benefit from 
lower-taxed global operations includes a benefit from the 2008 
decision to indefinitely reinvest, outside the U.S., prior-year 
earnings because the use of foreign tax credits no longer required 
the repatriation of those prior-year earnings.

Our consolidated income tax rate decreased from 2006 to 
2007 as the tax benefit on the disposition of our investment in 
SES and an increase in favorable settlements with tax authorities 
more than offset a decrease in the benefit from lower-taxed 
earnings from global operations, which in 2006 included one-time 
tax benefits from planning to use non-U.S. tax net operating losses.

A more detailed analysis of differences between the U.S. 
federal statutory rate and the consolidated rate, as well as other 
information about our income tax provisions, is provided in 
Note 7. The nature of business activities and associated income 
taxes differ for GE and for GECS and a separate analysis of each 
is presented in the paragraphs that follow.

Because GE tax expense does not include taxes on GECS 
earnings, the GE effective tax rate is best analyzed in relation to 
GE earnings excluding GECS. GE pre-tax earnings from continuing 
operations, excluding GECS earnings from continuing operations, 
were $13.7 billion, $12.8 billion and $11.7 billion for 2008, 2007 
and 2006, respectively. On this basis, GE’s effective tax rate was 
24.9% in 2008, 21.8% in 2007 and 21.9% in 2006.

Our principal pension plans were underfunded by $4.4 billion 
at the end of 2008 as compared to overfunded by $16.8 billion at 
December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2008, the GE Pension Plan 
was underfunded by $0.9 billion and the GE Supplementary 
Pension Plan, which is an unfunded plan, had a projected benefit 
obligation of $3.5 billion. The reduction in surplus from year-end 
2007 was primarily attributable to asset investment performance 
resulting from the deteriorating market conditions and economic 
environment in 2008. Our principal pension plans’ assets 
decreased from $59.7 billion at the end of 2007 to $40.7 billion 
at December 31, 2008, a 28.2% decline in investment values  
during the year. Assets of the GE Pension Plan are held in trust, 
solely for the benefit of Plan participants, and are not available for 
general Company operations. Although the reduction in pension 
plan assets in 2008 will impact future pension plan costs, the 
Company’s requirement to make future cash contributions to the 
Trust will depend on future market and economic conditions. 

On an Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) basis, 
the GE Pension Plan remains fully funded at January 1, 2009. We 
will not make any contributions to the GE Pension Plan in 2009. 
Assuming our 2009 actual experience is consistent with our  
current benefit assumptions (e.g., expected return on assets and 
interest rates), we will not be required to make contributions to 
the GE Pension Plan in 2010. 

At December 31, 2008, the fair value of assets for our other 
pension plans was $2.4 billion less than the respective projected 
benefit obligations. The comparable amount at December 31, 
2007 was $1.6 billion. We expect to contribute $0.7 billion to our 
other pension plans in 2009, compared with actual contributions 
of $0.6 billion and $0.7 billion in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
Our principal retiree health and life plans obligations exceeded 
the fair value of related assets by $10.8 billion and $11.2 billion at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. We fund our retiree 
health benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. We expect to contribute 
$0.7 billion to these plans in 2009 compared with actual contri-
butions of $0.6 billion in 2008 and 2007.

The funded status of our postretirement benefits plans and 
future effects on operating results depend on economic conditions 
and investment performance. See Note 6 for additional informa-
tion about funded status, components of earnings effects and 
actuarial assumptions. 

 GE OTHER COSTS AND EXPENSES are selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses. These costs were 12.9%, 14.2% and 14.3% of 
total GE sales in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

 INTEREST ON BORROWINGS AND OTHER FINANCIAL CHARGES 
amounted to $26.2 billion, $23.8 billion and $18.9 billion in 2008, 
2007 and 2006, respectively. Substantially all of our borrowings 
are in financial services, where interest expense was $25.1 billion, 
$22.7 billion and $17.8 billion in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
Average borrowings increased over the three-year period. Interest 
rates increased from 2006 to 2007 attributable to rising credit 
spreads. Interest rates have decreased from 2007 to 2008 in line 
with general market conditions. GECS average borrowings were 
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As a result of the repeal of the extraterritorial income (ETI) 
taxing regime as part of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 
(the Act), our aircraft leasing business no longer qualifies for a 
reduced U.S. tax rate. However, the Act also extended to aircraft 
leasing the U.S. tax deferral benefits that were already available 
to other GE non-U.S. active operations. These legislative changes, 
coupled with a reorganization of our aircraft leasing business 
and a favorable Irish ruling, decreased the GECS effective tax 
rate 1.1 percentage points in 2006.

Global Risk Management
A disciplined approach to risk is important in a diversified organi-
zation such as ours in order to ensure that we are executing 
according to our strategic objectives and that we only accept risk 
for which we are adequately compensated. It is necessary for us 
to manage risk at the individual transaction level, and to consider 
aggregate risk at the customer, industry, geographic and collateral-
type levels, where appropriate. 

The GE Board of Directors maintains overall responsibility  
for risk oversight, with a focus on the most significant risks facing 
GE. The Board’s Audit Committee oversees GE’s risk policies and 
processes relating to the financial statements and financial 
reporting process. The Board’s Public Responsibilities Committee 
oversees risks involved in GE’s public policy initiatives, the  
environment and similar matters. The Board’s Management 
Development and Compensation Committee oversees risk related 
to compensation. 

The Board’s oversight process builds upon our management’s 
risk management and assessment processes, which include long-
term strategic planning, executive development and evaluation, 
regulatory and litigation compliance reviews, environmental 
compliance reviews, GECS Corporate Risk Function and the 
Corporate Risk Committee. Each year, management and the Board 
jointly develop a list of major risks that GE plans to address. 
Throughout the year, either the Board or one of its committees 
dedicates a portion of their meetings to review and discuss 
these risk topics in greater detail. Strategic and operational risks 
are covered in the CEO’s report on operations to the Board at 
regularly scheduled Board meetings. At least twice a year, the 
Audit Committee receives a risk update from the GECS risk officer, 
which focuses on GECS risk strategy and its financial services 
portfolio, including its processes for managing credit and market 
risk within its portfolio. In addition, each year, and in some years 
more frequently, the Audit Committee receives a comprehensive 
report from GE’s Treasurer on GECS capital markets exposure 
and its liquidity and funding risks and a comprehensive report 
from GE’s General Counsel covering compliance issues. Each year, 
the Committee also reviews and discusses topics related to the 
financial reporting process, including an update on information 
technology, controllership, insurance, tax strategies and policies, 
accounting and numerous reports on regulation, compliance, 
litigation and investigations affecting GE businesses.

Resolution of audit matters reduced the GE effective tax rate 
throughout this period. The effects of such resolutions are 
included in the following captions in Note 7:

 Audit resolutions — effect on  
 GE excluding GECS tax rate

      2008 2007 2006

Tax on global activities including exports — % (2.7)% (0.8)%
All other — net   (0.6) (2.4) (0.8)

      (0.6)% (5.1)% (1.6)%

The GE effective tax rate increased from 2007 to 2008 because of 
the 4.5 percentage point lower 2008 benefit from favorable audit 
resolutions, partially offset by a 1.0 percentage point increase in 
the benefit in lower-taxed earnings from global operations, 
excluding audit resolutions.

The GE effective tax rate declined slightly from 2006 to 2007 
because the 3.5 percentage point higher 2007 benefit from 
favorable audit resolutions was largely offset by a 3.3 percentage 
point decrease in the benefit in lower-taxed earnings from global 
operations, excluding audit resolutions and the effect of tax law 
changes. The 2006 benefit from global operations included tax 
benefits from planning to use non-U.S. net operating losses 
against profitable operations.

The 2006 GE rate reflects the favorable audit resolutions 
shown above and the benefit of lower-taxed earnings from global 
operations including tax benefits from planning to use non-U.S. 
net operating losses against profitable operations. 

The GECS effective tax rate was (44.0)% in 2008, compared with 
9.9% in 2007 and 12.0% in 2006. GE and GECS file a consolidated 
U.S. federal income tax return that enables GE to use GECS tax 
deductions and credits to reduce the tax that otherwise would 
have been payable by GE. The GECS effective tax rate for each 
period reflects the benefit of these tax reductions. GE makes cash 
payments to GECS for these tax reductions at the time GE’s tax 
payments are due.

The GECS rate decreased from 2007 to 2008 primarily 
because of a reduction during 2008 of income in higher-taxed 
jurisdictions. This increased the relative effect of tax benefits 
from lower-taxed global operations on the tax rate, reducing the 
rate 32.7 percentage points. In addition, earnings from lower-
taxed global operations increased from 2007 to 2008, causing  
an additional 20.7 percentage point rate reduction. The increase 
in the benefit from lower-taxed global operations includes 
6.5 percentage points from the 2008 decision to indefinitely  
reinvest, outside the U.S., prior-year earnings because the use of 
foreign tax credits no longer required the repatriation of those 
prior-year earnings.

The GECS income tax rate decreased from 2006 to 2007 as 
the tax benefit on the disposition of its investment in SES and 
growth in lower-taxed global earnings, which decreased the 
GECS effective tax rate 4.0 and 1.0 percentage points, respectively, 
were partially offset by higher net tax expense related to U.S. 
and non-U.S. audit activity and from the absence of the 2006 
benefit of the reorganization, discussed below, of our aircraft 
leasing business, which increased the rate 1.6 and 1.1 percentage 
points, respectively.
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Market risk is the potential loss in value of investment and other 
asset and liability portfolios, including financial instruments 
and residual values of leased assets. This risk is caused by 
changes in market variables, such as interest and currency 
exchange rates and equity and commodity prices. We are 
exposed to market risk in the normal course of our business 
operations as a result of our ongoing investing and funding 
activities. Additional information can be found in the Financial 
Resources and Liquidity section and in Notes 6, 9, 12, 14, 28 
and 29.

Government and regulatory risk is the risk that the government 
or regulatory authorities will implement new laws or rules, 
amend existing laws or rules, or interpret or enforce them in 
ways that would cause us to have to change our business 
models or practices. We manage these risks through the 
GECS Board, our Policy Compliance Review Board and our 
Corporate Risk Committee. 

Other risks include natural disasters, availability of necessary 
materials, guarantees of product performance and business 
interruption. These types of risks are often insurable, and success 
in managing these risks is ultimately determined by the balance 
between the level of risk retained or assumed and the cost of 
transferring risk to others.

Our risk management approach has the following major tenets: 
a broad spread of risk based on managed exposure limits; senior, 
secured commercial financings; and a hold to maturity model with 
transactions underwritten to our “on-book” standards.

The GECC financing portfolios comprise approximately 70% 
commercial and 30% consumer risk activities, with 53% of the 
portfolio outside the U.S. Exposure to developing markets is 11% 
of the portfolio and is primarily through our Eastern European 
banking operations and Mexican commercial financing activities —  
where we have operated for over 10 years — and various minority-
owned joint ventures.

The commercial portfolio has a maximum single industry 
concentration of 6%, excluding the commercial aircraft financing 
and the commercial real estate businesses, which are diversified 
separately within their respective portfolios. 67% of all commercial 
exposures are less than $100 million to any one customer, while 
55% are less than $50 million. Our commercial aircraft financing 
business owns 1,494 aircraft — 56% are narrow body planes and 
predominantly newer, high-demand models, while only 15% are 
smaller regional jets and older Boeing 737 classic aircraft. The 
average age of the fleet is 7 years and our customers include over 
230 airlines located in 70 countries. Leased collateral represents 
asset types we have over 20 years experience managing. 

The GECS Board of Directors oversees the risk management 
process, and approves all significant acquisitions and dispositions 
as well as significant borrowings and investments. All participants 
in the risk management process must comply with approval limits 
established by the GECS Board.

The GECS Chief Risk Officer is responsible, with the Corporate 
Risk Function, for establishing standards for the measurement, 
reporting and limiting of risk; for managing and evaluating risk 
managers; for approving risk management policies; and for 
reviewing major risk exposures and concentrations across the 
organization. The GECS Corporate Risk Function analyzes certain 
business risks and assesses them in relation to aggregate risk 
appetite and approval limits set by the GECS Board of Directors. 

Threshold responsibility for identifying, quantifying and miti-
gating risks is assigned to our individual businesses. We employ 
proprietary analytic models to allocate capital to our financing 
activities, to identify the primary sources of risk and to measure 
the amount of risk we will take for each product line. This approach 
allows us to develop early signals that monitor changes in risk 
affecting portfolio performance and actively manage the portfolio. 
Other corporate functions such as Controllership, Financial 
Planning and Analysis, Treasury, Legal and our Corporate Audit 
Staff support business-level risk management. Businesses that, for 
example, hedge financial risk with derivative financial instruments 
must do so using our centrally managed Treasury function, pro-
viding assurance that the business strategy complies with our 
corporate policies and achieves economies of scale. We review 
risks periodically with business-level risk managers, senior man-
agement and our Board of Directors. 

Dedicated risk professionals across the businesses include 
underwriters, portfolio managers, collectors, environmental and 
engineering specialists, and specialized asset managers who 
evaluate leased asset residuals and remarket off-lease equipment. 
The senior risk officers have, on average, over 25 years of 
experience.

We manage a variety of risks including liquidity, credit, market 
and government and regulatory risks. 

Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to accommodate lia-
bility maturities, fund asset growth and meet contractual 
obligations through access to funding at reasonable market 
rates. Additional information about our liquidity and how we 
manage this risk can be found in the Financial Resources and 
Liquidity section and in Notes 18 and 29.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from a customer 
or counterparty failure to meet its contractual obligations. We 
face credit risk in our investing, lending and leasing activities 
and derivative financial instruments activities (see the Financial 
Resources and Liquidity and Critical Accounting Estimates 
sections and Notes 1, 9, 12, 13, 29 and 31). 
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The Australia/New Zealand mortgages are generally prime 
credit, and 94% of the portfolio is covered by private mortgage 
insurance for the full amount of the mortgage, which is customary 
in this market.

The French mortgage portfolio is generally prime credit, and 
29% is insured for mortgage loans greater than 80% LTV (for the 
mortgage balance in excess of 80%).

Segment Operations
Our five segments are focused on the broad markets they serve: 
Energy Infrastructure, Technology Infrastructure, NBC Universal, 
Capital Finance and Consumer & Industrial. In addition to pro-
viding information on segments in their entirety, we have also 
provided supplemental information for certain businesses within 
the segments for greater clarity.

Segment profit is determined based on internal performance 
measures used by the Chief Executive Officer to assess the 
performance of each business in a given period. In connection 
with that assessment, the Chief Executive Officer may exclude 
matters such as charges for restructuring; rationalization and 
other similar expenses; in-process research and development and 
certain other acquisition-related charges and balances; technology 
and product development costs; certain gains and losses from 
dispositions; and litigation settlements or other charges, respon-
sibility for which preceded the current management team.

Segment profit always excludes the effects of principal pension 
plans, results reported as discontinued operations and accounting 
changes. Segment profit excludes or includes interest and other 
financial charges and income taxes according to how a particular 
segment’s management is measured — excluded in determining 
segment profit, which we sometimes refer to as “operating 
profit,” for Energy Infrastructure, Technology Infrastructure, NBC 
Universal and Consumer & Industrial; included in determining 
segment profit, which we sometimes refer to as “net earnings,” 
for Capital Finance.

We have reclassified certain prior-period amounts to conform 
to the current period’s presentation. For additional information 
about our segments, see Note 27.

The commercial real estate business consists of a real estate 
investment portfolio, a real estate lending portfolio, and a single 
tenant financing portfolio. The real estate investment and lending 
portfolios are global and consist of approximately 8,000 individual 
properties in 2,600 cities in 31 countries with an average property 
investment of under $10 million.

Our real estate investment portfolio includes approximately 
3,200 properties located in 900 cities and 22 countries, with 
71% of this portfolio outside the U.S., primarily located in 
Europe, the U.K., Asia, Canada and Mexico, across a wide variety 
of property types including office, industrial/warehouse, and 
multifamily. 

Our real estate lending portfolio is secured by approximately 
4,800 properties in 1,900 cities and 25 countries, with 44%  
of the assets securing this portfolio located outside the U.S., 
across a wide variety of property types including office, multi-
family and hotel. 

The single tenant financing portfolio has approximately 
4,200 properties in 1,360 cities in the U.S. and Canada, and 
an average loan size under $3 million.

The U.S. consumer portfolio includes private-label credit card 
and sales financing for over 56 million accounts. The portfolio 
includes customers across the U.S. and no metropolitan statistical 
area accounts for more than 4% of the portfolio. The average 
credit line for the private-label portfolio is $600. The non-U.S. 
portfolio accounts for 80% of all consumer risk activities and 
includes consumer mortgages, auto loans, personal loans and 
credit card financing in 43 countries. Western Europe, the U.K., 
Eastern Europe and Australia/New Zealand are the primary non-
U.S. markets. Mortgages represent 43% of the total consumer 
portfolio. The average loan-to-value (LTV) at origination of the 
total global mortgage portfolio is approximately 74%. Western 
Europe, Australia and New Zealand, Ireland and the U.K. account 
for approximately 80% of the mortgage book. GE employees 
underwrite all mortgages and originate to hold all mortgages on 
book. We exited the U.S. mortgage business in 2007.

The U.K. mortgage business tightened underwriting criteria 
throughout 2008 and reduced volume by 54% in response to the 
weakening home price environment in the U.K. Since mid-2006, 
the first mortgage loans originated in the U.K. that were greater 
than 80% LTV are covered by private mortgage insurance for  
the mortgage balance in excess of 80%. Insured mortgages 
account for approximately 73% of the portfolio above 80% LTV 
at origination.
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Summary of Operating Segments

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates

(In millions)      2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

REVENUES

 Energy Infrastructure       $ 38,571 $ 30,698 $ 25,221 $ 21,921 $ 19,841
 Technology Infrastructure      46,316 42,801 37,687 33,873 30,142
 NBC Universal      16,969 15,416 16,188 14,689 12,886
 Capital Finance      67,008 66,301 56,378 49,071 43,750
 Consumer & Industrial      11,737 12,663 13,202 13,040 12,408

  Total segment revenues     180,601 167,879 148,676 132,594 119,027
Corporate items and eliminations     1,914 4,609 2,892 3,668 4,787

CONSOLIDATED REVENUES      $182,515 $172,488 $151,568 $136,262 $123,814

SEGMENT PROFIT

 Energy Infrastructure       $  6,080 $  4,817 $  3,518 $  3,222 $  3,100
 Technology Infrastructure      8,152 7,883 7,308 6,188 5,412
 NBC Universal      3,131 3,107 2,919 3,092 2,558
 Capital Finance      8,632 12,243 10,397 8,414 6,593
 Consumer & Industrial      365 1,034 970 732 601

  Total segment profit      26,360 29,084 25,112 21,648 18,264
Corporate items and eliminations     (2,691) (1,840) (1,548) (372) 165
GE interest and other financial charges    (2,153) (1,993) (1,668) (1,319) (901)
GE provision for income taxes     (3,427) (2,794) (2,552) (2,678) (1,937)

Earnings from continuing operations     18,089 22,457 19,344 17,279 15,591
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes   (679) (249) 1,398 (559) 1,631

CONSOLIDATED NET EARNINGS      $ 17,410 $ 22,208 $ 20,742 $ 16,720 $ 17,222

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE
(In millions)   2008 2007 2006

REVENUES   $46,316 $42,801 $37,687

SEGMENT PROFIT   $ 8,152 $ 7,883 $ 7,308

(In millions)   2008 2007 2006

REVENUES

 Aviation   $19,239 $16,819 $13,017
 Enterprise Solutions   4,710 4,462 3,951
 Healthcare   17,392 16,997 16,560
 Transportation   5,016 4,523 4,159
SEGMENT PROFIT 

 Aviation   $ 3,684 $ 3,222 $ 2,802
 Enterprise Solutions   691 697 620
 Healthcare   2,851 3,056 3,142
 Transportation   962 936 774

Technology Infrastructure revenues rose 8%, or $3.5 billion, in 
2008 on higher volume ($3.0 billion), the effects of the weaker 
U.S. dollar ($0.3 billion) and higher prices ($0.2 billion). The increase 
in volume reflected the effects of acquisitions and increased sales 
of military and commercial engines and services at Aviation; 
increased sales in the international diagnostic imaging, clinical 
systems and life sciences businesses of Healthcare; increased 
equipment sales at Transportation; and increases at Sensing and 
Inspection Technologies and Digital Energy at Enterprise Solutions. 
The effects of the weaker U.S. dollar were primarily at Healthcare 
and Enterprise Solutions. Higher prices were primarily at Aviation 
and Transportation, partially offset by lower prices at Healthcare.

Segment profit rose 3% to $8.2 billion in 2008, compared with 
$7.9 billion in 2007, as the effects of productivity ($0.5 billion), 
higher volume ($0.4 billion) and higher prices ($0.2 billion) more 
than offset the effects of higher material and other costs 
($0.9 billion). The effects of productivity were primarily at 
Healthcare and Aviation. Volume increases were primarily at 
Aviation and Transportation. The increase in material costs was 
primarily at Aviation and Transportation, partially offset by a 
decrease at Healthcare. Labor and other costs increased across 
all businesses of the segment.

Technology Infrastructure revenues rose 14%, or $5.1 billion, 
in 2007 on higher volume ($4.6 billion) and the effects of the 
weaker U.S. dollar ($0.6 billion), partially offset by lower prices 
($0.1 billion). The increase in volume reflected the effects of 
acquisitions and increased sales of commercial engines and  
services at Aviation; increased sales in the international diag-
nostic imaging, clinical systems and life sciences businesses of 
Healthcare; primarily the effects of acquisitions at Enterprise 
Solutions; and increased sales of equipment and services at 
Transportation. The effects of the weaker U.S. dollar were primarily 
at Healthcare and Enterprise Solutions.

ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE
(In millions)   2008 2007 2006

REVENUES   $38,571 $30,698 $25,221

SEGMENT PROFIT   $ 6,080 $ 4,817 $ 3,518

(In millions)   2008 2007 2006

REVENUES

 Energy   $29,309 $22,456 $19,406
 Oil & Gas   7,417 6,849 4,340
SEGMENT PROFIT

 Energy   $ 4,880 $ 3,835 $ 2,918
 Oil & Gas   1,127 860 548

Energy Infrastructure revenues rose 26%, or $7.9 billion, in 2008 
on higher volume ($6.0 billion), higher prices ($1.4 billion) and 
the effects of the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.5 billion). The increase in 
volume reflected increased sales of thermal and wind equipment 
at Energy, and the effects of acquisitions and increased sales of 
services at Oil & Gas. The increase in price was primarily at 
Energy, while the effects of the weaker U.S. dollar were primarily 
at Energy and Oil & Gas. 

Segment profit rose 26% to $6.1 billion in 2008, compared with 
$4.8 billion in 2007, as higher prices ($1.4 billion), higher volume 
($1.0 billion) and the effects of the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.1 billion) 
more than offset the effects of higher material and other costs 
($0.7 billion) and lower productivity ($0.5 billion). Volume and 
material and other costs increased across all businesses of the 
segment. The effects of productivity were primarily at Energy.

Energy Infrastructure revenues rose 22%, or $5.5 billion, in 
2007 on higher volume ($4.0 billion), higher prices ($0.8 billion) 
and the effects of the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.7 billion). The increase 
in volume reflected increased sales of thermal and wind equip-
ment at Energy, and the effects of acquisitions and increased sales 
of equipment and services at Oil & Gas. The increase in price 
was primarily at Energy, while the effects of the weaker U.S. dollar 
were primarily at Oil & Gas and Energy. 

Segment profit rose 37% to $4.8 billion in 2007, compared 
with $3.5 billion in 2006, as higher prices ($0.8 billion), higher 
volume ($0.7 billion) and productivity ($0.1 billion) more than off-
set the effects of higher material and other costs ($0.4 billion). 
The increase in volume primarily related to Energy and Oil & Gas. 

Energy Infrastructure orders were $43.2 billion in 2008, up from 
$36.9 billion in 2007. The $32.5 billion total backlog at year-end 
2008 comprised unfilled product orders of $23.0 billion (of which 
75% was scheduled for delivery in 2009) and product services 
orders of $9.5 billion scheduled for 2009 delivery. Comparable 
December 31, 2007, total backlog was $29.3 billion, of which 
$21.0 billion was for unfilled product orders and $8.3 billion, for 
product services orders. See Corporate Items and Eliminations 
for a discussion of items not allocated to this segment.
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CAPITAL FINANCE
(In millions)   2008 2007 2006

REVENUES   $67,008 $66,301 $56,378

SEGMENT PROFIT   $ 8,632 $12,243 $10,397

December 31 (In millions)   2008 2007

TOTAL ASSETS   $572,903 $583,965

(In millions)   2008 2007 2006

REVENUES

 Commercial Lending and  
 Leasing (CLL)   $26,742 $27,267 $25,833

 GE Money   25,012 24,769 19,508
 Real Estate   6,646 7,021 5,020
 Energy Financial Services  3,707 2,405 1,664
 GE Commercial Aviation  

 Services (GECAS)   4,901 4,839 4,353
SEGMENT PROFIT

 CLL   $ 1,805 $ 3,801 $ 3,503
 GE Money   3,664 4,269 3,231
 Real Estate   1,144 2,285 1,841
 Energy Financial Services  825 677 648
 GECAS   1,194 1,211 1,174

December 31 (In millions)   2008 2007

TOTAL ASSETS 
 CLL    $232,486 $229,608
 GE Money   183,617 209,178
 Real Estate   85,266 79,285
 Energy Financial Services  22,079 18,705
 GECAS   49,455 47,189

Capital Finance 2008 revenues increased by 1%, and net earnings 
decreased 29%, compared with 2007. Revenues in 2008 and 
2007 included $4.4 billion and $0.5 billion from acquisitions, 
respectively, and in 2008 were benefited by $0.1 billion as a result 
of dispositions. Revenues in 2008 also decreased $3.3 billion as a 
result of organic revenue declines ($4.5 billion), partially offset by 
the weaker U.S. dollar ($1.2 billion). Net earnings decreased by 
$3.6 billion in 2008, resulting from core declines ($3.5 billion), 
including an increase of $1.9 billion in the provision for losses on 
financing receivables, lower investment income ($0.6 billion) and 
lower securitization income ($0.4 billion), offset by acquisitions 
($0.5 billion), the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.3 billion) and dispositions 
($0.1 billion). Net earnings included mark-to-market losses and 
impairments ($1.4 billion), partially offset by increased tax benefits 
from lower-taxed earnings from global operations ($0.7 billion) 
and Genpact mark-to-market gains ($0.2 billion).

Segment profit rose 8% to $7.9 billion in 2007, compared with 
$7.3 billion in 2006, as higher volume ($0.8 billion), productivity 
($0.4 billion) and higher sales of minority interests in engine  
programs ($0.1 billion) more than offset the effects of higher 
material and other costs ($0.7 billion) and lower prices ($0.1 billion). 
The increase in volume primarily related to Aviation, Healthcare 
and Enterprise Solutions. The effects of productivity were primarily 
at Healthcare and Transportation. The increase in material costs 
was primarily at Aviation, partially offset by a decrease at 
Healthcare, and labor and other costs increased across all busi-
nesses of the segment.

Technology Infrastructure orders were $47.2 billion in 2008, 
down from $48.7 billion in 2007. The $37.6 billion total backlog at 
year-end 2008 comprised unfilled product orders of $28.4 billion 
(of which 48% was scheduled for delivery in 2009) and product 
services orders of $9.2 billion scheduled for 2009 delivery. 
Comparable December 31, 2007, total backlog was $35.5 billion, 
of which $27.5 billion was for unfilled product orders and 
$8.0 billion, for product services orders. See Corporate Items  
and Eliminations for a discussion of items not allocated to this 
segment.

 NBC UNIVERSAL revenues increased $1.6 billion, or 10%, to 
$17.0 billion in 2008, as revenues from the Olympics broadcasts 
($1.0 billion) and higher revenues in cable ($0.6 billion) and film 
($0.4 billion) were partially offset by lower earnings and impair-
ments related to associated companies and investment securities 
($0.3 billion) and lower revenues from our television business 
($0.1 billion). Segment profit of $3.1 billion in 2008 was flat com-
pared with 2007, as higher earnings from cable ($0.3 billion) and 
proceeds from insurance claims ($0.4 billion) were offset by lower 
earnings and impairments related to associated companies and 
investment securities ($0.3 billion), losses from the Olympics 
broadcasts ($0.2 billion), and lower earnings from our television 
business ($0.1 billion) and film ($0.1 billion).

NBC Universal revenues declined 5%, or $0.8 billion, in 2007, 
primarily from the lack of current-year counterparts to the 2006 
Olympics broadcasts ($0.7 billion) and 2006 sale of television 
stations ($0.2 billion), lower revenues in our broadcast network 
and television stations as a result of lower advertising sales 
($0.5 billion) and lower film revenues ($0.1 billion), partially offset 
by higher revenues for cable ($0.4 billion) and television produc-
tion and distribution ($0.3 billion). Segment profit rose 6%, or 
$0.2 billion, in 2007 as improvements in cable ($0.2 billion), tele-
vision production and distribution ($0.2 billion), film ($0.1 billion) 
and the absence of Olympics broadcasts in 2007 ($0.1 billion) 
were partially offset by the lack of a current-year counterpart to 
the 2006 sale of four television stations ($0.2 billion) and lower 
earnings from our broadcast network and television stations 
($0.2 billion). See Corporate Items and Eliminations for a discussion 
of items not allocated to this segment.
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dollar ($0.6 billion). The decrease in net earnings resulted primarily 
from core declines ($0.5 billion) and lower securitization income 
($0.5 billion). The decreases were partially offset by the gain on 
the sale of our CPS business ($0.2 billion), the weaker U.S. dollar 
($0.1 billion) and acquisitions ($0.1 billion). Core declines primarily 
resulted from lower results in the U.S., reflecting the effects of 
higher delinquencies ($1.2 billion), partially offset by growth in 
lower-taxed earnings from global operations ($1.0 billion), including 
the decision to indefinitely reinvest, outside the U.S., prior-year 
earnings.

GE Money 2007 revenues and net earnings increased 27% 
and 32%, respectively, compared with 2006. Revenues in 2007 
included $0.4 billion from acquisitions. Revenues in 2007 also 
increased $4.8 billion as a result of organic revenue growth 
($3.5 billion) and the weaker U.S. dollar ($1.4 billion). The increase 
in net earnings resulted primarily from core growth ($0.3 billion),
higher securitization income ($0.4 billion), the sale of part of our 
Garanti investment ($0.2 billion) and the weaker U.S. dollar 
($0.2 billion). Core growth included growth in lower-taxed earn-
ings from global operations ($0.3 billion), partially offset by lower 
results in the U.S., reflecting the effects of higher delinquencies 
($0.4 billion).

Real Estate 2008 revenues decreased 5% and net earnings 
decreased 50% compared with 2007. Revenues for 2008 included 
$0.3 billion from acquisitions. Revenues in 2008 also decreased 
$0.7 billion compared with 2007 as a result of organic revenue 
declines ($0.8 billion), partially offset by the weaker U.S. dollar 
($0.2 billion). Real Estate net earnings decreased $1.1 billion
compared with 2007, primarily from a decline in net earnings 
from real estate equity investments ($1.2 billion), partially offset 
by an increase in net earnings from real estate lending. Net 
earnings from the sale of real estate equity investments in 2008 
were lower as a result of increasingly difficult market conditions.
In the normal course of our business operations, we sell certain 
real estate equity investments when it is economically advanta-
geous for us to do so. However, as a result of deterioration in 
current and expected real estate market liquidity and macro-
economic trends, it is difficult to predict with certainty the level 
of future sales or sales prices.

Real Estate assets at December 31, 2008, increased $6.0 billion, 
or 8%, from December 31, 2007, including $12.1 billion, or 34%, 
attributable to an increase in real estate lending, partially offset 
by a $6.4 billion, or 16%, decline in real estate equity investments.
During 2008, we sold real estate equity investment assets with a 
book value totaling $5.8 billion, which resulted in net earnings of 
$1.3 billion that were partially offset by losses, impairments and 
depreciation.

Real Estate 2007 revenues and net earnings increased 40% 
and 24%, respectively, compared with 2006. Revenues in 2007 
included $0.3 billion from acquisitions. Revenues in 2007 also 
increased $1.8 billion as a result of organic revenue growth 
($1.5 billion) and the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.2 billion). Real Estate 
net earnings increased 24% compared with 2006, primarily as a 
result of a $0.5 billion increase in net earnings from sales of real 
estate investments.

Capital Finance 2007 revenues and net earnings both 
increased 18%, compared with 2006. Revenues in 2007 included 
$3.5 billion from acquisitions and were reduced by $2.7 billion as a 
result of dispositions. Revenues in 2007 also increased $9.1 billion 
as a result of organic revenue growth ($6.8 billion) and the weaker 
U.S. dollar ($2.3 billion). The increase in net earnings resulted 
primarily from core growth ($1.0 billion), higher securitization 
income ($0.4 billion) and the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.3 billion). Core 
growth included $0.5 billion representing the total year’s tax 
benefit on the disposition of our investment in SES, growth in 
lower-taxed earnings from global operations ($0.4 billion) and the 
sale of part of our Garanti investment ($0.2 billion), partially offset 
by declines in fair value of retained interests in securitizations 
($0.2 billion). See Corporate Items and Eliminations for a discussion 
of items not allocated to this segment.

Additional information about certain Capital Finance businesses 
follows.

CLL 2008 revenues decreased 2% and net earnings decreased 
53% compared with 2007. Revenues in 2008 and 2007 included 
$1.8 billion and $0.2 billion, respectively, from acquisitions, and in 
2008 were reduced by $0.3 billion as a result of dispositions.
Revenues in 2008 decreased $1.9 billion compared with 2007 as 
a result of organic revenue declines ($2.3 billion), partially offset 
by the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.5 billion). Net earnings decreased by 
$2.0 billion in 2008, resulting from core declines ($2.2 billion),
including an increase of $0.5 billion in the provision for losses on 
financing receivables and lower investment income ($0.3 billion),
partially offset by acquisitions ($0.4 billion) and the effect of the 
weaker U.S. dollar ($0.1 billion). Net earnings included mark-to-
market losses and impairments ($0.8 billion), the absence of the 
effects of the 2007 tax benefit on the disposition of our investment 
in SES ($0.5 billion) and SES gains ($0.1 billion), partially offset by 
Genpact mark-to-market gains ($0.2 billion).

CLL 2007 revenues and net earnings increased 6% and 9%, 
respectively, compared with 2006. Revenues in 2007 and 2006 
included $2.1 billion and $0.1 billion, respectively, from acquisi-
tions, and in 2007 were reduced by $2.7 billion as a result of 
dispositions. Revenues in 2007 also increased $1.9 billion as a 
result of organic revenue growth ($1.2 billion) and the weaker 
U.S. dollar ($0.7 billion). The increase in net earnings resulted 
from acquisitions ($0.2 billion), core growth ($0.1 billion) and the 
weaker U.S. dollar ($0.1 billion), partially offset by dispositions 
($0.1 billion). Core growth included $0.5 billion representing the 
total year’s tax benefit on the disposition of our investment in 
SES, partially offset by $0.2 billion of higher credit losses and 
$0.1 billion in charges related to mark-to-market adjustments to 
loans held-for-sale. Investment income included higher SES gains 
($0.1 billion), offset by impairments of securitization retained 
interests ($0.1 billion).

GE Money 2008 revenues increased 1% and net earnings 
decreased 14% compared with 2007. Revenues for 2008 included 
$0.7 billion from acquisitions and $0.4 billion from the gain on 
sale of our Corporate Payment Services (CPS) business and were 
reduced by $0.2 billion from dispositions. Revenues in 2008 also 
decreased $0.6 billion compared with 2007 as a result of organic 
revenue declines ($1.2 billion), partially offset by the weaker U.S.
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CORPORATE ITEMS AND ELIMINATIONS
(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

REVENUES

Insurance activities   $ 3,335 $ 3,962 $ 3,692
Eliminations and other   (1,421) 647 (800)

Total    $ 1,914 $ 4,609 $ 2,892

OPERATING PROFIT (COST)

Insurance activities   $  (202) $   145 $    57
Principal pension plans   (244) (755) (877)
Underabsorbed corporate overhead (341) (437) (266)
Other   (1,904) (793) (462)

Total    $(2,691) $(1,840) $(1,548)

Corporate Items and Eliminations include the effects of elimi-
nating transactions between operating segments; results of our 
insurance activities remaining in continuing operations; certain 
items in our treasury operations; cost of, and cost reductions from, 
our principal pension plans; underabsorbed corporate overhead; 
certain non-allocated amounts described below; and a variety of 
sundry items. Corporate Items and Eliminations is not an operat-
ing segment. Rather, it is added to operating segment totals to 
reconcile to consolidated totals on the financial statements.

Certain amounts included in the line “Other” above are not 
allocated to segment results for internal measurement purposes.
In 2008, amounts primarily related to restructuring, rationalization 
and other charges were $0.5 billion at each of Capital Finance 
and NBC Universal, $0.4 billion at Technology Infrastructure and 
$0.3 billion at each of Energy Infrastructure and Consumer & 
Industrial. Included in these amounts in 2008 were technology 
and product development costs of $0.2 billion at NBC Universal 
and $0.1 billion at Technology Infrastructure and net losses on 
business exits of $0.2 billion at Capital Finance. In 2007, amounts 
primarily related to restructuring, rationalization and other charges 
were $0.5 billion at Technology Infrastructure, $0.4 billion at each 
of Consumer & Industrial (including $0.1 billion of product quality 
issues) and Capital Finance, $0.3 billion at NBC Universal, and 
$0.2 billion at Energy Infrastructure. Included in these amounts in 
2007 were technology and product development costs of $0.1 bil-
lion at NBC Universal. GECS amounts are on an after-tax basis.

Corporate Items and Eliminations include the elimination of 
transactions between our segments. In 2007, revenues, elimina-
tions and other included a $0.9 billion gain on sale of a business 
interest to Hitachi by the Energy business and a $0.6 billion gain 
on sale of Swiss Re common stock.

Other operating profit (cost) reflects a $0.9 billion gain on sale 
of a business interest to Hitachi by the Energy business and a 
$0.3 billion (after-tax basis) gain on sale of Swiss Re common stock 
in 2007 and gains from sales of business interests of $0.4 billion
in 2006, principally GE Supply.

Real Estate assets at December 31, 2007, increased $25.5 bil-
lion, or 47%, from December 31, 2006, of which $12.6 billion 
was real estate investments, also up 47%. During 2007, we sold 
real estate assets with a book value totaling $7.0 billion, which 
resulted in net earnings of $2.1 billion.

Energy Financial Services 2008 revenues and net earnings 
increased 54% and 22%, respectively, compared with 2007.
Revenues in 2008 and 2007 included $1.6 billion and $0.3 billion,
respectively, from acquisitions. The increase in net earnings 
resulted primarily from core growth ($0.2 billion), partially offset 
by lower investment income ($0.1 billion).

Energy Financial Services 2007 revenues and net earnings 
increased 45% and 4%, respectively, compared with 2006.
The increase in revenues resulted primarily from acquisitions 
($0.6 billion) and organic revenue growth ($0.1 billion). The 
increase in net earnings resulted primarily from core growth.

GECAS 2008 revenues increased 1% and net earnings 
decreased 1% compared with 2007. The increase in revenues is 
primarily a result of organic revenue growth ($0.1 billion), partially 
offset by lower investment income. The decrease in net earnings 
resulted primarily from lower investment income, partially offset 
by core growth.

GECAS 2007 revenues and net earnings increased 11% and 
3%, respectively, compared with 2006. The increase in revenues 
resulted primarily from organic revenue growth ($0.4 billion) and 
acquisitions ($0.1 billion). The increase in net earnings resulted 
primarily from core growth.

CONSUMER & INDUSTRIAL revenues decreased 7%, or $0.9 billion, 
to $11.7 billion in 2008 compared with 2007 as lower volume 
($1.2 billion) was partially offset by higher prices ($0.2 billion) and 
the effects of the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.1 billion). The decrease in 
volume reflected tightened spending in the U.S. market. Segment 
profit decreased 65%, or $0.7 billion, to $0.4 billion as higher 
material and other costs ($0.4 billion), lower volume ($0.2 billion), 
lower productivity ($0.1 billion) and the effects of the weaker U.S.
dollar on manufacturing costs ($0.1 billion) were partially offset by 
higher prices ($0.2 billion).

Consumer & Industrial revenues decreased 4%, or $0.5 billion, 
in 2007 compared with 2006 as lower volume ($0.8 billion) was 
partially offset by the effects of the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.2 billion) 
and higher prices ($0.1 billion). The decrease in volume reflects 
the sale of GE Supply in the third quarter of 2006. Segment profit 
rose 7%, or $0.1 billion, as productivity ($0.3 billion) and higher 
prices ($0.1 billion) were partially offset by higher material and 
other costs ($0.4 billion). See Corporate Items and Eliminations for 
a discussion of items not allocated to this segment.
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Geographic Operations
Our global activities span all geographic regions and primarily 
encompass manufacturing for local and export markets, import 
and sale of products produced in other regions, leasing of aircraft, 
sourcing for our plants domiciled in other global regions and 
provision of financial services within these regional economies.
Thus, when countries or regions experience currency and/or 
economic stress, we often have increased exposure to certain 
risks, but also often have new profit opportunities. Potential 
increased risks include, among other things, higher receivable 
delinquencies and bad debts, delays or cancellations of sales and 
orders principally related to power and aircraft equipment, higher 
local currency financing costs and slowdown in established finan-
cial services activities. New profit opportunities include, among 
other things, more opportunities for lower cost outsourcing, 
expansion of industrial and financial services activities through 
purchases of companies or assets at reduced prices and lower 
U.S. debt financing costs.

Revenues are classified according to the region to which 
products and services are sold. For purposes of this analysis, U.S.
is presented separately from the remainder of the Americas. We 
classify certain operations that cannot meaningfully be associated 
with specific geographic areas as “Other Global” for this purpose.

GEOGRAPHIC REVENUES
(In billions) 2008 2007 2006

U.S.    $ 85.3 $ 86.2 $ 81.1
Europe   44.0 39.9 32.6
Pacific Basin   23.6 21.8 17.7
Americas   14.8 12.6 11.5
Middle East and Africa   10.1 8.0 5.5
Other Global   4.7 4.0 3.2

Total    $182.5 $172.5 $151.6

Global revenues rose 13% to $97.2 billion in 2008, compared with 
$86.3 billion and $70.5 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Global revenues to external customers as a percentage of consoli-
dated revenues were 53% in 2008, compared with 50% and 47% 
in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The effects of currency fluctuations 
on reported results were to increase revenues by $2.0 billion,
$4.0 billion and $0.1 billion in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

GE global revenues in 2008 were $59.4 billion, up 19% over 
2007, led by increases at Energy Infrastructure and Technology 
Infrastructure, primarily in the Middle East and Africa, Europe and 
the Pacific Basin. GE global revenues as a percentage of total GE 
revenues was 53% in 2008, compared with 50% and 48% in 2007 
and 2006, respectively. GE global revenues were $49.8 billion in 
2007, up 16% over 2006, led by increases at Energy Infrastructure 
and Technology Infrastructure, primarily in the Middle East and 
Africa, Europe and the Pacific Basin.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

Earnings (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of taxes   $(679) $(249) $1,398

Discontinued operations comprised GE Money Japan; WMC; 
Plastics; Advanced Materials; GE Life, our U.K.-based life insurance 
operation; the property and casualty insurance and reinsurance 
businesses and the European life and health operations of GE 
Insurance Solutions and most of its affiliates; and Genworth, our 
formerly wholly-owned subsidiary that conducted most of our 
consumer insurance business, including life and mortgage 
insurance operations. Results of these businesses are reported 
as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

During the third quarter of 2007, we committed to a plan to sell 
our Lake business and recorded an after-tax loss of $0.9 billion,
which represents the difference between the net book value of 
our Lake business and the projected sale price. During 2008, we 
completed the sale of GE Money Japan, which included Lake, 
along with our Japanese mortgage and card businesses, excluding 
our minority ownership interest in GE Nissen Credit Co., Ltd. In 
connection with this sale, and primarily related to our Japanese 
mortgage and card businesses, we recorded an incremental 
$0.4 billion loss in 2008.

In December 2007, we completed the sale of our WMC busi-
ness for $0.1 billion in cash, recognizing an after-tax loss of 
$0.1 billion. In connection with the transaction, certain contractual 
obligations and potential liabilities related to previously sold loans 
were retained.

In August 2007, we completed the sale of our Plastics business 
to Saudi Basic Industries Corporation for $11.6 billion in cash. As 
a result, we recognized an after-tax gain of $1.6 billion.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes, in 2008 was 
$0.7 billion, primarily reflecting a loss from operations ($0.3 billion), 
and the estimated incremental loss on disposal ($0.4 billion) at 
GE Money Japan.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes, in 2007 was 
$0.2 billion, reflecting a loss from operations at WMC ($0.9 billion), 
an estimated after-tax loss on the planned sale of Lake ($0.9 bil-
lion), a loss from operations at GE Money Japan ($0.3 billion), and 
an after-tax loss on the sale of our WMC business ($0.1 billion),
partially offset by a tax adjustment related to the 2004 initial public 
offering of Genworth ($0.1 billion). This was partially offset by an 
after-tax gain on sale of our Plastics business ($1.6 billion) and 
earnings from Plastics operations ($0.3 billion).

Earnings from discontinued operations, net of taxes, in 2006 
were $1.4 billion, reflecting earnings at our Plastics and Advanced 
Materials businesses ($1.0 billion). Also included in these earnings 
were earnings at GE Money Japan and WMC ($0.3 billion), Genworth 
($0.2 billion) and GE Insurance Solutions ($0.1 billion), partially off-
set by a loss at GE Life ($0.2 billion).

For additional information related to discontinued operations, 
see Note 2.
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In November 2006, the United States Federal District Court 
approved a consent decree, which had been agreed to by GE 
and the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 
that represents a comprehensive framework for implementation 
of the EPA’s 2002 decision to dredge polychlorinated biphenyl 
(PCB)-containing sediments in the upper Hudson River. The 
dredging will be performed in two phases with an intervening 
peer review of performance after the first phase. Under the 
consent decree, we have committed to reimburse the EPA for its 
past and future project oversight costs and to perform the first 
phase of dredging, which is scheduled to proceed from May 
through November of 2009. After completion of the peer review, 
currently scheduled for 2010, we may be responsible for further 
costs. Our Statement of Financial Position as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, included liabilities for the probable and estimable 
costs of the agreed upon remediation activities.

Financial Resources and Liquidity
This discussion of financial resources and liquidity addresses the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in 
Shareowners’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows, Contractual 
Obligations, Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, and Debt 
Instruments, Guarantees and Covenants.

The fundamental differences between GE and GECS are 
reflected in the measurements commonly used by investors, 
rating agencies and financial analysts.

Overview of Financial Position
Major changes to our shareowners’ equity are discussed in the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareowners’ Equity 
section. In addition, other significant changes to balances in our 
Statement of Financial Position follow.

Statement of Financial Position
Because GE and GECS share certain significant elements of their 
Statements of Financial Position — property, plant and equipment 
and borrowings, for example—the following discussion addresses 
significant captions in the “consolidated” statement. Within the 
following discussions, however, we distinguish between GE and 
GECS activities in order to permit meaningful analysis of each 
individual consolidating statement.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES comprise mainly investment-grade debt 
securities supporting obligations to annuitants and policyholders 
in our run-off insurance operations and holders of guaranteed 
investment contracts (GICs). Investment securities amounted to 
$41.4 billion at December 31, 2008, compared with $45.3 billion
at December 31, 2007. Of the amount at December 31, 2008, we 
held debt securities with an estimated fair value of $33.9 billion,
which included residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) and 
commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) with estimated 
fair values of $4.3 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively. Unrealized 
losses on debt securities were $5.4 billion and $1.1 billion at 

GECS global revenues rose 4% to $37.8 billion in 2008, com-
pared with $36.5 billion and $27.5 billion in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. GECS global revenues as a percentage of total GECS 
revenues were 53% in 2008, compared with 51% and 45% in 
2007 and 2006, respectively. The effects of currency fluctuations 
on reported results were to increase revenues by $1.2 billion and 
$2.3 billion in 2008 and 2007, respectively, compared with a 
decrease of $0.1 billion in 2006.

GECS revenues in the Middle East and Africa grew 25% in 2008, 
primarily as a result of organic revenue growth at GECAS. Revenues 
grew 11% in the Americas and 6% in Europe in 2008, primarily as 
a result of organic revenue growth, acquisitions and the effects of 
the weaker U.S. dollar, primarily at GE Money and CLL. Revenues 
in the Pacific Basin remained flat in 2008 from 2007.

TOTAL ASSETS (CONTINUING OPERATIONS)
December 31 (In billions)  2008 2007

U.S.     $395.6 $364.5
Europe    228.0 236.5
Pacific Basin    75.0 87.8
Americas    40.9 42.6
Other Global    56.5 55.4

Total     $796.0 $786.8

Total assets of global operations on a continuing basis were 
$400.4 billion in 2008, a decrease of $21.9 billion, or 5%, from 
2007. GECS global assets on a continuing basis of $328.4 billion
at the end of 2008 were 10% lower than at the end of 2007, 
reflecting core declines and the effects of the stronger U.S. dollar 
in Europe, the Pacific Basin and the Americas, partially offset by 
acquisitions, primarily at GE Money and CLL.

Financial results of our global activities reported in U.S. dollars 
are affected by currency exchange. We use a number of tech-
niques to manage the effects of currency exchange, including 
selective borrowings in local currencies and selective hedging of 
significant cross-currency transactions. Such principal currencies 
are the pound sterling, the euro, the Japanese yen and the 
Canadian dollar.

Environmental Matters
Our operations, like operations of other companies engaged in 
similar businesses, involve the use, disposal and cleanup of sub-
stances regulated under environmental protection laws. We are 
involved in a sizable number of remediation actions to clean up 
hazardous wastes as required by federal and state laws. Such 
statutes require that responsible parties fund remediation actions 
regardless of fault, legality of original disposal or ownership of a 
disposal site. Expenditures for site remediation actions amounted 
to approximately $0.3 billion in 2008 and $0.2 billion in 2007. We 
presently expect that such remediation actions will require average 
annual expenditures in the range of $0.3 billion to $0.4 billion
over the next two years.
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Other-than-temporary impairment losses totaled $1.6 billion in 
2008 and $0.1 billion in 2007. In 2008, we recognized other-than-
temporary impairments, primarily relating to retained interests in 
our securitization arrangements, RMBS and corporate debt securi-
ties of infrastructure, financial institutions and media companies. In 
2007, we recognized other-than-temporary impairments, primarily 
for our retained interests in our securitization arrangements.
Investments in retained interests in securitization arrangements 
also decreased by $0.1 billion during 2008, reflecting declines in 
fair value accounted for in accordance with a new accounting 
standard that became effective at the beginning of 2007.

Monoline insurers (Monolines) provide credit enhancement for 
certain of our investment securities. At December 31, 2008, our 
investment securities insured by Monolines totaled $3.1 billion,
including $1.1 billion of our $1.3 billion investment in subprime 
RMBS. Although several of the Monolines have been downgraded 
by the rating agencies, a majority of the $3.1 billion is insured by 
investment-grade Monolines. The Monoline industry continues to 
experience financial stress from increasing delinquencies and 
defaults on the individual loans underlying insured securities. We 
regularly monitor changes to the expected cash flows of the 
securities we hold, and the ability of these insurers to pay claims 
on securities with expected losses. At December 31, 2008, if the 
Monolines were unable to pay our anticipated claims based on 
the expected future cash flows of the securities, we would have 
recorded an impairment charge of $0.3 billion, of which $0.1 bil-
lion would relate to expected credit losses and the remaining 
$0.2 billion would relate to other market factors.

Our qualitative review attempts to identify issuers’ securities 
that are “at-risk” of impairment, that is, with a possibility of 
other-than-temporary impairment recognition in the following 12 
months. Of securities with unrealized losses at December 31,
2008, $0.7 billion of unrealized loss was at risk of being charged 
to earnings assuming no further changes in price, and that 
amount primarily related to investments in RMBS and CMBS 
securities, equity securities, securitization retained interests, and 
corporate debt securities of financial institutions and media 
companies. In addition, we had approximately $2.9 billion of 
exposure to commercial, regional and foreign banks, primarily 
relating to corporate debt securities, with associated unrealized 
losses of $0.4 billion. Continued uncertainty in the capital markets 
may cause increased levels of other-than-temporary impairments.

At December 31, 2008, unrealized losses on investment secu-
rities totaled $5.7 billion, including $3.5 billion aged 12 months or 
longer, compared with unrealized losses of $1.3 billion, including 
$0.5 billion aged 12 months or longer at December 31, 2007. Of 
the amount aged 12 months or longer at December 31, 2008, 
more than 80% of our debt securities were considered to be 
investment-grade by the major rating agencies. In addition, of the 
amount aged 12 months or longer, $1.9 billion and $1.4 billion
related to structured securities (mortgage-backed, asset-backed 
and securitization retained interests) and corporate debt securities, 
respectively. With respect to our investment securities that are 

December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2007, respectively. This 
amount included unrealized losses on RMBS and CMBS of 
$1.1 billion and $0.8 billion at the end of 2008, as compared with 
$0.2 billion and an insignificant amount, respectively, at the end 
of 2007. Unrealized losses increased as a result of continuing 
market deterioration, and we believe primarily represent adjust-
ments for liquidity on investment-grade securities.

Of the $4.3 billion of RMBS, our exposure to subprime credit 
was approximately $1.3 billion, and those securities are primarily 
held to support obligations to holders of GICs. A majority of these 
securities have received investment-grade credit ratings from 
the major rating agencies. We purchased no such securities in 
2008 and an insignificant amount of such securities in 2007.
These investment securities are collateralized primarily by pools 
of individual direct-mortgage loans, and do not include structured 
products such as collateralized debt obligations. Additionally, a 
majority of our exposure to residential subprime credit related to 
investment securities backed by mortgage loans originated in 
2006 and 2005.

We regularly review investment securities for impairment 
using both quantitative and qualitative criteria. Quantitative crite-
ria include the length of time and magnitude of the amount that 
each security is in an unrealized loss position and, for securities 
with fixed maturities, whether the issuer is in compliance with 
terms and covenants of the security. Qualitative criteria include 
the financial health of and specific prospects for the issuer, as 
well as our intent and ability to hold the security to maturity 
or until forecasted recovery. In addition, our evaluation at 
December 31, 2008, considered the continuing market deterio-
ration that resulted in the lack of liquidity and the historic levels 
of price volatility and credit spreads. With respect to corporate 
bonds, we placed greater emphasis on the credit quality of the 
issuers. With respect to RMBS and CMBS, we placed greater 
emphasis on our expectations with respect to cash flows from the 
underlying collateral and, with respect to RMBS, we considered 
the availability of credit enhancements, principally monoline 
insurance. Our other-than-temporary impairment reviews involve 
our finance, risk and asset management functions as well as the 
portfolio management and research capabilities of our internal 
and third-party asset managers.

When an other-than-temporary impairment is recognized for 
a debt security, the charge has two components: (1) the loss of 
contractual cash flows due to the inability of the issuer (or the 
insurer, if applicable) to pay all amounts due; and (2) the effects of 
current market conditions, exclusive of credit losses, on the fair 
value of the security (principally liquidity discounts and interest 
rate effects). If the expected loss due to credit remains unchanged 
for the remaining term of the debt instrument, the latter portion 
of the impairment charge is subsequently accreted to earnings 
as interest income over the remaining term of the instrument.
When a security is insured, a credit loss event is deemed to 
have occurred if the insurer is expected to be unable to cover its 
obligations under the related insurance contract.



management’s discussion and analysis

34 ge 2008 annual report

FINANCING RECEIVABLES is our largest category of assets and 
represents one of our primary sources of revenues. A discussion 
of the quality of certain elements of the financing receivables 
portfolio follows. For purposes of that discussion, “delinquent” 
receivables are those that are 30 days or more past due; and 
“nonearning” receivables are those that are 90 days or more past 
due (or for which collection has otherwise become doubtful).

Our portfolio of financing receivables is diverse and not 
directly comparable to major U.S. banks. Historically, we have 
had less consumer exposure, which over time has had higher 
loss rates than commercial exposure. Our consumer exposure is 
largely non-U.S. and primarily comprises mortgage, sales finance, 
auto and personal loans in various European and Asian countries.
Our U.S. consumer financing receivables comprise 7% of our 
total portfolio. Of those, approximately 42% relate primarily to 
credit cards, which are often subject to profit and loss sharing 
arrangements with the retailer (the results of which are reflected 
in GECS revenues), and have a smaller average balance and lower 
loss severity as compared to bank cards. The remaining 58% are 
sales finance receivables, which provide electronics, recreation, 
medical and home improvement financing to customers. In 2007, 
we exited the U.S. mortgage business and we have no U.S. auto 
or student loans.

Our commercial portfolio primarily comprises senior, secured 
positions with comparatively low loss history. The secured 
receivables in this portfolio are collateralized by a variety of asset 
classes, including industrial-related facilities and equipment; 
commercial and residential real estate; vehicles, aircraft , and 
equipment used in many industries, including the construction, 
manufacturing, transportation, telecommunications and health-
care industries. In addition, 2% of this portfolio is unsecured 
corporate debt.

Losses on financing receivables are recognized when they 
are incurred, which requires us to make our best estimate of 
probable losses inherent in the portfolio. Such estimate requires 
consideration of historical loss experience, adjusted for current 
conditions, and judgments about the probable effects of relevant 
observable data, including present economic conditions such 
as delinquency rates, financial health of specific customers and 
market sectors, collateral values, and the present and expected 
future levels of interest rates. Our risk management process 
includes standards and policies for reviewing major risk expo-
sures and concentrations, and evaluates relevant data either for 
individual loans or financing leases, or on a portfolio basis, as 
appropriate.

in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2008, we intend 
to hold them at least until such time as their individual fair values 
exceed their amortized cost and we have the ability to hold all 
such debt securities until their maturities. The fair values used to 
determine these unrealized gains and losses are those defined 
by relevant accounting standards and are not a forecast of 
future gains or losses. For additional information, see Note 9.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS. Effective January 1, 2008, we 
adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 157, Fair Value 
Measurements, for all financial instruments and non-financial 
instruments accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis.
Adoption of SFAS 157 did not have a material effect on our 
financial position or results of operations. During the fourth 
quarter, our methodology remained consistent with prior quarters 
for measuring fair value of financial instruments trading in 
volatile markets. Additional information about our application of 
SFAS 157 is provided in Note 28.

WORKING CAPITAL, representing GE current receivables and 
inventories, less GE accounts payable and progress collections, 
was $3.9 billion at December 31, 2008, down $2.5 billion from 
December 31, 2007, reflecting higher progress collections at 
Energy. As Energy delivers units out of its backlog over the next 
few years, progress collections of $13.1 billion at December 31,
2008, will be earned, affecting working capital adversely.
Nonetheless, our performance is expected to improve in 2009 as 
a result of our Operating Council’s initiatives (e.g., lean projects 
on cycle time), which will significantly offset the decrease in 
progress collections.

We discuss current receivables and inventories, two important 
elements of working capital, in the following paragraphs.

CURRENT RECEIVABLES for GE amounted to $15.1 billion at both 
the end of 2008 and 2007, and included $11.3 billion due from 
customers at the end of 2008 compared with $11.0 billion at the 
end of 2007. GE current receivables turnover was 7.5 in 2008, 
compared with 7.3 in 2007. See Note 10.

INVENTORIES for GE amounted to $13.6 billion at December 31,
2008, up $0.8 billion from the end of 2007. This increase reflected 
higher inventories from purchases at Energy Infrastructure. GE 
inventory turnover was 8.0 and 8.3 in 2008 and 2007, respectively.
See Note 11.
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Financing receivables Nonearning receivables Allowance for losses

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

CLL

Equipment and leasing and other  $ 99,769 $ 96,817 $1,526 $  939 $  894 $  661
Commercial and industrial  64,332 58,863 1,128 757 415 276
GE MONEY

Non-U.S. residential mortgages  59,595 73,042 3,317 2,465 382 246
Non-U.S. installment and revolving credit  24,441 34,669 413 533 1,051 1,371
U.S. installment and revolving credit  27,645 27,914 758 515 1,700 985
Non-U.S. auto  18,168 27,368 83 75 222 324
Other 9,244 10,198 152 91 214 162
REAL ESTATE (a)  46,735 32,228 194 25 301 168
ENERGY FINANCIAL SERVICES  8,392 7,898 241 — 58 19
GECAS 15,429 14,197 146 — 60 8
OTHER 4,031 5,111 38 71 28 18

TOTAL $377,781 $388,305 $7,996 $5,471 $5,325 $4,238

(a) Financing receivables included $731 million and $452 million of construction loans at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Nonearning receivables  Allowance for losses  Allowance for losses 
as a percent of  as a percent of  as a percent of total 

financing receivables nonearning receivables financing receivables

December 31 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

CLL

Equipment and leasing and other  1.5% 1.0% 58.6% 70.4% 0.9% 0.7%
Commercial and industrial  1.8 1.3 36.8 36.5 0.6 0.5
GE MONEY

Non-U.S. residential mortgages  5.6 3.4 11.5 10.0 0.6 0.3
Non-U.S. installment and revolving credit   1.7 1.5 254.5 257.2 4.3 4.0
U.S. installment and revolving credit  2.7 1.8 224.3 191.3 6.1 3.5
Non-U.S. auto  0.5 0.3 267.5 432.0 1.2 1.2
Other 1.6 0.9 140.8 178.0 2.3 1.6
REAL ESTATE  0.4 0.1 155.2 672.0 0.6 0.5
ENERGY FINANCIAL SERVICES  2.9 — 24.1 — 0.7 0.2
GECAS 0.9 — 41.1 — 0.4 0.1
OTHER 0.9 1.4 73.7 25.4 0.7 0.4

TOTAL 2.1% 1.4% 66.6% 77.5% 1.4% 1.1%
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CLL—EQUIPMENT AND LEASING AND OTHER. Nonearning receivables 
of $1.5 billion represented 19.1% of total nonearning receivables 
at December 31, 2008. The ratio of allowance for losses as a 
percent of nonearning receivables declined from 70.4% at 
December 31, 2007, to 58.6% at December 31, 2008, primarily 
from an increase in secured exposures which did not require 
specific reserves based upon the strength of the underlying 
collateral values.

CLL — COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL. Nonearning receivables of 
$1.1 billion represented 14.1% of total nonearning receivables at 
December 31, 2008. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent 
of nonearning receivables increased from 36.5% at December 31, 
2007, to 36.8% at December 31, 2008. The ratio of nonearning 
receivables as a percentage of financing receivables increased 
from 1.3% at December 31, 2007, to 1.8% at December 31,
2008, primarily from an increase in nonearning receivables in 
secured lending in media and communications, auto and trans-
portation, and consumer manufacturing companies.

GE MONEY — NON-U.S. RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES. Nonearning 
receivables of $3.3 billion represented 41.5% of total nonearning 
receivables at December 31, 2008. The ratio of allowance for 
losses as a percent of nonearning receivables increased from 
10.0% at December 31, 2007, to 11.5% at December 31, 2008.
Our non-U.S. mortgage portfolio has a loan-to-value of approxi-
mately 74% at origination and the vast majority are first lien 
positions. In addition, we carry mortgage insurance on most first 
mortgage loans originated at a loan-to-value above 80%. In 2008, 
our nonearning receivables increased primarily as a result of 
the declining U.K. housing market and our allowance increased 
accordingly. At December 31, 2008, we had foreclosed on fewer 
than 1,000 houses in the U.K.

GE MONEY — U.S. INSTALLMENT AND REVOLVING CREDIT.

Nonearning receivables of $0.8 billion represented 9.5% of total 
nonearning receivables at December 31, 2008. The ratio of allow-
ance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables increased 
from 191.3% at December 31, 2007, to 224.3% at December 31,
2008, reflecting the effects of the continued deterioration in our 
U.S. portfolio in connection with rising unemployment.

GE MONEY — NON-U.S. AUTO. Nonearning receivables of $0.1 billion 
represented 1% of total nonearning receivables at December 31,
2008. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning 
receivables decreased from 432.0% at December 31, 2007, to 
267.5% at December 31, 2008. This is primarily a result of the 
disposition of our Thailand auto business, the decision to dispose 
of our U.K. auto business, and the effects of recoveries.

The majority of the allowance for losses of $5.3 billion at 
December 31, 2008, and $4.2 billion at December 31, 2007, is 
determined based upon a formulaic approach. Further information 
on the determination of the allowance for losses on financing 
receivables is provided in the Critical Accounting Estimates section 
and Notes 1 and 13.

A portion of the allowance for losses is related to specific 
reserves on loans that have been determined to be individually 
impaired under SFAS 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment 
of a Loan. Under SFAS 114, individually impaired loans are defined 
as larger balance or restructured loans for which it is probable that 
the lender will be unable to collect all amounts due according to 
original contractual terms of the loan agreement. These specific 
reserves amounted to $0.6 billion and $0.4 billion at December 31, 
2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Further information 
pertaining to specific reserves is included in the table below.

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Loans requiring allowance for losses   $2,712 $  986
Loans expected to be fully recoverable  871 391

Total impaired loans    $3,583 $1,377

Allowance for losses    $  635 $  361
Average investment during year   2,064 1,576
Interest income earned while impaired (a)  27 19

(a) Recognized principally on cash basis.

The portfolio of financing receivables, before allowance for losses, 
was $377.8 billion at December 31, 2008, and $388.3 billion at 
December 31, 2007. Financing receivables, before allowance for 
losses, decreased $10.5 billion from December 31, 2007, primarily 
as a result of commercial and equipment securitization and sales 
($36.7 billion), the stronger U.S. dollar ($29.4 billion) and dispositions 
($7.0 billion), partially offset by core growth ($42.9 billion) and 
acquisitions ($31.9 billion).

Related nonearning receivables totaled $8.0 billion (2.1% of 
outstanding receivables) at December 31, 2008, compared with 
$5.5 billion (1.4% of outstanding receivables) at December 31, 2007.
Related nonearning receivables increased from December 31,
2007, primarily because of rising unemployment, along with the 
increasingly challenging global economic environment.

The allowance for losses at December 31, 2008, totaled 
$5.3 billion compared with $4.2 billion at December 31, 2007, 
representing our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the 
portfolio and reflecting the then current credit and economic 
environment. Allowance for losses increased $1.1 billion from 
December 31, 2007, primarily because of increasing delinquencies 
and nonearning receivables reflecting the continued weakened 
economic and credit environment. Coincident with the changes in 
the environment, we saw a significant increase in delinquencies 
in the latter half of 2008, particularly in the fourth quarter. As the 
environment worsened in the latter half of the year, we recognized 
provisions accordingly.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT totaled $78.5 billion at 
December 31, 2008, up $0.6 billion from 2007, primarily reflecting 
acquisitions and additions of commercial aircraft at the GECAS 
business of Capital Finance. GE property, plant and equipment 
consisted of investments for its own productive use, whereas 
the largest element for GECS was equipment provided to third 
parties on operating leases. Details by category of investment 
are presented in Note 14.

GE additions to property, plant and equipment totaled 
$3.0 billion in both 2008 and 2007. Total expenditures, excluding 
equipment leased to others, for the past five years were 
$14.5 billion, of which 33% was investment for growth through 
new capacity and product development; 31% was investment in 
productivity through new equipment and process improvements; 
and 36% was investment for other purposes such as improvement 
of research and development facilities and safety and environ-
mental protection.

GECS additions to property, plant and equipment were 
$13.3 billion and $15.2 billion during 2008 and 2007, respectively, 
primarily reflecting acquisitions and additions of commercial 
aircraft at the GECAS business of Capital Finance.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS totaled $81.8 billion
and $15.0 billion, respectively, at December 31, 2008. Goodwill 
increased $0.6 billion from 2007, primarily from acquisitions —
including Hydril Pressure Control by Energy Infrastructure, 
Merrill Lynch Capital by Capital Finance and Vital Signs at 
Technology Infrastructure, partially offset by the effects of the 
stronger U.S. dollar and dispositions. Other intangible assets 
decreased $1.2 billion from 2007, primarily from amortization 
expense and the effects of the stronger U.S. dollar. See Note 15.

ALL OTHER ASSETS totaled $106.9 billion at year-end 2008, a 
decrease of $15.9 billion, reflecting decreases in prepaid pension 
assets, assets held for sale and real estate, partially offset by 
increases in derivative instruments and associated companies.
We recognized other-than-temporary impairments of cost and 
equity method investments of $0.5 billion and $0.1 billion in 
2008 and 2007, respectively, including $0.2 billion relating to our 
cost method investment in FGIC Corporation during 2008. See 
Note 16.

Delinquency rates on managed equipment financing loans and 
leases and managed consumer financing receivables follow.

December 31 2008 2007 2006

Equipment financing   2.17% 1.21% 1.22%
Consumer   7.47 5.38 5.22

U.S.   7.14 5.52 4.93
Non-U.S.   7.64 5.32 5.34

Delinquency rates on equipment financing loans and leases 
increased from December 31, 2007, and December 31, 2006, to 
December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of the inclusion of the 
CitiCapital acquisition and Sanyo acquisition in Japan, which 
contributed an additional 12 and 9 basis points, respectively, at 
December 31, 2008, as well as deterioration in our U.S. commercial 
middle market and certain European portfolios. The current finan-
cial market turmoil and tight credit conditions may continue to 
lead to a higher level of commercial delinquencies and provisions 
for financing receivables and could adversely affect results of 
operations at CLL.

Delinquency rates on consumer financing receivables 
increased from December 31, 2007, and December 31, 2006, to 
December 31, 2008, primarily because of rising unemployment, 
an increasingly challenging economic environment and lower 
volume. This has resulted in continued deterioration in our U.S.
and U.K. portfolios. In response, GE Money has continued to 
tighten underwriting standards globally, increased focus on 
collection effectiveness and will continue its process of regularly 
reviewing and adjusting reserve levels. We expect the global 
environment, along with U.S. unemployment levels, to continue 
to deteriorate in 2009, which may result in higher provisions for 
loan losses and could adversely affect results of operations at 
GE Money. At December 31, 2008, roughly 40% of our U.S.-
managed portfolio, which consisted of credit cards, installment 
and revolving loans, was receivable from subprime borrowers.
We had no U.S. subprime residential mortgage loans at 
December 31, 2008. See Notes 12 and 13.

OTHER GECS RECEIVABLES totaled $18.6 billion at December 31,
2008, and $22.1 billion at December 31, 2007, and consisted 
primarily of amounts due from GE (generally related to certain 
material procurement programs of $3.0 billion at December 31,
2008 and $2.9 billion at December 31, 2007), insurance receiv-
ables, amounts due from Qualified Special Purpose Entities (QSPEs), 
nonfinancing customer receivables, amounts accrued from 
investment income, amounts due under operating leases and 
various sundry items.
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During the fourth quarter of 2008, the FDIC adopted the TLGP 
to address disruptions in the credit market, particularly the inter-
bank lending market, which reduced banks’ liquidity and impaired 
their ability to lend. The goal of the TLGP is to decrease the cost 
of bank funding so that bank lending to consumers and businesses 
will normalize. The TLGP guarantees certain newly issued senior, 
unsecured debt of banks, thrifts, and certain holding companies.
Under the FDIC’s Final Rule adopted on November 21, 2008, 
certain senior, unsecured debt issued before June 30, 2009, with 
a maturity of greater than 30 days that matures on or prior to 
June 30, 2012, is automatically included in the program. GECC has 
elected to participate in this program. The fees associated with 
this program range from 50 to 100 basis points on an annualized 
basis and vary according to the maturity of the debt issuance.
GECC also pays an additional 10 basis points, as it is not an insured 
depository institution. On February 10, 2009, in a Joint Statement, 
the Secretary of the Treasury, the Chairman of the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve, the Chairman of the FDIC, the 
Comptroller of the Currency and the Director of the Office of Thrift 
Supervision (OTS) announced that, for an additional premium, 
the FDIC will extend the Debt Guarantee Program of the TLGP 
through October 2009.

Included in GECS issuances above is $13.4 billion of senior, 
unsecured long-term debt issued by GECC in the fourth quarter 
of 2008 under the TLGP with varying maturities up to June 30, 
2012. Additionally, GECC had commercial paper of $21.8 billion
outstanding at December 31, 2008, which was issued under the 
TLGP (which is required for all commercial paper issuances with 
maturities greater than 30 days).

In the fourth quarter of 2008, GE Capital extended $21.8 billion 
of credit to U.S. customers, including 5 million new accounts, 
and $7.7 billion of credit (including unfunded commitments of 
$2.5 billion) to U.S. companies, with an average transaction size 
of $2.4 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, GECS issued commercial 
paper into the CPFF. The last tranche of this commercial paper 
matures in February 2009. Although we do not anticipate further 
utilization of the CPFF, it remains available until October 31,
2009. We incurred $0.6 billion of fees for our participation in the 
TLGP and CPFF programs through December 31, 2008.

Our 2009 funding plan anticipates approximately $45 billion
of senior, unsecured long-term debt issuance. In January 2009, 
we completed issuances of $11.0 billion funding under the TLGP.
We also issued $5.1 billion in non-guaranteed senior, unsecured 
debt with a maturity of 30 years under the non-guarantee option 
of the TLGP. These issuances, along with the $13.4 billion of pre-
funding done in December 2008, bring our aggregate issuances 
to $29.5 billion or 66% of our anticipated 2009 funding plan.
Additionally, we anticipate that we will be 90% complete with our 
2009 funding plan by June 30, 2009.

LIQUIDITY AND BORROWINGS

We manage our liquidity to help ensure access to sufficient fund-
ing at acceptable costs to meet our business needs and financial 
obligations throughout business cycles. We rely on cash generated 
through our operating activities as well as unsecured and secured 
funding sources, including commercial paper, term debt, bank 
deposits, bank borrowings, securitization and other retail funding 
products.

The global credit markets have recently experienced unprec-
edented volatility, which has affected both the availability and 
cost of our funding sources. In this current volatile credit 
environment, we have taken a number of initiatives to strengthen 
our liquidity, maintain our dividend, and maintain the highest 
credit ratings. Specifically, we have:

Reduced the GECS dividend to GE from 40% to 10% of GECS 
earnings and suspended our stock repurchase program.

Raised $15 billion in cash through common and preferred 
stock offerings in October 2008 and contributed $5.5 billion
to GE Capital. In February 2009, the GE Board authorized a 
capital contribution of up to $9.5 billion to GE Capital, which 
is expected to be made in the first quarter of 2009.

Reduced our commercial paper borrowings at GECS to 
$72 billion at December 31, 2008.

Targeted to further reduce GECS commercial paper borrowings 
to $50 billion by the end of 2009 and to target committed 
credit lines equal to GECS commercial paper borrowings going 
forward.

Grown our alternative funding to $54 billion at December 31,
2008, including $36 billion of bank deposits.

Registered to use the Federal Reserve’s Commercial Paper 
Funding Facility (CPFF) for up to $98 billion, which is available 
through October 31, 2009.

Registered to use the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s 
(FDIC) Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program (TLGP) for 
approximately $126 billion.

At GECS, we are managing collections versus originations to 
help support liquidity needs and are estimating $25 billion of 
excess collections in 2009.

Throughout this period of volatility, we have been able to continue 
to meet our funding needs at acceptable costs. We continue to 
access the commercial paper markets without interruption.

During 2008, GECS and its affiliates issued $84.3 billion of 
senior, unsecured long-term debt. This debt was both fixed and 
floating rate and was issued to institutional and retail investors in 
the U.S. and 17 other global markets. Maturities for these issuances 
ranged from one to 40 years.
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EXCHANGE RATE AND INTEREST RATE RISKS are managed with a 
variety of techniques, including match funding and selective use 
of derivatives. We use derivatives to mitigate or eliminate certain 
financial and market risks because we conduct business in 
diverse markets around the world and local funding is not always 
efficient. In addition, we use derivatives to adjust the debt we 
are issuing to match the fixed or floating nature of the assets we 
are acquiring. We apply strict policies to manage each of these 
risks, including prohibitions on derivatives market-making or other 
speculative activities. Following is an analysis of the potential 
effects of changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates 
using so-called “shock” tests that model effects of shifts in rates.
These are not forecasts.

It is our policy to minimize exposure to interest rate changes.
We fund our financial investments using debt or a combination 
of debt and hedging instruments so that the interest rates of 
our borrowings match the expected yields on our assets. To 
test the effectiveness of our positions, we assumed that, on 
January 1, 2009, interest rates increased by 100 basis points 
across the yield curve (a “parallel shift” in that curve) and further 
assumed that the increase remained in place for 2009. We 
estimated, based on the year-end 2008 portfolio and holding 
everything else constant, that our 2009 consolidated net 
earnings would decline by $0.1 billion.

It is our policy to minimize currency exposures and to conduct 
operations either within functional currencies or using the 
protection of hedge strategies. We analyzed year-end 2008 
consolidated currency exposures, including derivatives desig-
nated and effective as hedges, to identify assets and liabilities 
denominated in other than their relevant functional currencies.
For such assets and liabilities, we then evaluated the effects 
of a 10% shift in exchange rates between those currencies 
and the U.S. dollar. This analysis indicated that there would 
be an inconsequential effect on 2009 earnings of such a shift 
in exchange rates.

We maintain securitization capability in most of the asset 
classes we have traditionally securitized. However, these capabili-
ties have been, and continue to be, more limited than in 2007.
We have continued to execute new securitizations utilizing bank 
commercial paper conduits. Securitization proceeds were 
$17.8 billion and $76.8 billion during the three months and the 
year ended December 31, 2008, respectively. Comparable amounts 
were $23.4 billion and $84.4 billion, for the three months and 
the year ended December 31, 2007, respectively.

We have successfully grown our alternative funding to 
$54 billion at December 31, 2008, including $36 billion of bank 
deposits. Deposits increased by $24.8 billion since January 1, 2008.
We have deposit-taking capability at nine banks outside of the 
U.S. and two banks in the U.S. — GE Money Bank Inc., a Federal 
Savings Bank (FSB), and GE Capital Financial Inc., an industrial 
bank (IB). The FSB and IB currently issue certificates of deposits 
(CDs) distributed by brokers in maturity terms from three 
months to ten years. Total outstanding CDs at these two banks 
at December 31, 2008, were $24.5 billion. We expect deposits to 
continue to grow and constitute a greater percentage of our 
total funding in the future.

In the event we cannot sufficiently access our normal sources 
of funding, we have a number of alternative sources of liquidity 
available, including cash balances and collections, marketable 
securities and credit lines. In the event these sources are not 
sufficient to repay commercial paper and term debt as it becomes 
due or to meet our other liquidity needs, we can access the 
CPFF and the TLGP and/or seek other sources of funding.

Our cash and equivalents were $48.2 billion at December 31,
2008. We anticipate that we will continue to generate cash from 
operating activities in the future, which is available to help meet 
our liquidity needs. We also generate substantial cash from the 
principal collections of loans and rentals from leased assets, which 
historically has been invested in asset growth. At GECS, we are 
managing collections versus originations to help support liquidity 
needs and are estimating $25 billion of excess collections in 2009.

Committed, unused credit lines totaling $60.0 billion had been 
extended to us by 65 financial institutions at December 31, 2008.
These lines include $37.4 billion of revolving credit agreements 
under which we can borrow funds for periods exceeding one 
year. Additionally, $21.3 billion are 364-day lines that contain a 
term-out feature that allows us to extend borrowings for one year 
from the date of expiration of the lending agreement.
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As discussed in the previous Liquidity and Borrowings section, in 
the fourth quarter of 2008 we took a number of actions to 
strengthen our liquidity, maintain our dividend and maintain the 
highest credit ratings on our borrowing capability. Actions that 
were taken that affected our 2008 shareowners’ equity included:

We raised $12.0 billion from the issuance of 547.8 million shares 
of common stock at an issuance price of $22.25 per share.

We issued 30,000 shares of preferred stock and related 
warrants for $3.0 billion in proceeds.

We suspended our share repurchase program.

As a result of these actions, Other Capital increased by 
$14.3 billion in 2008, compared with increases of $0.6 billion 
and $0.3 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Overview of Our Cash Flow from 2006 through 2008
Consolidated cash and equivalents were $48.2 billion at 
December 31, 2008, an increase of $32.5 billion from 
December 31, 2007. Cash and equivalents amounted to 
$15.7 billion at December 31, 2007, an increase of $1.6 billion 
from December 31, 2006.

We evaluate our cash flow performance by reviewing our 
industrial (non-financial services) businesses and financial services 
businesses separately. Cash from operating activities (CFOA) is the 
principal source of cash generation for our industrial businesses.
The industrial businesses also have liquidity available via the 
public capital markets. Our financial services businesses use a 
variety of financial resources to meet our capital needs. Cash 
for financial services businesses is primarily provided from the 
issuance of term debt and commercial paper in the public and 
private markets, as well as financing receivables collections, 
sales and securitizations.

GE Cash Flow
GE CFOA is a useful measure of performance for our non-finan-
cial businesses and totaled $19.1 billion in 2008, $23.3 billion in 
2007 and $23.8 billion in 2006. Generally, factors that affect our 
earnings — for example, pricing, volume, costs and productivity —
affect CFOA similarly. However, while management of working 
capital, including timing of collections and payments and levels 
of inventory, affects operating results only indirectly, the effect 
of these programs on CFOA can be significant.

Our GE Statement of Cash Flows shows CFOA in the required 
format. While that display is of some use in analyzing how various 
assets and liabilities affected our year-end cash positions, we 
believe that it is also useful to supplement that display and to 
examine in a broader context the business activities that provide 
and require cash.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareowners’ Equity
Shareowners’ equity decreased by $10.9 billion in 2008, compared 
with increases of $4.1 billion and $2.9 billion in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.

Over the three-year period, net earnings increased equity by 
$17.4 billion, $22.2 billion and $20.7 billion, partially offset by 
dividends declared of $12.6 billion, $11.7 billion and $10.7 billion
in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Elements of Other Comprehensive Income reduced share-
owners’ equity by $30.2 billion in 2008, compared with increases 
of $5.1 billion and $0.1 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively, 
inclusive of changes in accounting principles. The components 
of these changes are as follows: 

Changes in benefit plans reduced shareowners’ equity by 
$13.3 billion in 2008, reflecting declines in the fair value of 
plan assets as a result of market conditions and adverse 
changes in the economic environment. This compared with 
increases of $2.6 billion and $0.3 billion in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. In addition, adoption of SFAS 158, Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans, at December 31, 2006, reduced shareowners’ equity 
by $3.8 billion. Further information about changes in benefit 
plans is provided in Note 6.

Currency translation adjustments decreased shareowners’ 
equity by $11.0 billion in 2008 and increased equity by 
$4.5 billion and $3.6 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Changes in currency translation adjustments reflect the effects 
of changes in currency exchange rates on our net investment 
in non-U.S. subsidiaries that have functional currencies other 
than the U.S. dollar. At the end of 2008, the U.S. dollar was 
stronger against most major currencies, including the pound 
sterling, the Australian dollar and the euro, compared with a 
weaker dollar against those currencies at the end of 2007 
and 2006. The dollar was weaker against the Japanese yen in 
2008 and 2007.

Net unrealized losses on investment securities reduced share-
owners’ equity by $3.2 billion in 2008, reflecting adverse 
market conditions on the fair value of securities classified as 
available for sale, primarily corporate debt and mortgage-
backed securities. The change in fair value of investment 
securities decreased shareowners’ equity by $1.5 billion and 
$0.2 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Further information 
about investment securities is provided in Note 9.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash 
flow hedges decreased shareowners’ equity by $2.7 billion in 
2008, primarily reflecting the effect of lower interest rates on 
interest rate and currency swaps. The change in the fair value 
of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges decreased equity 
by $0.5 billion in 2007 and increased equity by $0.2 billion in 
2006. Further information about the fair value of derivatives 
is provided in Note 29.
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GECS Cash Flow
GECS cash and equivalents aggregated $37.5 billion at 
December 31, 2008, compared with $9.4 billion at December 31,
2007. GECS CFOA totaled $31.2 billion in 2008, compared with 
$25.0 billion in 2007. The increase is primarily the result of 
increased collections of interest from loans and finance leases 
and rental income from operating leases, resulting primarily 
from core growth and currency exchange; and increases in cash 
collateral received from counterparties on derivative contracts.
These increases were partially offset by increases in interest 
payments resulting from increased borrowings and taxes paid.

GECS principal use of cash has been investing in assets to 
grow its businesses. Of the $28.6 billion that GECS invested 
during 2008, $17.4 billion was used for additions to financing 
receivables; $13.3 billion was used to invest in new equipment, 
principally for lease to others; and $25.0 billion was used for 
acquisitions of new businesses, the largest of which were 
Merrill Lynch Capital, CitiCapital and Bank BPH in 2008. This use 
of cash was partially offset by proceeds from dispositions of 
property, plant and equipment of $11.0 billion and proceeds 
from sales of discontinued operations and principal businesses 
of $10.1 billion.

GECS paid dividends to GE through a distribution of its 
retained earnings, including special dividends from proceeds of 
certain business sales. Dividends paid to GE totaled $2.4 billion in 
2008, compared with $7.3 billion in 2007. There were no special 
dividends paid to GE in 2008, compared with $2.4 billion in 2007.
During 2008, GECS borrowings with maturities of 90 days or less 
decreased by $31.3 billion. New borrowings of $122.5 billion
having maturities longer than 90 days were added during 2008, 
while $67.1 billion of such long-term borrowings were retired.

Intercompany Eliminations
Effects of transactions between related companies are eliminated 
and consist primarily of GECS dividends to GE; GE customer 
receivables sold to GECS; GECS services for trade receivables 
management and material procurement; buildings and equipment 
(including automobiles) leased by GE from GECS; information 
technology (IT) and other services sold to GECS by GE; aircraft 
engines manufactured by GE that are installed on aircraft pur-
chased by GECS from third-party producers for lease to others; 
medical equipment manufactured by GE that is leased by GECS 
to others; and various investments, loans and allocations of GE 
corporate overhead costs. See Note 26 for further information 
related to intercompany eliminations.

The lack of a current-year counterpart to last year’s $2.4 billion 
GECS special dividend and a $2.5 billion decrease in GECS ordinary 
dividend are the primary reasons for the decrease in the amount 
of intercompany eliminations referred to above.

December 31 (In billions)  2008 2007 2006

Operating cash collections   $115.5 $102.8 $ 90.6
Operating cash payments   (98.8) (86.8) (76.6)
Cash dividends from GECS   2.4 7.3 9.8

GE cash from operating 
activities (GE CFOA)   $ 19.1 $ 23.3 $ 23.8

The most significant source of cash in CFOA is customer-related 
activities, the largest of which is collecting cash following a product 
or services sale. GE operating cash collections increased by 
$12.7 billion in 2008 and $12.2 billion in 2007. These increases 
are consistent with the changes in comparable GE operating 
segment revenues, comprising Energy Infrastructure, Technology 
Infrastructure, NBC Universal and Consumer & Industrial. Analyses 
of operating segment revenues discussed in the preceding 
Segment Operations section is the best way of understanding 
their customer-related CFOA.

The most significant operating use of cash is to pay our sup-
pliers, employees, tax authorities and others for the wide range of 
materials and services necessary in a diversified global organiza-
tion. GE operating cash payments increased by $12.0 billion in 
2008 and by $10.2 billion in 2007, comparable to the increases in 
GE total costs and expenses.

Dividends from GECS represented distribution of a portion of 
GECS retained earnings, including special dividends from proceeds 
from certain business sales, and are distinct from cash from 
continuing operating activities within the financial services busi-
nesses, which increased in 2008 by $6.2 billion to $31.2 billion,
following an increase of $3.4 billion in 2007. The amounts we show 
in GE CFOA are the total dividends, including normal dividends 
as well as any special dividends from excess capital, primarily 
resulting from GECS business sales. Beginning in the third quarter 
of 2008, we reduced our dividend from GECS from 40% to 10% 
of GECS earnings.

GE sells customer receivables to GECS in part to fund the 
growth of our industrial businesses. These transactions can result 
in cash generation or cash use in any given period. The incremental 
cash generated or used from the sale of customer receivables 
(net effect) is the amount of cash received for receivables sold 
in a period less the amount of cash collected on receivables 
previously sold. This net effect represents the cash generated or 
used in the period related to this activity. The incremental cash 
generated in GE CFOA from selling these receivables to GECS 
decreased GE CFOA by $0.1 billion in 2008, and increased GE CFOA 
by $0.3 billion and $2.0 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively.
See Note 26 for additional information about the elimination of 
intercompany transactions between GE and GECS.
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from 2007, and includes our investment in the unconsolidated 
VIEs and our contractual obligations to fund new investments by 
these entities.

QSPEs that we use for securitization are funded with asset-
backed commercial paper and term debt. The assets we securitize 
include receivables secured by equipment, commercial real estate, 
credit card receivables, floorplan inventory receivables, GE trade 
receivables and other assets originated and underwritten by us 
in the ordinary course of business. At December 31, 2008, off-
balance sheet securitization entities held $52.6 billion in transferred 
financial assets, down $3.6 billion from year-end 2007. Assets held 
by these entities are of equivalent credit quality to our on-book 
assets. We monitor the underlying credit quality in accordance 
with our role as servicer and apply rigorous controls to the exe-
cution of securitization transactions. With the exception of credit 
and liquidity support discussed below, investors in these entities 
have recourse only to the underlying assets.

At December 31, 2008, our Statement of Financial Position 
included $10.4 billion in retained interests related to the trans-
ferred financial assets discussed above. These retained interests 
are held by QSPEs and VIEs for which we are not the primary 
beneficiary and take two forms: (1) sellers’ interests, which are 
classified as financing receivables, and (2) subordinated interests, 
designed to provide credit enhancement to senior interests, 
which are classified as investment securities. The carrying value 
of our retained interests classified as financing receivables was 
$4.1 billion at December 31, 2008, down $0.1 billion from 2007.
The carrying value of our retained interests classified as investment 
securities was $6.3 billion at December 31, 2008, up $0.6 billion
from 2007. Certain of these retained interests are accounted for 
with changes in fair value recorded in earnings. During both 2008 
and 2007, we recognized declines in fair value on those retained 
interests of $0.1 billion. For those retained interests classified 
as investment securities, we recognized other-than-temporary 
impairments of $0.3 billion in 2008, compared with $0.1 billion
in 2007. Our recourse liability in these arrangements was an 
inconsequential amount in both 2008 and 2007.

We are party to various credit enhancement positions with 
securitization entities, including liquidity and credit support 
agreements and guarantee and reimbursement contracts, and 
have provided our best estimate of the fair value of estimated 
losses on such positions. The estimate of fair value is based on 
prevailing market conditions at December 31, 2008. Should market 
conditions deteriorate, actual losses could be higher. Our expo-
sure to loss under such agreements was limited to $2.1 billion at 
December 31, 2008. Based on our experience, we believe that, 
under any plausible future economic scenario, the likelihood is 
remote that the financial support arrangement we provide to 
securitization entities could have a material adverse effect on 
our financial position or results of operations.

We did not provide support to consolidated VIEs, unconsoli-
dated VIEs or QSPEs beyond what we are contractually obligated 
to provide in either 2008 or 2007. We do not have implicit sup-
port arrangements with any VIEs or QSPEs.

Contractual Obligations
As defined by reporting regulations, our contractual obligations 
for future payments as of December 31, 2008, follow.

Payments due by period

      2010 – 2012 – 2014 and
(In billions) Total 2009 2011 2013 thereafter

Borrowings (Note 18) $523.8 $193.7 $115.6 $79.8 $134.7
Interest on borrowings 142.0 20.0 29.0 18.0 75.0
Operating lease 

obligations (Note 5) 6.6 1.3 2.2 1.6 1.5
Purchase obligations (a) (b) 63.0 40.0 16.0 6.0 1.0
Insurance liabilities 

(Note 19) (c) 22.0 3.0 5.0 3.0 11.0
Other liabilities (d) 97.0 33.0 8.0 4.0 52.0
Contractual obligations of 

discontinued operations (e) 1.0 1.0 — — —

(a) Included all take-or-pay arrangements, capital expenditures, contractual commit-
ments to purchase equipment that will be leased to others, software acquisition/
license commitments, contractual minimum programming commitments and any 
contractually required cash payments for acquisitions.

(b) Excluded funding commitments entered into in the ordinary course of business by 
our financial services businesses. Further information on these commitments and 
other guarantees is provided in Note 31.

(c) Included guaranteed investment contracts, structured settlements and single 
premium immediate annuities based on scheduled payouts, as well as those 
contracts with reasonably determinable cash flows such as deferred annuities, 
universal life, term life, long-term care, whole life and other life insurance contracts.

(d) Included an estimate of future expected funding requirements related to our 
pension and postretirement benefit plans and included liabilities for unrecognized 
tax benefits. Because their future cash outflows are uncertain, the following non-
current liabilities are excluded from the table above: deferred taxes, derivatives, 
deferred revenue and other sundry items. See Notes 21 and 29 for further infor-
mation on certain of these items.

(e) Included payments for other liabilities.

Variable Interest Entities and Off-Balance Sheet 
Arrangements
We securitize financial assets and arrange other forms of asset-
backed financing in the ordinary course of business to improve 
shareowner returns and as an alternative source of funding.
The securitization transactions we engage in are similar to those 
used by many financial institutions. Beyond improving returns, 
these securitization transactions serve as funding sources for a 
variety of diversified lending and securities transactions.

Our securitization activities are conducted using Variable 
Interest Entities (VIEs), principally QSPEs. Certain of our VIEs are 
consolidated because we are considered to be the primary 
beneficiary of the entity. Our interests in other VIEs, including 
QSPEs and VIEs for which we are not the primary beneficiary, 
are accounted for as investment securities, financing receivables 
or equity method investments depending on the nature of our 
involvement. At December 31, 2008, consolidated variable interest 
entity assets and liabilities were $26.6 billion and $21.3 billion,
respectively, a decrease of $5.8 billion and $3.1 billion from 2007, 
respectively. At December 31, 2008, variable interests in uncon-
solidated VIEs other than QSPEs were $2.9 billion, an increase of 
$1.2 billion from 2007. Our maximum exposure to loss related to 
such entities at December 31, 2008, was $4.0 billion, up $1.5 billion 
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Qualitative measures include:

Franchise strength, including competitive advantage and 
market conditions and position

Strength of management, including experience, corporate 
governance and strategic thinking

Financial reporting quality, including clarity, completeness 
and transparency of all financial performance 
communications

GE Capital’s ratings are supported contractually by a GE commit-
ment to maintain the ratio of earnings to fixed charges at a 
specified level as described below.

Beyond contractually committed lending agreements, other 
sources of liquidity include medium and long-term funding, 
monetization, asset securitization, cash receipts from our lending 
and leasing activities, short-term secured funding on global 
assets and potential sales of other assets.

PRINCIPAL DEBT CONDITIONS are described below.

The following conditions relate to GE and GECS:

Swap, forward and option contracts are required to be executed 
under standard master agreements containing mutual down-
grade provisions that provide the ability of the counterparty 
to require assignment or termination if the long-term credit 
rating of the applicable GE entity were to fall below A–/A3. In 
certain of these master netting agreements, the counterparty 
also has the ability to require assignment or termination if the 
short-term rating of the applicable GE entity were to fall below 
A–1/P–1. The fair value of our exposure after consideration of 
netting arrangements and collateral under the agreements 
was estimated to be $4.0 billion at December 31, 2008.

If GE Capital’s ratio of earnings to fixed charges, which was 
1.24:1 at the end of 2008, were to deteriorate to 1.10:1, GE 
has committed to contribute capital to GE Capital. GE also 
guaranteed certain issuances of GECS subordinated debt 
having a face amount of $0.8 billion at December 31, 2008 
and 2007.

In connection with certain subordinated debentures for which 
GECC receives equity credit by rating agencies, GE has agreed 
to promptly return to GECC dividends, distributions or other 
payments it receives from GECC during events of default or 
interest deferral periods under such subordinated debentures.
There were $7.3 billion of such debentures outstanding at 
December 31, 2008.

The FASB currently has a project on its agenda that reconsiders 
the accounting for VIEs and securitization. While final guidance 
has not yet been issued, it is likely that the Board will eliminate 
the scope exclusion in FASB Interpretation (FIN) 46(R) related to 
QSPEs, which would result in consolidation of a majority of the 
QSPEs we use for securitization. In addition, proposed changes 
in the criteria for derecognition of financial assets will signifi-
cantly reduce the number of securitizations that qualify for off-
balance sheet treatment and gain recognition. A revised standard 
is expected to be issued later in 2009 and could be effective for 
our 2010 financial statements. Further information about our 
securitization activity and our involvement with QSPEs is provided 
in Note 30.

Debt Instruments, Guarantees and Covenants
The major debt rating agencies routinely evaluate our debt. This 
evaluation is based on a number of factors, which include finan-
cial strength as well as transparency with rating agencies and 
timeliness of financial reporting. In December 2008, Standard & 
Poor’s Ratings Services affirmed our and GE Capital’s “AAA” long-
term and “A–1+” short-term corporate credit ratings but revised 
its ratings outlook from stable to negative based partly on the 
concerns regarding GE Capital’s future performance and funding 
in light of capital market turmoil. On January 24, 2009, Moody’s 
Investment Services placed the long-term ratings of GE and 
GE Capital on review for possible downgrade. The firm’s “Prime-1” 
short-term ratings were affirmed. Moody’s said the review for 
downgrade is based primarily upon heightened uncertainty regard-
ing GE Capital’s asset quality and earnings performance in future 
periods. Various debt instruments, guarantees and covenants 
would require posting additional capital or collateral in the event 
of a ratings downgrade, but none are triggered if our ratings are 
reduced to AA–/Aa3 or A–1+/P–1 or higher. Our objective is to 
maintain our Triple-A rating, but we do not anticipate any major 
operational impacts should that change.

GE, GECS and GE Capital have distinct business characteristics 
that the major debt rating agencies evaluate both quantitatively 
and qualitatively.

Quantitative measures include:

Earnings and profitability, revenue growth, the breadth and 
diversity of sources of income and return on assets

Asset quality, including delinquency and write-off ratios and 
reserve coverage

Funding and liquidity, including cash generated from operating 
activities, leverage ratios such as debt-to-capital, retained cash 
flow to debt, market access, back-up liquidity from banks and 
other sources, composition of total debt and interest coverage

Capital adequacy, including required capital and tangible 
leverage ratios
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Critical Accounting Estimates 
Accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section 
are those that we consider to be the most critical to an under-
standing of our financial statements because they inherently 
involve significant judgments and uncertainties. All of these 
estimates reflect our best judgment about the current, and for 
some estimates future, economic and market conditions and 
their effects based on information available as of the date of 
these financial statements. If such conditions persist longer or 
deteriorate further than expected, it is reasonably possible that 
the judgments and estimates described below could change, 
which may result in future impairments of investment securities, 
goodwill, intangibles and long-lived assets, incremental losses 
on financing receivables, establishment of valuation allowances 
on deferred tax assets and increased tax liabilities, among other 
effects. Also see Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, which discusses the significant accounting policies that 
we have selected from acceptable alternatives.

LOSSES ON FINANCING RECEIVABLES are recognized when they 
are incurred, which requires us to make our best estimate of 
probable losses inherent in the portfolio. Such estimate requires 
consideration of historical loss experience, adjusted for current 
conditions, and judgments about the probable effects of relevant 
observable data, including present economic conditions such as 
delinquency rates, financial health of specific customers and 
market sectors, collateral values, and the present and expected 
future levels of interest rates. Our risk management process 
includes standards and policies for reviewing major risk expo-
sures and concentrations, and evaluates relevant data either for 
individual loans or financing leases, or on a portfolio basis, as 
appropriate.

Further information is provided in the Global Risk Management 
section and Financial Resources and Liquidity — Financing 
Receivables section, the Asset impairment section that follows and 
in Notes 1, 12 and 13.

REVENUE RECOGNITION ON LONG-TERM PRODUCT SERVICES

AGREEMENTS requires estimates of profits over the multiple-year 
terms of such agreements, considering factors such as the fre-
quency and extent of future monitoring, maintenance and over-
haul events; the amount of personnel, spare parts and other 
resources required to perform the services; and future billing rate 
and cost changes. We routinely review estimates under product 
services agreements and regularly revise them to adjust for 
changes in outlook. We also regularly assess customer credit risk 
inherent in the carrying amounts of receivables and contract 
costs and estimated earnings, including the risk that contractual 
penalties may not be sufficient to offset our accumulated invest-
ment in the event of customer termination. We gain insight into 
future utilization and cost trends, as well as credit risk, through 
our knowledge of the installed base of equipment and the close 
interaction with our customers that comes with supplying critical 
services and parts over extended periods. Revisions that affect a 
product services agreement’s total estimated profitability result in 

The following conditions relate to consolidated entities:

If the short-term credit rating of GE Capital or certain consoli-
dated entities discussed further in Note 30 were to be reduced 
below A–1/P–1, GE Capital would be required to provide sub-
stitute liquidity for those entities or provide funds to retire the 
outstanding commercial paper. The maximum net amount 
that GE Capital would be required to provide in the event of 
such a downgrade is determined by contract, and amounted 
to $3.8 billion at December 31, 2008.

One group of consolidated entities holds investment securities 
funded by the issuance of GICs. If the long-term credit rating 
of GE Capital were to fall below AA–/Aa3 or its short-term 
credit rating were to fall below A–1+/P–1, GE Capital would 
be required to provide approximately $3.5 billion of capital to 
such entities as of December 31, 2008, pursuant to letters of 
credit issued by GECC. To the extent that the entities’ liabilities 
exceed the ultimate value of the proceeds from the sale of 
their assets and the amount drawn under the letters of credit, 
GE Capital could be required to provide such excess amount.
As of December 31, 2008, the value of these entities’ liabilities 
was $10.7 billion and the fair value of their assets was 
$9.2 billion (which included unrealized losses on investment 
securities of $2.1 billion). With respect to these investment 
securities, we intend to hold them at least until such time as 
their individual fair values exceed their amortized cost and 
we have the ability to hold all such debt securities until 
maturity.

Another consolidated entity also issues GICs where proceeds 
are loaned to GE Capital. If the long-term credit rating of 
GE Capital were to fall below AA–/Aa3 or its short-term credit 
rating were to fall below A–1+/P–1, GE Capital could be required 
to provide up to approximately $4.7 billion as of December 31, 
2008 to repay holders of GICs.

In our history, we have never violated any of the above conditions 
at GE, GECS or GE Capital.

On November 12, 2008, the FDIC approved GE Capital’s appli-
cation for designation as an eligible entity under the FDIC’s TLGP.
Qualifying debt issued by GE Capital is guaranteed under the Debt 
Guarantee Program of the FDIC’s TLGP and is backed by the full 
faith and credit of the United States. The FDIC’s guarantee under 
the TLGP is effective until the earlier of the maturity of the debt 
or June 30, 2012. The maximum amount of debt that GE Capital 
is permitted to have issued and outstanding under the Debt 
Guarantee Program at any time is approximately $126 billion.
At December 31, 2008, GE Capital had issued and outstanding, 
$35.2 billion of senior, unsecured debt that was guaranteed by the 
FDIC. GE Capital and GE entered into an Eligible Entity Designation 
Agreement and GE Capital is subject to the terms of a Master 
Agreement, each entered into with the FDIC. The terms of these 
agreements include, among other things, a requirement that GE 
and GE Capital reimburse the FDIC for any amounts that the 
FDIC pays to holders of debt that is guaranteed by the FDIC.
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received routinely from independent appraisers. Estimated cash 
flows from future leases are reduced for expected downtime 
between leases and for estimated technical costs required to 
prepare aircraft to be redeployed. Fair value used to measure 
impairment is based on current market values from independent 
appraisers.

We recognized impairment losses on our operating lease 
portfolio of commercial aircraft of $0.1 billion in both 2008 and 
2007. Provisions for losses on financing receivables related to 
commercial aircraft were insignificant in 2008 and 2007.

Further information on impairment losses and our exposure 
to the commercial aviation industry is provided in the Operations —
Overview section and in Notes 14 and 31.

Real Estate. We review our real estate investment portfolio for 
impairment routinely or when events or circumstances indicate 
that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The 
cash flow estimates used for both estimating value and the recov-
erability analysis are inherently judgmental, and reflect current 
and projected lease profiles, available industry information about 
expected trends in rental, occupancy and capitalization rates and 
expected business plans, which include our estimated holding 
period for the asset. Our portfolio is diversified, both geographi-
cally and by asset type. However, the global real estate market is 
subject to periodic cycles that can cause significant fluctuations 
in market values. At December 31, 2008, the carrying value of our 
Capital Finance Real Estate investments exceeded the estimated 
value by about $4 billion. At December 31, 2007, the estimated 
value exceeded the carrying value by about $3 billion. This decline 
in the estimated value of the portfolio reflected sales of properties 
with a book value of $5.8 billion, resulting in pre-tax gains of 
$1.9 billion, and also reflected deterioration in current and 
expected real estate market liquidity and macroeconomic trends 
throughout the year, resulting in declining market occupancy 
rates and market rents as well as increases in our estimates of 
market capitalization rates based on historical data. Declines in 
estimated value of real estate below carrying value result in 
impairment losses when the aggregate undiscounted cash flow 
estimates used in the estimated value measurement are below 
carrying amount. As such, estimated losses in the portfolio will 
not necessarily result in recognized impairment losses. When we 
recognize an impairment, the impairment is measured based 
upon the fair value of the underlying asset which is based upon 
current market data, including current capitalization rates.
During 2008, Capital Finance Real Estate recognized pre-tax 
impairments of $0.3 billion in its real estate held for investment, 
as compared to $0.2 billion in 2007. Continued deterioration in 
economic conditions or prolonged market illiquidity may result in 
further impairments being recognized. Furthermore, significant 
judgment and uncertainty related to forecasted valuation trends, 
especially in illiquid markets, results in inherent imprecision in 
real estate value estimates. Further information is provided in 
the Global Risk Management section and in Note 16.

an adjustment of earnings; such adjustments decreased earnings 
by $0.2 billion in 2008 and increased earnings by $0.4 billion and 
$0.8 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively. We provide for probable 
losses when they become evident.

Carrying amounts for product services agreements in progress 
at both December 31, 2008 and 2007, were $5.5 billion, and are 
included in the line, “Contract costs and estimated earnings” in 
Note 16.

Further information is provided in Note 1.

ASSET IMPAIRMENT assessment involves various estimates and 
assumptions as follows:

Investments. We regularly review investment securities for 
impairment using both quantitative and qualitative criteria.
Quantitative criteria include the length of time and magnitude of 
the amount that each security is in an unrealized loss position 
and, for securities with fixed maturities, whether the issuer is in 
compliance with terms and covenants of the security. Qualitative 
criteria include the financial health of and specific prospects for 
the issuer, as well as our intent and ability to hold the security 
to maturity or until forecasted recovery. Our other-than-temporary 
impairment reviews involve our finance, risk and asset manage-
ment functions as well as the portfolio management and research 
capabilities of our internal and third-party asset managers.
See Note 28, which discusses the determination of fair value of 
investment securities.

Further information about actual and potential impairment 
losses is provided in the Financial Resources and Liquidity —
Investment Securities section and in Notes 1, 9 and 16.

Long-Lived Assets. We review long-lived assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Determining 
whether an impairment has occurred typically requires various 
estimates and assumptions, including determining which 
undiscounted cash flows are directly related to the potentially 
impaired asset, the useful life over which cash flows will occur, 
their amount, and the asset’s residual value, if any. In turn, 
measurement of an impairment loss requires a determination of 
fair value, which is based on the best information available.
We derive the required undiscounted cash flow estimates from 
our historical experience and our internal business plans. To 
determine fair value, we use our internal cash flow estimates 
discounted at an appropriate interest rate, quoted market prices 
when available and independent appraisals, as appropriate.

Commercial aircraft are a significant concentration of assets in 
Capital Finance, and are particularly subject to market fluctuations.
Therefore, we test recoverability of each aircraft in our operating 
lease portfolio at least annually. Additionally, we perform quarterly 
evaluations in circumstances such as when aircraft are re-leased, 
current lease terms have changed or a specific lessee’s credit 
standing changes. We consider market conditions, such as global 
demand for commercial aircraft. Estimates of future rentals and 
residual values are based on historical experience and information 
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PENSION ASSUMPTIONS are significant inputs to the actuarial 
models that measure pension benefit obligations and related effects 
on operations. Two assumptions — discount rate and expected 
return on assets — are important elements of plan expense and 
asset/liability measurement. We evaluate these critical assump-
tions at least annually on a plan and country-specific basis. We 
periodically evaluate other assumptions involving demographic 
factors, such as retirement age, mortality and turnover, and update 
them to reflect our experience and expectations for the future.
Actual results in any given year will often differ from actuarial 
assumptions because of economic and other factors.

Accumulated and projected benefit obligations are expressed 
as the present value of future cash payments. We discount those 
cash payments using the weighted average of market-observed 
yields for high quality fixed income securities with maturities that 
correspond to the payment of benefits. Lower discount rates 
increase present values and subsequent-year pension expense; 
higher discount rates decrease present values and subsequent-
year pension expense.

Our discount rates for principal pension plans at December 31, 
2008, 2007 and 2006 were 6.11%, 6.34% and 5.75%, respectively, 
reflecting market interest rates.

To determine the expected long-term rate of return on pension 
plan assets, we consider current and expected asset allocations, 
as well as historical and expected returns on various categories 
of plan assets. In developing future return expectations for our 
principal benefit plans’ assets, we evaluate general market trends 
as well as key elements of asset class returns such as expected 
earnings growth, yields and spreads across a number of potential 
scenarios. Assets in our principal pension plans declined 28.2% in 
2008, and had average annual earnings of 3.3%, 4.0% and 10.1%
per year in the five-, 10- and 25-year periods ended December 31, 
2008, respectively. In 2007, assets in our principal pension plans 
earned 13.6% and had average annual earnings of 14.9%, 9.2%
and 12.2% per year in the five-, 10- and 25-year periods ended 
December 31, 2007, respectively. Based on our analysis of future 
expectations of asset performance, past return results, and our 
current and expected asset allocations, we have assumed an 8.5% 
long-term expected return on those assets.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions for our principal pension 
plans follows.

Discount rate—A 25 basis point increase in discount rate would 
decrease pension cost in the following year by $0.2 billion.

Expected return on assets — A 50 basis point decrease in the 
expected return on assets would increase pension cost in the 
following year by $0.3 billion.

Further information on our pension plans is provided in the 
Operations — Overview section and in Note 6.

Goodwill and Other Identified Intangible Assets. We test goodwill 
for impairment annually and whenever events or circumstances 
make it more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting 
unit has fallen below its carrying amount, such as a significant 
adverse change in the business climate or a decision to sell or 
dispose all or a portion of a reporting unit. Determining whether 
an impairment has occurred requires valuation of the respective 
reporting unit, which we estimate using a discounted cash flow 
method. For financial services reporting units, these cash flows 
are reduced for estimated interest costs. Also, when determining 
the amount of goodwill to be allocated to a business disposition 
for a financial services business, we reduce the cash proceeds we 
receive from the sale by the amount of debt which is allocated 
to the sold business in order to be consistent with the reporting 
unit valuation methodology. When available and as appropriate, 
we use comparative market multiples to corroborate discounted 
cash flow results. In applying this methodology, we rely on a 
number of factors, including actual operating results, future 
business plans, economic projections and market data.

If this analysis indicates goodwill is impaired, measuring the 
impairment requires a fair value estimate of each identified tan-
gible and intangible asset. In this case, we supplement the cash 
flow approach discussed above with independent appraisals, as 
appropriate.

Given the significant changes in the business climate for 
financial services and our stated strategy to reduce our Capital 
Finance ending net investment, we re-tested goodwill for impair-
ment at the reporting units within Capital Finance during the 
fourth quarter of 2008. In performing this analysis, we revised our 
estimated future cash flows and discount rates, as appropriate, 
to reflect current market conditions in the financial services 
industry. In each case, no impairment was indicated. Reporting 
units within Capital Finance are CLL, GE Money, Real Estate, Energy 
Financial Services and GECAS, which had goodwill balances at 
December 31, 2008, of $12.8 billion, $9.1 billion, $1.2 billion, 
$2.2 billion and $0.2 billion, respectively.

We review identified intangible assets with defined useful 
lives and subject to amortization for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. Determining whether an impair-
ment loss occurred requires comparing the carrying amount to 
the sum of undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by 
the asset. We test intangible assets with indefinite lives annually 
for impairment using a fair value method such as discounted 
cash flows. For our insurance activities remaining in continuing 
operations, we periodically test for impairment our deferred 
acquisition costs and present value of future profits.

Further information is provided in the Financial Resources 
and Liquidity — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets section and 
in Notes 1 and 15.
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In evaluating whether a particular relationship qualifies for 
hedge accounting, we test effectiveness at inception and each 
reporting period thereafter by determining whether changes in 
the fair value of the derivative offset, within a specified range, 
changes in the fair value of the hedged item. If fair value 
changes fail this test, we discontinue applying hedge accounting 
to that relationship prospectively. Fair values of both the deriva-
tive instrument and the hedged item are calculated using inter-
nal valuation models incorporating market-based assumptions, 
subject to third-party confirmation.

At December 31, 2008, derivative assets and liabilities were 
$12.6 billion and $5.2 billion, respectively. Further information 
about our use of derivatives is provided in Notes 18, 23 and 29.

INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE IN EARNINGS include 
retained interests in securitizations accounted for under SFAS 155, 
Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments, and equity 
investments of $2.6 billion at year-end 2008. The earnings effects 
of changes in fair value on these assets, favorable and unfavorable, 
will be reflected in the period in which those changes occur. As 
discussed in Note 17, we have businesses that are held for sale 
valued at $2.7 billion at year-end 2008, which represents the 
estimated fair value less costs to sell. Those sales are expected 
to close in the first quarter of 2009. As discussed in Note 16, we 
also have assets that are classified as held for sale in the ordinary 
course of business, primarily credit card receivables, loans and 
real estate properties, carried at $5.0 billion at year-end 2008, 
which represents the lower of carrying amount or estimated fair 
value less costs to sell. To the extent that the estimated fair value 
less costs to sell is lower than carrying value, any favorable or 
unfavorable changes in fair value will be reflected in earnings in 
the period in which such changes occur.

OTHER LOSS CONTINGENCIES are recorded as liabilities when it is 
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the 
loss is reasonably estimable. Disclosure is required when there is 
a reasonable possibility that the ultimate loss will materially 
exceed the recorded provision. Contingent liabilities are often 
resolved over long time periods. Estimating probable losses 
requires analysis of multiple forecasts that often depend on 
judgments about potential actions by third parties such as 
regulators.

Further information is provided in Notes 20 and 31.

INCOME TAXES. Our annual tax rate is based on our income, 
statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us 
in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax laws are 
complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer 
and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judg-
ment is required in determining our tax expense and in evaluating 
our tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties under FIN 48, 
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. We review our tax 
positions quarterly and adjust the balances as new information 
becomes available. Our income tax rate is significantly affected 
by the tax rate on our global operations. In addition to local 
country tax laws and regulations, this rate depends on the extent 
earnings are indefinitely reinvested outside the United States.
Indefinite reinvestment is determined by management’s judgment 
about and intentions concerning the future operations of the 
company. Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available 
to reduce income taxes payable on taxable income in future years.
Such assets arise because of temporary differences between the 
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well 
as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. We eval-
uate the recoverability of these future tax deductions and credits 
by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from 
all sources, including reversal of taxable temporary differences, 
forecasted operating earnings and available tax planning strategies.
These sources of income inherently rely heavily on estimates.
We use our historical experience and our short and long-range 
business forecasts to provide insight. Further, our global and 
diversified business portfolio gives us the opportunity to employ 
various prudent and feasible tax planning strategies to facilitate 
the recoverability of future deductions. Amounts recorded for 
deferred tax assets related to non-U.S. net operating losses, net 
of valuation allowances, were $1.8 billion and $1.7 billion at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Such year-end 2008 
amounts are expected to be fully recoverable within the applicable 
statutory expiration periods. To the extent we do not consider it 
more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, 
a valuation allowance is established.

Further information on income taxes is provided in the 
Operations — Overview section and in Notes 7 and 21.

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING. We use derivatives to manage a vari-
ety of risks, including risks related to interest rates, foreign 
exchange and commodity prices. Accounting for derivatives as 
hedges requires that, at inception and over the term of the 
arrangement, the hedged item and related derivative meet the 
requirements for hedge accounting. The rules and interpreta-
tions related to derivatives accounting are complex. Failure to 
apply this complex guidance correctly will result in all changes in 
the fair value of the derivative being reported in earnings, with-
out regard to the offsetting changes in the fair value of the 
hedged item.
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financial statements. After adoption, noncontrolling interests 
($8.9 billion and $8.0 billion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively) will be classified as shareowners’ equity, a change 
from its current classification between liabilities and shareowners’ 
equity. Earnings attributable to minority interests ($0.6 billion in 
2008 and $0.9 billion in both 2007 and 2006) will be included 
in net earnings, although such earnings will continue to be 
deducted to measure earnings per share. Purchases and sales of 
minority interests will be reported in equity similar to treasury 
stock transactions. Gains on sales of minority interests that would 
not have been reported in net earnings under SFAS 160 amounted 
to $0.4 billion and $0.9 billion in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

On December 12, 2007, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues 
Task Force (EITF) Issue 07-1, Accounting for Collaborative 
Arrangements. The consensus provides guidance on presentation 
of the financial results of a collaborative arrangement, including 
payments between the parties. The consensus requires us to 
present the results of the collaborative arrangement in accordance 
with EITF Issue 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal 
versus Net as an Agent, and, in the absence of applicable author-
itative literature, to adopt an accounting policy for payments 
between the participants that will be consistently applied. The 
consensus is applied retrospectively to all collaborative arrange-
ments existing as of January 1, 2009, and covers arrangements 
in several of our businesses. Adoption of this standard will not 
affect our earnings, cash flows or financial position.

Research and Development
GE-funded research and development expenditures were $3.0 bil-
lion in both 2008 and 2007, and $2.8 billion in 2006. In addition, 
research and development funding from customers, principally the 
U.S. government, totaled $1.3 billion, $1.1 billion and $0.7 billion in 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Technology Infrastructure’s 
Aviation business accounts for the largest share of GE’s research 
and development expenditures with funding from both GE and 
customer funds. Technology Infrastructure’s Healthcare business 
and Energy Infrastructure’s Energy business also made significant 
expenditures funded primarily by GE.

Expenditures reported above reflect the definition of research 
and development required by U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. For operating and management purposes, we consider 
amounts spent on product and services technology to include 
our reported research and development expenditures, but also 
amounts for improving our existing products and services, and 
the productivity of our plant, equipment and processes. On this 
basis, our technology expenditures in 2008 were $5.3 billion.

Orders Backlog
GE’s total backlog of firm unfilled orders at the end of 2008 was 
$70.5 billion, an increase of 7% from year-end 2007, reflecting 
increased demand at Energy Infrastructure and Technology 
Infrastructure. Of the total backlog, $51.8 billion related to prod-
ucts, of which 60% was scheduled for delivery in 2009. Product 
services orders, included in this reported backlog for only the 
succeeding 12 months, were $18.7 billion at the end of 2008.
Orders constituting this backlog may be cancelled or deferred 
by customers, subject in certain cases to penalties. See the 
Segment Operations section for further information.

Other Information

New Accounting Standards
On September 15, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value 
Measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a new frame-
work for measuring that value and expands disclosures about 
fair value measurements. The standard applied prospectively to 
new fair value measurements performed after January 1, 2008, 
for measurements of the fair values of financial instruments and 
recurring fair value measurements of non-financial assets and 
liabilities; on January 1, 2009, the standard applies to all remaining 
fair value measurements, including non-recurring valuations of 
non-financial assets and liabilities such as those used in measur-
ing impairments of goodwill, other intangible assets and other 
long-lived assets. It also applies to fair value measurements of 
non-financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business 
combinations consummated after January 1, 2009.

On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), Business
Combinations, which is effective for us on January 1, 2009. This 
standard will significantly change the accounting for business 
acquisitions both during the period of the acquisition and in sub-
sequent periods. Among the more significant changes in the 
accounting for acquisitions are the following:

In-process research and development (IPR&D) will be accounted 
for as an asset, with the cost recognized as the research and 
development is realized or abandoned. IPR&D is presently 
expensed at the time of the acquisition.

Contingent consideration will generally be recorded at fair 
value with subsequent adjustments recognized in operations.
Contingent consideration is presently accounted for as an 
adjustment of purchase price.

Decreases in valuation allowances on acquired deferred 
tax assets will be recognized in operations. Such changes 
previously were considered to be subsequent changes in 
consideration and were recorded as decreases in goodwill.

Transaction costs will generally be expensed. Certain such 
costs are presently treated as costs of the acquisition.

Generally, the effects of SFAS 141(R) will depend on future acquisi-
tions. In the fourth quarter of 2008, we expensed an insignificant 
amount of direct costs related to business combinations that were 
in process, but not completed by the effective date of SFAS 141(R).
In December 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 
FAS 141(R)-a, Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities 
Assumed in a Business Combination That Arise from Contingencies,
a proposed FSP which would amend the accounting in SFAS 141(R) 
for assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business 
combination. The proposed FSP would require that pre-acquisition 
contingencies be recognized at fair value, if fair value can be rea-
sonably determined. If fair value cannot be reasonably determined, 
the proposed FSP requires measurement based on the best esti-
mate in accordance with SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies.

Also on December 4, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, 
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an 
amendment of ARB No. 51, which is effective for us on January 1, 
2009. This standard will significantly change the accounting and 
reporting related to noncontrolling interests in our consolidated 
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Selected Financial Data.
The following table provides key information for Consolidated, GE and GECS.

(Dollars in millions; per-share amounts in dollars)  2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

Revenues      $182,515 $172,488 $151,568 $136,262 $123,814
Earnings from continuing operations    18,089 22,457 19,344 17,279 15,591
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes  (679) (249) 1,398 (559) 1,631
Net earnings       17,410 22,208 20,742 16,720 17,222
Dividends declared (a)      12,649 11,713 10,675 9,647 8,594
Return on average shareowners’ equity (b)    15.9% 20.4% 19.8% 18.1% 18.8%
Per common share

  Earnings from continuing operations — diluted   $   1.78 $   2.20 $   1.86 $   1.63 $   1.49
  Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — diluted   (0.07) (0.02) 0.13 (0.05) 0.16
  Net earnings — diluted      1.72 2.17 2.00 1.57 1.65
  Earnings from continuing operations — basic    1.79 2.21 1.87 1.63 1.50
  Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — basic   (0.07) (0.02) 0.14 (0.05) 0.16
  Net earnings — basic      1.72 2.18 2.00 1.58 1.66
  Dividends declared      1.24 1.15 1.03 0.91 0.82
  Stock price range      38.52–12.58 42.15–33.90 38.49–32.06 37.34–32.67 37.75–28.88
  Year-end closing stock price     16.20 37.07 37.21 35.05 36.50

Cash and equivalents      48,187 15,731 14,086 8,608 11,833
Total assets of continuing operations    796,046 786,794 674,966 588,821 578,560
Total assets      797,769 795,683 697,273 673,210 750,252
Long-term borrowings      330,067 319,013 260,749 212,167 207,784
Common shares outstanding — average (in thousands)   10,079,923 10,182,083 10,359,320 10,569,805 10,399,629
Common shareowner accounts — average    604,000 608,000 624,000 634,000 658,000
Employees at year end

  United States      152,000 155,000 155,000 161,000 165,000
  Other countries      171,000 172,000 164,000 155,000 142,000

Total employees      323,000 327,000 319,000 316,000 307,000 (c)

GE DATA

Short-term borrowings      $  2,375 $  4,106 $  2,076 $    972 $  3,252
Long-term borrowings      9,827 11,656 9,043 8,986 7,561
Minority interest      6,678 6,503 5,544 5,308 7,236
Shareowners’ equity      104,665 115,559 111,509 108,633 110,181

  Total capital invested      $123,545 $137,824 $128,172 $123,899 $128,230

Return on average total capital invested (b)    14.8% 18.9% 18.5% 16.7% 16.9%
Borrowings as a percentage of total capital invested (b)   9.9% 11.4% 8.7% 8.0% 9.0%
Working capital (b)      $  3,904 $  6,433 $  7,527 $  7,853 $  7,788

GECS DATA

Revenues      $ 71,287 $ 71,936 $ 61,351 $ 54,889 $ 50,320
Earnings from continuing operations    7,774 12,417 10,219 8,929 7,614
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes  (719) (2,116) 439 (1,352) 1,114
Net earnings      7,055 10,301 10,658 7,577 8,728
Shareowner’s equity      53,279 57,676 54,097 50,812 54,379
Total borrowings      514,601 500,922 426,262 362,042 355,463
Ratio of debt to equity at GE Capital    8.76:1 (d) 8.10:1 7.52:1 7.09:1 6.45:1
Total assets      $660,902 $646,485 $565,258 $540,584 $618,614

Transactions between GE and GECS have been eliminated from the consolidated information.

(a) Includes $75 million of preferred stock dividends in 2008.

(b) Indicates terms are defined in the Glossary.

(c) Includes employees of Genworth, which was subsequently deconsolidated in 2005.

(d) 7.07:1 net of cash and equivalents and with classification of hybrid debt as equity.
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Statement of Earnings

General Electric Company
and consolidated affiliates

For the years ended December 31 (In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)  2008 2007 2006

REVENUES

Sales of goods      $ 69,100 $ 60,670 $ 55,181
Sales of services      43,669 38,856 36,329
Other income (Note 3)      1,586 3,019 2,154
GECS earnings from continuing operations    — — —
GECS revenues from services (Note 4)    68,160 69,943 57,904

  Total revenues      182,515 172,488 151,568

COSTS AND EXPENSES (Note 5)
Cost of goods sold      54,602 47,309 43,279
Cost of services sold      29,170 25,816 23,494
Interest and other financial charges     26,209 23,762 18,879
Investment contracts, insurance losses and insurance annuity benefits 3,213 3,469 3,213
Provision for losses on financing receivables (Note 13)   7,518 4,431 3,062
Other costs and expenses     42,021 40,173 35,491
Minority interest in net earnings of consolidated affiliates   641 916 862

  Total costs and expenses     163,374 145,876 128,280

EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES  19,141 26,612 23,288
Provision for income taxes (Note 7)     (1,052) (4,155) (3,944)

EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS    18,089 22,457 19,344
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 2)  (679) (249) 1,398

NET EARNINGS      17,410 22,208 20,742
Preferred stock dividends declared     (75) — —

NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON SHAREOWNERS   $ 17,335 $ 22,208 $ 20,742

Per-share amounts (Note 8)
Earnings from continuing operations 

  Diluted earnings per share     $   1.78 $   2.20 $   1.86
  Basic earnings per share        1.79    2.21    1.87

Net earnings 
  Diluted earnings per share        1.72    2.17    2.00
  Basic earnings per share        1.72    2.18    2.00

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE    $   1.24 $   1.15 $   1.03

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareowners’ Equity
(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY (Note 23)
Balance at January 1      $115,559 $111,509 $108,633

Dividends and other transactions with shareowners   1,873 (23,102) (17,983)

Other comprehensive income
Investment securities — net     (3,218) (1,484) (223)
Currency translation adjustments — net    (11,007) 4,527 3,649
Cash flow hedges — net      (2,664) (539) 223
Benefit plans — net      (13,288) 2,566 287

Total other comprehensive income     (30,177) 5,070 3,936
Increases attributable to net earnings     17,410 22,208 20,742

Comprehensive income      (12,767) 27,278 24,678

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles   — (126) (3,819)

Balance at December 31      $104,665 $115,559 $111,509

See accompanying notes.
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GE GECS

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

$ 67,637 $ 60,374 $ 53,221 $ 1,773 $   718 $ 2,384
44,377 39,422 36,698 — — —

1,965 3,371 2,307 — — —
7,774 12,417 10,219 — — —

— — — 69,514 71,218 58,967

121,753 115,584 102,445 71,287 71,936 61,351

53,395 47,103 41,501 1,517 628 2,204
29,878 26,382 23,863 — — —

2,153 1,993 1,668 25,116 22,706 17,840
— — — 3,421 3,647 3,419
— — — 7,518 4,431 3,062

14,401 14,148 12,893 28,085 26,537 22,977
410 707 624 231 209 238

100,237 90,333 80,549 65,888 58,158 49,740

21,516 25,251 21,896 5,399 13,778 11,611
(3,427) (2,794) (2,552) 2,375 (1,361) (1,392)

18,089 22,457 19,344 7,774 12,417 10,219
(679) (249) 1,398 (719) (2,116) 439

17,410 22,208 20,742 7,055 10,301 10,658
(75) — — — — —

$ 17,335 $ 22,208 $ 20,742 $ 7,055 $10,301 $10,658

In the consolidating data on this page, “GE” means the basis of consolidation as described in 
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements; “GECS” means General Electric Capital Services, Inc. 
and all of its affiliates and associated companies. Separate information is shown for “GE” and 
“Financial Services (GECS).” Transactions between GE and GECS have been eliminated from the 
“General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates” columns on the prior page.

statement of earnings
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Statement of Financial Position

General Electric Company
and consolidated affiliates

At December 31 (In millions, except share amounts) 2008 2007

ASSETS

Cash and equivalents      $ 48,187 $ 15,731
Investment securities (Note 9)     41,446 45,276
Current receivables (Note 10)     21,411 22,259
Inventories (Note 11)      13,674 12,897
Financing receivables — net (Notes 12 and 13)    365,168 376,123
Other GECS receivables      13,439 16,514
Property, plant and equipment — net (Note 14)    78,530 77,888
Investment in GECS      — —
Goodwill (Note 15)      81,759 81,116
Other intangible assets — net (Note 15)    14,977 16,142
All other assets (Note 16)      106,899 122,848
Assets of businesses held for sale (Note 17)    10,556 —
Assets of discontinued operations (Note 2)    1,723 8,889

Total assets      $797,769 $795,683

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Short-term borrowings (Note 18)     $193,695 $195,100
Accounts payable, principally trade accounts    20,819 21,338
Progress collections and price adjustments accrued   12,536 9,885
Dividends payable      3,340 3,100
Other GE current liabilities      18,220 15,816
Long-term borrowings (Note 18)     330,067 319,013
Investment contracts, insurance liabilities and insurance annuity benefits (Note 19) 34,032 34,068
All other liabilities (Note 20)     64,796 59,316
Deferred income taxes (Note 21)     4,584 12,490
Liabilities of businesses held for sale (Note 17)    636 —
Liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 2)    1,432 1,994

Total liabilities      684,157 672,120

Minority interest in equity of consolidated affiliates (Note 22)  8,947 8,004

Preferred stock (30,000 and 0 shares outstanding at year-end 2008 and 2007, respectively)  — —
Common stock (10,536,897,000 and 9,987,599,000 shares outstanding at year-end 2008 and 2007, respectively)  702 669
Accumulated gains (losses) — net

Investment securities      (3,094) 124
Currency translation adjustments     (299) 10,708
Cash flow hedges      (3,332) (668)
Benefit plans      (15,128) (1,840)

Other capital      40,390 26,100
Retained earnings      122,123 117,362
Less common stock held in treasury     (36,697) (36,896)

Total shareowners’ equity (Notes 23 and 24)    104,665 115,559

Total liabilities and equity      $797,769 $795,683

The sum of accumulated gains (losses) on investment securities, currency translation adjustments, cash flow hedges and benefit plans constitutes “Accumulated other 
comprehensive income,” as shown in Note 23, and was $(21,853) million and $8,324 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

See accompanying notes.
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2008 2007 2008 2007

$ 12,090 $  6,702 $ 37,486 $  9,439
213 343 41,236 44,941

15,064 15,093 — —
13,597 12,834 77 63

— — 372,456 384,067
— — 18,636 22,078

14,433 14,142 64,097 63,746
53,279 57,676 — —
56,394 55,689 25,365 25,427
11,364 11,633 3,613 4,509
22,435 40,608 85,721 83,392

— — 10,556 —
64 66 1,659 8,823

$198,933 $214,786 $660,902 $646,485

$  2,375 $  4,106 $193,533 $192,420
11,699 11,120 13,882 14,714
13,058 10,374 — —

3,340 3,100 — —
18,284 15,816 — —

9,827 11,656 321,068 308,502
— — 34,369 34,359

32,767 32,859 32,090 26,522
(3,949) 3,391 8,533 9,099

— — 636 —
189 302 1,243 1,692

87,590 92,724 605,354 587,308

6,678 6,503 2,269 1,501

— — — —
702 669 1 1

(3,094) 124 (3,097) 110
(299) 10,708 (1,258) 7,472

(3,332) (668) (3,134) (727)
(15,128) (1,840) (367) (105)
40,390 26,100 18,079 12,574

122,123 117,362 43,055 38,351
(36,697) (36,896) — —

104,665 115,559 53,279 57,676

$198,933 $214,786 $660,902 $646,485

In the consolidating data on this page, “GE” means the basis of 
consolidation as described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements; “GECS” means General Electric Capital Services, Inc. 
and all of its affiliates and associated companies. Separate infor-
mation is shown for “GE” and “Financial Services (GECS).” 
Transactions between GE and GECS have been eliminated from 
the “General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates” col-
umns on the prior page.
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Statement of Cash Flows

General Electric Company
and consolidated affiliates

For the years ended December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2006

CASH FLOWS — OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net earnings      $ 17,410 $ 22,208 $ 20,742
Loss (earnings) from discontinued operations    679 249 (1,398)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment  11,492 10,275 8,457
Earnings from continuing operations retained by GECS   — — —
Deferred income taxes      (1,284) 657 1,639
Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables    (24) (868) (2,194)
Decrease (increase) in inventories     (719) (1,562) (1,514)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable    (1,078) (997) (276)
Increase in GE progress collections     2,827 4,622 642
Provision for losses on GECS financing receivables   7,518 4,431 3,062
All other operating activities     11,020 927 3,352

Cash from operating activities — continuing operations   47,841 39,942 32,512
Cash from (used for) operating activities — discontinued operations  760 3,380 (1,057)

CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     48,601 43,322 31,455

CASH FLOWS — INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment    (16,010) (17,803) (15,788)
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment    10,975 8,457 6,795
Net increase in GECS financing receivables    (17,484) (44,237) (37,146)
Proceeds from sales of discontinued operations    5,423 11,574 11,009
Proceeds from principal business dispositions    4,986 2,746 1,883
Payments for principal businesses purchased    (28,110) (17,215) (11,573)
All other investing activities     195 (9,910) (6,053)

Cash used for investing activities — continuing operations   (40,025) (66,388) (50,873)
Cash from (used for) investing activities — discontinued operations  (876) (3,116) (1,774)

Cash used for investing activities     (40,901) (69,504) (52,647)

CASH FLOWS — FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or less)  (34,221) 2,063 4,969
Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)   122,959 100,869 88,364
Repayments and other reductions (maturities longer than 90 days)  (69,050) (49,826) (49,346)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and warrants   2,965 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    12,006 — —
Net purchases of GE shares for treasury    (1,249) (12,319) (8,554)
Dividends paid to shareowners     (12,408) (11,492) (10,420)
All other financing activities     3,638 (1,204) (1,174)

Cash from (used for) financing activities — continuing operations  24,640 28,091 23,839
Cash from (used for) financing activities — discontinued operations  (4) (154) (172)

CASH FROM (USED FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES    24,636 27,937 23,667

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS DURING YEAR  32,336 1,755 2,475
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year    16,031 14,276 11,801

Cash and equivalents at end of year     48,367 16,031 14,276
Less cash and equivalents of discontinued operations at end of year  180 300 190

Cash and equivalents of continuing operations at end of year  $ 48,187 $ 15,731 $ 14,086

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

Cash paid during the year for interest     $   (25,853) $ (23,340) $(18,438)
Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes   (3,237) (2,912) (2,869)

See accompanying notes.
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GE GECS

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

$ 17,410 $ 22,208 $ 20,742 $  7,055 $ 10,301 $ 10,658
679 249 (1,398) 719 2,116 (439)

2,162 2,149 1,953 9,330 8,126 6,504
(5,423) (5,126) (372) — — —

(417) 564 703 (867) 93 936
(168) 14 760 — — —
(524) (1,496) (1,458) (14) 2 (23)
233 (1,073) 289 (1,045) 485 (154)

2,896 4,620 927 — — —
— — — 7,518 4,431 3,062

2,238 1,192 1,626 8,508 (539) 1,035

19,086 23,301 23,772 31,204 25,015 21,579
(5) (857) 855 765 4,039 (2,041)

19,081 22,444 24,627 31,969 29,054 19,538

(2,996) (2,968) (2,913) (13,321) (15,217) (13,168)
— — — 10,975 8,457 6,795
— — — (17,375) (44,164) (40,270)

203 10,826 1,987 5,220 117 9,022
58 1,047 1,497 4,928 1,699 386

(3,149) (9,645) (4,274) (24,961) (7,570) (7,299)
(5,176) (1,697) 100 5,979 (8,730) (5,995)

(11,060) (2,437) (3,603) (28,555) (65,408) (50,529)
5 1,003 (914) (881) (3,921) (731)

(11,055) (1,434) (4,517) (29,436) (69,329) (51,260)

(2,152) (3,284) 1,233 (31,282) 3,397 6,470
136 8,751 130 122,507 92,019 88,280

(1,936) (298) (93) (67,114) (49,528) (49,253)
2,965 — — — — —

12,006 — — — — —
(1,249) (12,319) (8,554) — — —

(12,408) (11,492) (10,420) (2,351) (7,291) (9,847)
— — — 3,638 (1,204) (1,174)

(2,638) (18,642) (17,704) 25,398 37,393 34,476
— (146) 59 (4) (8) (231)

(2,638) (18,788) (17,645) 25,394 37,385 34,245

5,388 2,222 2,465 27,927 (2,890) 2,523
6,702 4,480 2,015 9,739 12,629 10,106

12,090 6,702 4,480 37,666 9,739 12,629
— — — 180 300 190

$ 12,090 $  6,702 $  4,480 $ 37,486 $  9,439 $ 12,439

$ (1,190) $ (1,466) $ (1,343) $ (24,663) $(21,874) $(17,095)
(2,627) (4,036) (2,203) (610) 1,124 (666)

In the consolidating data on this page, “GE” means the basis of consolidation as described in 
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements; “GECS” means General Electric Capital Services, 
Inc. and all of its affiliates and associated companies. Separate information is shown for “GE” and 
“Financial Services (GECS).” Transactions between GE and GECS have been eliminated from the 
“General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates” columns on the prior page.
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Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Principles
Our financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Consolidation
Our financial statements consolidate all of our affiliates—companies 
that we control and in which we hold a majority voting interest. 
Associated companies are companies that we do not control but 
over which we have significant influence, most often because we 
hold a shareholder voting position of 20% to 50%. Results of asso-
ciated companies are presented on a one-line basis. Investments 
in and advances to associated companies are presented on a 
one-line basis in the caption “All other assets” in our Statement 
of Financial Position, net of allowance for losses that represents 
our best estimate of probable losses inherent in such assets.

Financial Statement Presentation
We have reclassified certain prior-year amounts to conform to 
the current-year’s presentation.

Financial data and related measurements are presented in 
the following categories:

GE — This represents the adding together of all affiliates other 
than General Electric Capital Services, Inc. (GECS), whose 
operations are presented on a one-line basis.

GECS — This affiliate owns all of the common stock of General 
Electric Capital Corporation (GE Capital). GE Capital and its 
respective affiliates are consolidated in the accompanying 
GECS columns and constitute the majority of its business.

CONSOLIDATED — This represents the adding together of GE 
and GECS, giving effect to the elimination of transactions 
between GE and GECS.

OPERATING SEGMENTS — These comprise our five businesses, 
focused on the broad markets they serve: Energy Infrastructure, 
Technology Infrastructure, NBC Universal, Capital Finance and 
Consumer & Industrial. Prior period information has been 
reclassified to be consistent with the current organization.

Unless otherwise indicated, information in these notes to con-
solidated financial statements relates to continuing operations. 
Certain of our operations have been presented as discontinued. 
See Note 2.

The effects of translating to U.S. dollars the financial state-
ments of non-U.S. affiliates whose functional currency is the 
local currency are included in shareowners’ equity. Asset and 
liability accounts are translated at year-end exchange rates, while 
revenues and expenses are translated at average rates for the 
respective periods.

Preparing financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP 
requires us to make estimates based on assumptions about current, 
and for some estimates future, economic and market conditions 
(for example, unemployment, market liquidity, the real estate 
market, etc.), which affect reported amounts and related disclo-
sures in our financial statements. Although our current estimates 
contemplate current conditions and how we expect them to 
change in the future, as appropriate, it is reasonably possible 
that in 2009 actual conditions could be worse than anticipated 
in those estimates, which could materially affect our results of 
operations and financial position. Among other effects, such 
changes could result in future impairments of investment secu-
rities, goodwill, intangibles and long-lived assets, incremental 
losses on financing receivables, establishment of valuation 
allowances on deferred tax assets and increased tax liabilities.

Sales of Goods and Services 
We record all sales of goods and services only when a firm sales 
agreement is in place, delivery has occurred or services have 
been rendered and collectibility of the fixed or determinable sales 
price is reasonably assured. 

Arrangements for the sale of goods and services sometimes 
include multiple components. Most of our multiple component 
arrangements involve the sale of goods and services in the 
Technology Infrastructure segment. Our arrangements with 
multiple components usually involve future service deliverables 
such as installation, training or the future delivery of ancillary 
equipment. In such agreements, the amount assigned to each 
component is based on the total price and the undelivered 
component’s objectively determined fair value, determined from 
sources such as the separate selling price for that or a similar 
component or from competitor prices for similar components. 
If fair value of an undelivered component cannot be satisfactorily 
determined, we defer revenue until all multiple components are 
delivered. 

Except for goods sold under long-term agreements, we rec-
ognize sales of goods under the provisions of U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 104,
Revenue Recognition. We often sell consumer products, home 
videos and computer hardware and software products with a right 
of return. We use our accumulated experience to estimate and 
provide for such returns when we record the sale. In situations 
where arrangements include customer acceptance provisions 
based on seller or customer-specified objective criteria, we recog-
nize revenue when formal acceptance occurs or we have reliably 
demonstrated that all specified acceptance criteria have been met. 
In arrangements where we provide goods for trial and evaluation 
purposes, we only recognize revenue after customer acceptance 
occurs. Unless otherwise noted, we do not provide for anticipated 
losses before we record sales. 
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Certain of our sales of goods and services involve inconse-
quential or perfunctory performance obligations. These obligations 
can include non-essential installation or training, and in some 
instances provision of product manuals and limited technical 
product support. When the only remaining undelivered perfor-
mance obligation under an arrangement is inconsequential or 
perfunctory, we recognize revenue on the total contract and 
provide for the cost of the unperformed obligation.

We recognize revenue on agreements for sales of goods and 
services under power generation unit and uprate contracts; 
nuclear fuel assemblies; larger oil drilling equipment projects; 
aeroderivative unit contracts; military development contracts; 
and long-term construction projects, including construction of 
information technology systems in our Healthcare business, 
under American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) 
Statement of Position (SOP) 81-1, Accounting for Performance 
of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.
Under SOP 81-1, we estimate total contract revenue net of price 
concessions as well as total contract costs. For goods sold under 
power generation unit and uprate contracts, nuclear fuel assem-
blies, aeroderivative unit contracts and military development 
contracts, we recognize sales as we complete major contract-
specified deliverables, most often when customers receive title 
to the goods or accept the services as performed. For larger oil 
drilling equipment projects and long-term construction projects, 
we recognize sales based on our progress towards contract 
completion measured by actual costs incurred in relation to our 
estimate of total expected costs. We measure SOP 81-1 revenues 
by applying our contract-specific estimated margin rates to incurred 
costs. We routinely update our estimates of future costs for 
agreements in process and report any cumulative effects of such 
adjustments in current operations. We provide for any loss that we 
expect to incur on these agreements when that loss is probable.

We recognize revenue upon delivery for sales of aircraft 
engines, military propulsion equipment and related spare parts 
not sold under long-term product services agreements. Delivery of 
commercial engines, non-U.S. military equipment and all related 
spare parts occurs on shipment; delivery of military propulsion 
equipment sold to the U.S. Government or agencies thereof 
occurs upon receipt of a Material Inspection and Receiving Report, 
DD Form 250 or Memorandum of Shipment. Commercial aircraft 
engines are complex aerospace equipment manufactured to 
customer order under a variety of sometimes-complex, long-term 
agreements. We measure sales of commercial aircraft engines 
by applying our contract-specific estimated margin rates to 
incurred costs. We routinely update our estimates of future costs 
for commercial aircraft engine agreements in process and report 
any cumulative effects of such adjustments in current operations. 
We measure revenue for military propulsion equipment and spare 
parts not subject to long-term product services agreements 
based on the specific contract on a specifically-measured output 
basis. We provide for any loss that we expect to incur on these 
agreements when that loss is probable; consistent with industry 

practice, for commercial aircraft engines, we make such provision 
only if such losses are not recoverable from future highly probable 
sales of spare parts for those engines.

We sell product services under long-term agreements in our 
Technology Infrastructure and Energy Infrastructure segments, 
principally in Aviation, Energy and Transportation, where costs of 
performing services are incurred on other than a straight-line 
basis. We also sell product services in Healthcare, where such 
costs generally are expected to be on a straight-line basis. These 
agreements are accounted for under Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) Technical Bulletin (FTB) 90-1, Accounting
for Separately Priced Extended Warranty and Product Maintenance 
Contracts. For the Aviation, Energy and Transportation FTB 90-1
agreements, we recognize related sales based on the extent of 
our progress towards completion measured by actual costs 
incurred in relation to total expected costs. We routinely update 
our estimates of future costs for agreements in process and 
report any cumulative effects of such adjustments in current 
operations. For the Healthcare FTB 90-1 agreements, we recognize 
revenues on a straight-line basis and expense related costs as 
incurred. We provide for any loss that we expect to incur on any 
of these agreements when that loss is probable.

NBC Universal records broadcast and cable television and 
Internet advertising sales when advertisements are aired, net of 
provision for any viewer shortfalls (make goods). We record sales 
from theatrical distribution of films as the films are exhibited; sales 
of home videos, net of a return provision, when the videos are 
delivered to and available for sale by retailers; fees from cable/
satellite operators when services are provided; and licensing of 
film and television programming when we make the material 
available for airing.

GECS Revenues from Services (Earned Income)
We use the interest method to recognize income on all loans. 
Interest on loans includes origination, commitment and other non-
refundable fees related to funding (recorded in earned income 
on the interest method). We stop accruing interest at the earlier 
of the time at which collection of an account becomes doubtful 
or the account becomes 90 days past due. We recognize interest 
income on nonearning loans either as cash is collected or on a 
cost-recovery basis as conditions warrant. We resume accruing 
interest on nonearning, non-restructured commercial loans only 
when (a) payments are brought current according to the loan’s 
original terms and (b) future payments are reasonably assured. 
When we agree to restructured terms with the borrower, we 
resume accruing interest only when reasonably assured that we 
will recover full contractual payments, and such loans pass under-
writing reviews equivalent to those applied to new loans. We 
resume accruing interest on nonearning consumer loans when 
the customer’s account is less than 90 days past due.
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NBC Universal Film and Television Costs
We defer film and television production costs, including direct 
costs, production overhead, development costs and interest. We 
do not defer costs of exploitation, which principally comprise costs 
of film and television program marketing and distribution. We 
amortize deferred film and television production costs, as well as 
associated participation and residual costs, on an individual pro-
duction basis using the ratio of the current period’s gross revenues 
to estimated total remaining gross revenues from all sources; 
we state such costs at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. 
Estimates of total revenues and costs are based on anticipated 
release patterns, public acceptance and historical results for similar 
products. We defer the costs of acquired broadcast material, 
including rights to material for use on NBC Universal’s broadcast 
and cable/satellite television networks, at the earlier of acquisition 
or when the license period begins and the material is available 
for use. We amortize acquired broadcast material and rights when 
we broadcast the associated programs; we state such costs at 
the lower of amortized cost or net realizable value.

Losses on Financing Receivables
Our allowance for losses on financing receivables represents our 
best estimate of probable losses inherent in the portfolio. Our 
method of calculating estimated losses depends on the size, type 
and risk characteristics of the related receivables. Write-offs are 
deducted from the allowance for losses and subsequent recoveries 
are added. Impaired financing receivables are written down to 
the extent that we judge principal to be uncollectible.

Our portfolio consists entirely of homogenous consumer loans 
and of commercial loans and leases. The underlying assumptions, 
estimates and assessments we use to provide for losses are 
continually updated to reflect our view of current conditions. 
Changes in such estimates can significantly affect the allowance 
and provision for losses. It is possible to experience credit losses 
that are different from our current estimates.

Our consumer loan portfolio consists of smaller balance, 
homogenous loans including card receivables, installment loans, 
auto loans and leases and residential mortgages. We collectively 
evaluate each portfolio for impairment quarterly. The allowance 
for losses on these receivables is established through a process 
that estimates the probable losses inherent in the portfolio based 
upon statistical analyses of portfolio data. These analyses include 
migration analysis, in which historical delinquency and credit loss 
experience is applied to the current aging of the portfolio, together 
with other analyses that reflect current trends and conditions. 
We also consider overall portfolio indicators including nonearning 
loans, trends in loan volume and lending terms, credit policies 
and other observable environmental factors.

We recognize financing lease income on the interest method 
to produce a level yield on funds not yet recovered. Estimated 
unguaranteed residual values at the date of lease inception 
represent our initial estimates of the fair value of the leased 
assets at the expiration of the lease and are based primarily on 
independent appraisals, which are updated periodically. Guarantees 
of residual values by unrelated third parties are considered part 
of minimum lease payments. Significant assumptions we use in 
estimating residual values include estimated net cash flows over 
the remaining lease term, anticipated results of future remarketing, 
and estimated future component part and scrap metal prices, 
discounted at an appropriate rate.

We recognize operating lease income on a straight-line basis 
over the terms of underlying leases.

Fees include commitment fees related to loans that we do 
not expect to fund and line-of-credit fees. We record these fees 
in earned income on a straight-line basis over the period to 
which they relate. We record syndication fees in earned income 
at the time related services are performed, unless significant 
contingencies exist.

Depreciation and Amortization
The cost of GE manufacturing plant and equipment is depreciated 
over its estimated economic life. U.S. assets are depreciated 
using an accelerated method based on a sum-of-the-years digits 
formula; non-U.S. assets are generally depreciated on a straight-
line basis.

The cost of GECS equipment leased to others on operating 
leases is depreciated on a straight-line basis to estimated residual 
value over the lease term or over the estimated economic life of 
the equipment.

The cost of GECS acquired real estate investments is depreci-
ated on a straight-line basis to the estimated salvage value over 
the expected useful life or the estimated proceeds upon sale of 
the investment at the end of the expected holding period if that 
approach produces a higher measure of depreciation expense. 

The cost of individually significant customer relationships is 
amortized in proportion to estimated total related sales; cost of 
other intangible assets is generally amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the asset’s estimated economic life. We review long-
lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may 
not be recoverable. See Notes 14 and 15.
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The remainder of our commercial loans and leases are portfo-
lios of smaller balance homogenous commercial and equipment 
positions that we evaluate collectively by portfolio for impairment 
based upon various statistical analyses considering historical 
losses and aging, as well as our view on current market and 
economic conditions.

Partial Sales of Business Interests
We record gains or losses on sales of their own shares by affiliates 
except when realization of gains is not reasonably assured, in 
which case we record the results in shareowners’ equity. We 
record gains or losses on sales of interests in commercial and 
military engine and aeroderivative equipment programs.

Cash and Equivalents
Debt securities and money market instruments with original 
maturities of three months or less are included in cash equiva-
lents unless designated as available-for-sale and classified as 
investment securities.

Investment Securities
We report investments in debt and marketable equity securities, 
and equity securities in our insurance portfolio, at fair value. See 
Note 28 for further information on fair value. Unrealized gains and 
losses on available-for-sale investment securities are included in 
shareowners’ equity, net of applicable taxes and other adjustments. 
We regularly review investment securities for impairment using 
both quantitative and qualitative criteria. Quantitative criteria 
include the length of time and magnitude of the amount that 
each security is in an unrealized loss position and, for securities 
with fixed maturities, whether the issuer is in compliance with 
terms and covenants of the security. Qualitative criteria include 
the financial health of and specific prospects for the issuer, as 
well as our intent and ability to hold the security to maturity or 
until forecasted recovery. Unrealized losses that are other than 
temporary are recognized in earnings. Realized gains and losses 
are accounted for on the specific identification method. Unrealized 
gains and losses on investment securities classified as trading 
and certain retained interests are included in earnings. 

Inventories
All inventories are stated at the lower of cost or realizable values. 
Cost for a significant portion of GE U.S. inventories is determined 
on a last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis. Cost of other GE inventories is 
determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. LIFO was used for 
40% and 41% of GE inventories at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. GECS inventories consist of finished products held 
for sale; cost is determined on a FIFO basis.

We write off unsecured closed-end installment loans at 
120 days contractually past due and unsecured open-ended 
revolving loans at 180 days contractually past due. We write down 
consumer loans secured by collateral other than residential real 
estate when such loans are 120 days past due. Consumer loans 
secured by residential real estate (both revolving and closed-end 
loans) are written down to the fair value of collateral, less costs 
to sell, no later than when they become 360 days past due. 
During 2007, we conformed our reserving methodology in our 
residential mortgage loan portfolios. Unsecured consumer loans 
in bankruptcy are written off within 60 days of notification of 
filing by the bankruptcy court or within contractual write-off 
periods, whichever occurs earlier.

Our commercial loan and lease portfolio consists of a variety of 
loans and leases, including both larger balance, non-homogenous 
loans and leases and smaller balance homogenous commercial 
and equipment loans and leases. Losses on such loans and leases 
are recorded when probable and estimable. We routinely evalu-
ate our entire portfolio for potential specific credit or collection 
issues that might indicate an impairment. For larger balance, 
non-homogenous loans and leases, this survey first considers 
the financial status, payment history, collateral value, industry 
conditions and guarantor support related to specific customers. Any 
delinquencies or bankruptcies are indications of potential impair-
ment requiring further assessment of collectibility. We routinely 
receive financial as well as rating agency reports on our customers, 
and we elevate for further attention those customers whose 
operations we judge to be marginal or deteriorating. We also 
elevate customers for further attention when we observe a decline 
in collateral values for asset-based loans. While collateral values 
are not always available, when we observe such a decline, we 
evaluate relevant markets to assess recovery alternatives — for
example, for real estate loans, relevant markets are local; for air-
craft loans, relevant markets are global. We provide allowances 
based on our evaluation of all available information, including 
expected future cash flows, fair value of collateral, net of disposal 
costs, and the secondary market value of the financing receivables. 
After providing for specific incurred losses, we then determine 
an allowance for losses that have been incurred in the balance 
of the portfolio but cannot yet be identified to a specific loan or 
lease. This estimate is based on historical and projected default 
rates and loss severity, and it is prepared by each respective line 
of business.

Experience is not available with new products; therefore, while 
we are developing that experience, we set loss allowances based 
on our experience with the most closely analogous products in 
our portfolio.

When we repossess collateral in satisfaction of a loan, we 
write down the receivable against the allowance for losses. 
Repossessed collateral is included in the caption “All other assets” 
in the Statement of Financial Position and carried at the lower 
of cost or estimated fair value less costs to sell.
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Premiums received on investment contracts (including annui-
ties without significant mortality risk) and universal life contracts 
are not reported as revenues but rather as deposit liabilities. 
We recognize revenues for charges and assessments on these 
contracts, mostly for mortality, contract initiation, administration 
and surrender. Amounts credited to policyholder accounts are 
charged to expense.

Liabilities for traditional long-duration insurance contracts 
represent the present value of such benefits less the present value 
of future net premiums based on mortality, morbidity, interest 
and other assumptions at the time the policies were issued or 
acquired. Liabilities for investment contracts and universal life 
policies equal the account value, that is, the amount that accrues 
to the benefit of the contract or policyholder including credited 
interest and assessments through the financial statement date.

Liabilities for unpaid claims and claims adjustment expenses 
represent our best estimate of the ultimate obligations for reported 
and incurred-but-not-reported claims and the related estimated 
claim settlement expenses. Liabilities for unpaid claims and claims 
adjustment expenses are continually reviewed and adjusted 
through current operations.

Accounting Changes
Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) 157, Fair Value Measurements, for 
all financial instruments and non-financial instruments accounted 
for at fair value on a recurring basis. SFAS 157 establishes a new 
framework for measuring fair value and expands related disclo-
sures. See Note 28.

Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS 159, The Fair Value 
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. Upon adoption, 
we elected to report $172 million of commercial mortgage loans 
at fair value in order to recognize them on the same accounting 
basis (measured at fair value through earnings) as the derivatives 
economically hedging these loans. See Note 28.

On January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretation (FIN) 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, and FASB Staff 
Position (FSP) FAS 13-2, Accounting for a Change or Projected 
Change in the Timing of Cash Flows Relating to Income Taxes 
Generated by a Leveraged Lease Transaction. Among other 
things, FIN 48 requires application of a “more likely than not” 
threshold to the recognition and derecognition of tax positions. 
FSP FAS 13-2 requires recalculation of returns on leveraged 
leases when there is a change in the timing or projected timing 
of cash flows relating to income taxes associated with such leases. 
The January 1, 2007 transition reduced our retained earnings by 
$126 million, $49 million associated with FIN 48 and $77 million
with FSP FAS 13-2. Of this total, $89 million was a decrease in 
goodwill and $77 million was a decrease in financing receivables —
net, partially offset by a $40 million decrease in income tax 
liabilities.

Intangible Assets
We do not amortize goodwill, but test it at least annually for 
impairment using a fair value approach at the reporting unit level. 
A reporting unit is the operating segment, or a business one level 
below that operating segment (the component level) if discrete 
financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by seg-
ment management. However, components are aggregated as a 
single reporting unit if they have similar economic characteristics. 
We recognize an impairment charge if the carrying amount of a 
reporting unit exceeds its fair value and the carrying amount of 
the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that 
goodwill. We use discounted cash flows to establish fair values. 
When available and as appropriate, we use comparative market 
multiples to corroborate discounted cash flow results. When all or 
a portion of a reporting unit is disposed of, goodwill is allocated 
to the gain or loss on disposition based on the relative fair values 
of the business disposed of and the portion of the reporting unit 
that will be retained.

We amortize the cost of other intangibles over their estimated 
useful lives unless such lives are deemed indefinite. The cost of 
intangible assets is generally amortized on a straight-line basis 
over the asset’s estimated economic life, except that individually 
significant customer-related intangible assets are amortized in 
relation to total related sales. Amortizable intangible assets are 
tested for impairment based on undiscounted cash flows and, if 
impaired, written down to fair value based on either discounted 
cash flows or appraised values. Intangible assets with indefinite 
lives are tested annually for impairment and written down to fair 
value as required.

GECS Investment Contracts, Insurance Liabilities and 
Insurance Annuity Benefits
Certain entities, which we consolidate, provide guaranteed invest-
ment contracts to states, municipalities and municipal authorities.

Our insurance activities also include providing insurance and 
reinsurance for life and health risks and providing certain annuity 
products. Three product groups are provided: traditional insurance 
contracts, investment contracts and universal life insurance 
contracts. Insurance contracts are contracts with significant 
mortality and/or morbidity risks, while investment contracts are 
contracts without such risks. Universal life insurance contracts 
are a particular type of long-duration insurance contract whose 
terms are not fixed and guaranteed.

For short-duration insurance contracts, including accident and 
health insurance, we report premiums as earned income over the 
terms of the related agreements, generally on a pro-rata basis. 
For traditional long-duration insurance contracts including term, 
whole life and annuities payable for the life of the annuitant, we 
report premiums as earned income when due.
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Note 2. 

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations comprised our Japanese personal loan 
business (Lake) and our Japanese mortgage and card businesses, 
excluding our minority ownership in GE Nissen Credit Co., Ltd. 
(GE Money Japan), our U.S. mortgage business (WMC), Plastics, 
Advanced Materials, GE Life, Genworth Financial, Inc. (Genworth) 
and most of GE Insurance Solutions Corporation (GE Insurance 
Solutions). Associated results of operations, financial position and 
cash flows are separately reported for all periods presented.

GE Money Japan
During the third quarter of 2007, we committed to a plan to sell 
Lake upon determining that, despite restructuring, Japanese 
regulatory limits for interest charges on unsecured personal 
loans did not permit us to earn an acceptable return. As a result, 
we recognized an after-tax loss of $908 million in 2007. During 
2008, we completed the sale of GE Money Japan, which included 
Lake, along with our Japanese mortgage and card businesses, 
excluding our minority ownership in GE Nissen Credit Co., Ltd. 
In connection with the transaction, GE Money Japan reduced the 
proceeds on the sale for estimated interest refund claims in excess 
of the statutory interest rate. Proceeds from the sale may be 
increased or decreased based on the actual claims experienced 
in accordance with terms specified in the agreement, and will not 
be adjusted unless claims exceed approximately $3,000 million.
Estimated claims are not expected to exceed those levels and 
are based on our historical claims experience and the estimated 
future requests, taking into consideration the ability and likelihood 
of customers to make claims and other industry risk factors. 
However, uncertainties around the status of laws and regulations 
and lack of certain information related to the individual custom-
ers make it difficult to develop a meaningful estimate of the 
aggregate claims exposure. We review our estimated exposure 
quarterly, and make adjustments when required. To date, there 
have been no adjustments to sale proceeds for this matter. In 
connection with this sale, and primarily related to our Japanese 
mortgage and card businesses, we recorded an incremental 
$361 million loss in 2008. GE Money Japan revenues from dis-
continued operations were $763 million, $1,307 million and 
$1,715 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In total, 
GE Money Japan losses from discontinued operations, net of 
taxes, were $651 million and $1,220 million in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively, compared with earnings of $247 million in 2006.

On January 1, 2007, we adopted SFAS 155, Accounting for 
Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments. This statement amended 
SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities, as amended, to include within its scope prepayment 
features in newly created or acquired retained interests related 
to securitizations. SFAS 155 changed the basis on which we 
recognize earnings on these retained interests from level yield to 
fair value. See Notes 9 and 30.

We adopted SFAS 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment
(SFAS 123R) and related FSPs, effective January 1, 2006. Among 
other things, SFAS 123R requires expensing the fair value of stock 
options, a previously optional accounting method that we adopted 
voluntarily in 2002, and classification of excess tax benefits asso-
ciated with share-based compensation deductions as cash from 
financing activities rather than cash from operating activities. 
We chose the modified prospective transition method, which 
requires that the new guidance be applied to the unvested portion 
of all outstanding stock option grants as of January 1, 2006, and 
to new grants after that date. We further applied the alternative 
transition method provided in FSP FAS 123(R)-3, Transition Election 
Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment 
Awards. The transitional effects of SFAS 123R and related FSPs 
consisted of a reduction in net earnings of $10 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2006, to expense the unvested portion 
of options granted in 2001; and classification of $173 million
related to excess tax benefits from share-based compensation 
deductions as cash from financing activities in our Statement of 
Cash Flows beginning in 2006, which previously would have 
been included in cash from operating activities.

SFAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension 
and Other Postretirement Plans, became effective for us as of 
December 31, 2006, and requires recognition of an asset or liability 
in the statement of financial position reflecting the funded status 
of pension and other postretirement benefit plans such as retiree 
health and life, with current-year changes in the funded status 
recognized in shareowners’ equity. SFAS 158 did not change the 
existing criteria for measurement of periodic benefit costs, plan 
assets or benefit obligations. The incremental effect of the initial 
adoption of SFAS 158 reduced our shareowners’ equity at 
December 31, 2006, by $3,819 million.

On December 12, 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF 99-20-1,
Amendments to the Impairment Guidance of EITF Issue No. 99-20.
The primary change in reporting that results from the FSP, which 
we adopted in the fourth quarter of 2008, is the requirement 
to estimate cash flows based on management’s best estimate 
rather than based on market participant assumptions. 
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GE Life
During the fourth quarter of 2006, we completed the sale of 
GE Life, our U.K.-based life insurance operation, to Swiss 
Reinsurance Company (Swiss Re) for $910 million. As a result, we 
recognized after-tax losses of $3 million in both 2008 and 2007, 
and $267 million in 2006. GE Life revenues from discontinued 
operations were $2,096 million in 2006. In total, GE Life losses 
from discontinued operations, net of taxes, were $3 million in 
both 2008 and 2007, and $178 million in 2006 .

GE Insurance Solutions
During the second quarter of 2006, we completed the sale of 
the property and casualty insurance and reinsurance businesses 
and the European life and health operations of GE Insurance 
Solutions to Swiss Re for $9,297 million, including the assumption 
of $1,700 million of debt. We received $5,359 million in cash 
and $2,238 million of newly issued Swiss Re common stock, 
representing a 9% interest in Swiss Re. As a result of the exit, 
we recognized earnings of $1 million and $16 million in 2008 
and 2007, compared with losses of $134 million in 2006. GE 
Insurance Solutions revenues from discontinued operations 
were $2,815 million in 2006. In total, GE Insurance Solutions loss 
from discontinued operations, net of taxes, was $15 million in 
2008, compared with earnings of $15 million and $148 million in 
2007 and 2006, respectively.

Genworth
During the first quarter of 2006, we completed the sale of our 
remaining 18% investment in Genworth through a secondary 
public offering of 71 million shares of Class A Common Stock and 
direct sale to Genworth of 15 million shares of Genworth Class 
B Common Stock. As a result of initial and secondary public 
offerings, we recognized after-tax gains of $3 million, $85 million
(primarily from a tax adjustment related to the 2004 initial public 
offering) and $220 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
Genworth revenues from discontinued operations were $5 million 
in 2006. In total, Genworth loss from discontinued operations, 
net of taxes, was $9 million in 2008, compared with earnings of 
$79 million and $193 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

WMC
During the fourth quarter of 2007, we completed the sale of our 
U.S. mortgage business. As a result, we recognized an after-tax 
loss of $62 million in 2007. In connection with the transaction, 
WMC retained certain obligations related to loans sold prior to the 
disposal of the business, including WMC’s contractual obligations 
to repurchase previously sold loans as to which there was an early 
payment default or with respect to which certain contractual 
representations and warranties were not met. Reserves related 
to these obligations were $244 million at December 31, 2008, 
and $265 million at December 31, 2007. The amount of these 
reserves is based upon pending and estimated future loan 
repurchase requests, the estimated percentage of loans validly 
tendered for repurchase, and our estimated losses on loans 
repurchased. Based on our historical experience, we estimate 
that a small percentage of the total loans we originated and sold 
will be tendered for repurchase, and of those tendered, only a 
limited amount will qualify as “validly tendered,” meaning the 
loans sold did not satisfy specified contractual obligations. The 
amount of our current reserve represents our best estimate of 
losses with respect to our repurchase obligations. However, actual 
losses could exceed our reserve amount, if actual claim rates, 
valid tenders or losses we incur on repurchased loans, are higher 
than historically observed. WMC revenues from discontinued 
operations were $(71) million, $(1,424) million and $536 million 
in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In total, WMC’s losses 
from discontinued operations, net of taxes, were $41 million and 
$987 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, compared with 
earnings of $29 million in 2006.

Plastics and Advanced Materials
During the third quarter of 2007, we completed the sale of our 
Plastics business to Saudi Basic Industries Corporation for 
$11,577 million in cash. We sold this business because of its 
cyclicality, rising costs of natural gas and raw materials, and 
the decision to redeploy capital resources into higher-growth 
businesses. Also, during the fourth quarter of 2006, we sold our 
Advanced Materials business. As a result of these sales, we 
recognized after-tax gains of $21 million, $1,578 million and 
$441 million during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Plastics 
and Advanced Materials revenues from discontinued operations 
were $4,286 million and $8,795 million in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. In total, Plastics and Advanced Materials earnings 
from discontinued operations, net of taxes, were $40 million, 
$1,867 million and $959 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.
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December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

ASSETS

Cash and equivalents    $  180 $  300
Financing receivables — net   — 6,675
All other assets    19 129
Other    1,460 1,719

Assets of discontinued operations   $1,659 $8,823

LIABILITIES

Liabilities of discontinued operations   $1,243 $1,692

Assets at December 31, 2008, were primarily comprised of a 
deferred tax asset for a loss carryforward, which expires in 2015, 
related to the sale of our GE Money Japan business.

Note 3. 

Other Income

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

GE

Sales of business interests (a)  $  891 $1,541 $  878
Interest income from GECS  371 329 145
Associated companies   332 671 437
Licensing and royalty income  291 255 220
Marketable securities and bank deposits 196 282 272
Other items   (116) 293 355

      1,965 3,371 2,307

ELIMINATIONS   (379) (352) (153)

Total    $1,586 $3,019 $2,154

(a) Included gain on sale of a business interest to Hitachi of $900 million in 2007.

Note 4. 

GECS Revenues from Services

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

Interest on loans   $27,109 $23,599 $20,358
Equipment leased to others  15,568 15,260 12,940
Fees    6,126 6,533 5,358
Financing leases   4,374 4,699 4,298
Real estate investments   3,505 4,669 3,138
Premiums earned by 

insurance activities   2,255 2,232 2,084
Associated companies   2,217 2,172 2,079
Investment income (a)   2,191 4,724 3,115
Net securitization gains   1,133 1,804 1,187
Other items   5,036 5,526 4,410

Total    $69,514 $71,218 $58,967

(a) Included gain on sale of Swiss Re common stock of $566 million in 2007 and 
other-than-temporary impairments on investment securities of $1,420 million, 
$127 million and $139 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Summarized financial information for discontinued GE indus-
trial operations is shown below.

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

OPERATIONS

Total revenues   $ — $4,286 $8,795

Earnings from discontinued operations 
before income taxes   $ — $  233 $  577

Income tax benefit (expense)  19 56 (59)

Earnings from discontinued operations
before disposal, net of taxes  $19 $  289 $  518

DISPOSAL

Gain on disposal before income taxes $21 $2,362 $  357
Income tax benefit (expense)  — (784) 84

Gain on disposal, net of taxes  $21 $1,578 $  441

EARNINGS FROM DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS, NET OF TAXES (a)  $40 $1,867 $  959

(a) The sum of GE industrial earnings from discontinued operations, net of taxes, and 
GECS earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes, below are 
reported as GE industrial earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes, 
on the Statement of Earnings. 

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment — net   $ — $  9
Current receivables    64 57

Assets of discontinued operations   $ 64 $ 66

LIABILITIES

Other GE current liabilities    $ 36 $146
Other    153 156

Liabilities of discontinued operations   $189 $302

Summarized financial information for discontinued GECS opera-
tions is shown below.

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

OPERATIONS

Total revenues   $   692 $  (117) $7,167

Earnings (loss) from discontinued 
operations before income taxes $  (571) $(2,225) $  641

Income tax benefit (expense)  212 981 (21)

Earnings (loss) from discontinued 
operations before disposal, 
net of taxes   $  (359) $(1,244) $  620

DISPOSAL

Loss on disposal before income taxes  $(1,479) $(1,510) $  (75)
Income tax benefit (expense)  1,119 638 (106)

Loss on disposal, net of taxes $  (360) $  (872) $ (181)

EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS, NET OF TAXES  $  (719) $(2,116) $  439
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ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS are described below. The discount rates 
at December 31 measured the year-end benefit obligations and 
the earnings effects for the subsequent year.

December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005

Discount rate 6.15% 6.31% (a) 5.75% 5.25%
Compensation increases  4.20 5.00 5.00 5.00
Expected return on assets  8.50 8.50 8.50 8.50
Initial healthcare trend rate (c) 7.00 (b) 9.10 9.20 10.00

(a) Weighted average discount rate of 6.34% was used for determination of 
costs in 2008.

(b) Includes benefits from new healthcare supplier contracts. 

(c) For 2008, ultimately declining to 6% for 2025 and thereafter.

To determine the expected long-term rate of return on retiree life 
plan assets, we consider current and expected asset allocations, 
as well as historical and expected returns on various categories 
of plan assets. We apply our expected rate of return to a market-
related value of assets, which stabilizes variability in the amounts 
to which we apply that expected return.

We amortize experience gains and losses as well as the 
effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and plan provisions 
over a period no longer than the average future service of 
employees.

FUNDING POLICY. We fund retiree health benefits on a pay-as-you-
go basis. We expect to contribute approximately $665 million in 
2009 to fund such benefits. We fund retiree life insurance benefits 
at our discretion.

Changes in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 
for retiree benefit plans follow.

ACCUMULATED POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION (APBO)

(In millions) 2008 2007

Balance at January 1    $12,983 $ 8,262
Service cost for benefits earned   326 286
Interest cost on benefit obligation   750 577
Participant contributions    51 47
Plan amendments (a)    — 4,257
Actuarial loss (gain) (b)    (1,351) 320
Benefits paid (c)    (811) (796)
Other    1 30

Balance at December 31 (d)    $11,949 $12,983

(a) For 2007, related to labor agreements negotiated with U.S. unions.

(b) For 2008, primarily related to benefits from new healthcare supplier contracts.

(c) Net of Medicare Part D subsidy of $83 million and $73 million in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.

(d) The APBO for the retiree health plans was $9,749 million and $10,847 million at 
year-end 2008 and 2007, respectively.

A one percentage point change in the assumed healthcare cost 
trend rate would have the following effects.

    1% 1%
(In millions) increase decrease

APBO at December 31, 2008   $990 $(848)
Service and interest cost in 2008   95 (80)

Note 5. 

Supplemental Cost Information

We funded research and development expenditures of $3,020 mil-
lion in 2008, $3,009 million in 2007 and $2,790 million in 2006. 
In addition, research and development funding from customers, 
principally the U.S. government, totaled $1,287 million, $1,066 mil-
lion and $690 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Rental expense under operating leases is shown below.

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

GE     $912 $929 $854
GECS    992 955 863

At December 31, 2008, minimum rental commitments under 
noncancellable operating leases aggregated $3,022 million and 
$3,565 million for GE and GECS, respectively. Amounts payable 
over the next five years follow.

(In millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

GE   $550 $548 $496 $429 $390
GECS  774 621 508 435 303

Payments under revenue sharing partnerships amounted to 
$2,290 million, $1,878 million and $1,413 million in 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively, and are included in cost of goods sold. GE’s 
selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $14,401 mil-
lion in 2008, $14,148 million in 2007 and $12,893 million in 2006.

Note 6. 

Postretirement Benefit Plans

Retiree Health and Life Benefits
We sponsor a number of retiree health and life insurance benefit 
plans (retiree benefit plans). Principal retiree benefit plans are 
discussed below; other such plans are not significant individually 
or in the aggregate. We use a December 31 measurement date 
for our plans.

PRINCIPAL RETIREE BENEFIT PLANS provide health and life insurance 
benefits to certain employees who retire under the GE Pension 
Plan with 10 or more years of service. Eligible retirees share in 
the cost of healthcare benefits. These plans cover approximately 
225,000 retirees and dependents.

COST OF PRINCIPAL RETIREE BENEFIT PLANS

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

Expected return on plan assets  $ (131) $ (125) $(127)
Service cost for benefits earned  326 286 229
Interest cost on benefit obligation  750 577 455
Prior service cost amortization  673 603 363
Net actuarial loss (gain) amortization  (49) (17) 64

Retiree benefit plans cost   $1,569 $1,324 $ 984



ge 2008 annual report 65

notes to consolidated financial statements

In 2009, we estimate that we will amortize $675 million of prior 
service cost and $105 million of net actuarial gain from share-
owners’ equity into retiree benefit plans cost. Comparable 
amortized amounts in 2008 were $673 million of prior service 
cost and $49 million of net actuarial gains.

ESTIMATED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS

         2014 –
(In millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2018

Gross $910 $930 $965 $980 $1,000 $5,200
Expected Medicare 

Part D subsidy 75 80 85 90 95 550

Net   $835 $850 $880 $890 $  905 $4,650

Pension Benefits
We sponsor a number of pension plans. Principal pension plans, 
together with affiliate and certain other pension plans (other 
pension plans) detailed in this note, represent about 99% of our 
total pension assets. We use a December 31 measurement date 
for our plans.

PRINCIPAL PENSION PLANS are the GE Pension Plan and the GE 
Supplementary Pension Plan.

The GE Pension Plan provides benefits to certain U.S. employees 
based on the greater of a formula recognizing career earnings or a 
formula recognizing length of service and final average earnings. 
Certain benefit provisions are subject to collective bargaining.

The GE Supplementary Pension Plan is an unfunded plan 
providing supplementary retirement benefits primarily to higher-
level, longer-service U.S. employees.

OTHER PENSION PLANS in 2008 included 31 U.S. and non-U.S. 
pension plans with pension assets or obligations greater than 
$50 million. These defined benefit plans provide benefits to 
employees based on formulas recognizing length of service and 
earnings.

PENSION PLAN PARTICIPANTS

    Principal Other
    pension pension
December 31, 2008 Total plans plans

Active employees   188,000 140,000 48,000
Vested former employees   231,000 190,000 41,000
Retirees and beneficiaries   246,000 220,000 26,000

Total    665,000 550,000 115,000

FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

(In millions) 2008 2007

Balance at January 1    $1,804 $1,710
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets   (486) 221
Employer contributions    617 622
Participant contributions    51 47
Benefits paid (a)    (811) (796)

Balance at December 31    $1,175 $1,804

(a) Net of Medicare Part D subsidy.

PLAN ASSET ALLOCATION

    2008 2007

    Target Actual Actual
December 31 allocation allocation allocation

U.S. equity securities   19 – 39% 25% 33%
Non-U.S. equity securities   18 – 38 15 20
Debt securities (including 

cash equivalents)   11 – 41 39 31
Real estate   2 – 12 7 6
Private equities   3 – 13 8 5
Other   0 – 10 6 5

Plan fiduciaries set investment policies and strategies for the trust 
and oversee its investment allocation, which includes selecting 
investment managers and setting long-term strategic targets. 
Long-term strategic investment objectives include preserving the 
funded status of the plan and balancing risk and return. Target 
allocation ranges are guidelines, not limitations, and occasionally 
plan fiduciaries will approve allocations above or below a target 
range.

Trust assets invested in short-term securities must generally 
be invested in securities rated A1/P1 or better, except for 15% 
of such securities that may be rated A2/P2. According to statute, 
the aggregate holdings of all qualifying employer securities 
(e.g., GE common stock) and qualifying employer real property 
may not exceed 10% of the fair value of trust assets at the time 
of purchase. GE securities represented 3.6% and 5.9% of trust 
assets at year-end 2008 and 2007, respectively.

RETIREE BENEFIT ASSET (LIABILITY)

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Funded status (a)    $(10,774) $(11,179)

Liability recorded in the Statement 
of Financial Position

  Retiree health plans
   Due within one year    $   (644) $   (675)
   Due after one year    (9,105) (10,172)
  Retiree life plans    (1,025) (332)

Net liability recognized    $(10,774) $(11,179)

Amounts recorded in shareowners’ 
equity (unamortized)

  Prior service cost    $  5,027 $  5,700
  Net actuarial loss (gain)    (475) 210

Total    $  4,552 $  5,910

(a) Fair value of assets less APBO, as shown in the preceding tables.
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COST OF PENSION PLANS

Total  Principal pension plans Other pension plans

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Expected return on plan assets  $(4,850) $(4,459) $(4,211) $(4,298) $(3,950) $(3,811) $(552) $(509) $(400)
Service cost for benefits earned  1,663 1,727 1,719 1,331 1,355 1,402 332 372 317
Interest cost on benefit obligation 3,152 2,885 2,685 2,653 2,416 2,304 499 469 381
Prior service cost amortization  332 247 258 321 241 253 11 6 5
Net actuarial loss amortization  316 856 893 237 693 729 79 163 164

Pension plans cost  $   613 $ 1,256 $ 1,344 $   244 $   755 $   877 $ 369 $ 501 $ 467

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS are described below. The discount rates at December 31 measured the year-end benefit obligations and the 
earnings effects for the subsequent year.

Principal pension plans Other pension plans (weighted average)

December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005 2008 2007 2006 2005

Discount rate  6.11% 6.34% 5.75% 5.50% 6.03% 5.65% 4.97% 4.74%
Compensation increases  4.20 5.00 5.00 5.00 4.47 4.50 4.26 4.20
Expected return on assets  8.50 8.50 8.50 8.50 7.41 7.51 7.44 7.47

To determine the expected long-term rate of return on pension 
plan assets, we consider current and expected asset allocations, 
as well as historical and expected returns on various categories 
of plan assets. For the principal pension plans, we apply our 
expected rate of return to a market-related value of assets, 
which stabilizes variability in the amounts to which we apply 
that expected return.

We amortize experience gains and losses as well as the 
effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and plan provisions 
over a period no longer than the average future service of 
employees.

FUNDING POLICY for the GE Pension Plan is to contribute amounts 
sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements as set forth 
in employee benefit and tax laws plus such additional amounts 
as we may determine to be appropriate. We have not made 
contributions to the GE Pension Plan since 1987 and will not 
make any such contributions in 2009. In 2009, we expect to pay 
approximately $170 million for benefit payments under our GE 
Supplementary Pension Plan and administrative expenses of our 
principal pension plans and expect to contribute approximately 
$690 million to other pension plans. In 2008, comparative amounts 
were $153 million and $627 million, respectively.

BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS are described in the following tables. 
Accumulated and projected benefit obligations (ABO and PBO) 
represent the obligations of a pension plan for past service as of 
the measurement date. ABO is the present value of benefits earned 
to date with benefits computed based on current compensation 
levels. PBO is ABO increased to reflect expected future 
compensation.

PROJECTED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Principal pension plans  Other pension plans

(In millions) 2008 2007 2008 2007

Balance at January 1  $42,947 $43,293 $ 9,014 $9,034
Service cost for 

benefits earned  1,331 1,355 332 372
Interest cost on benefit 

obligations 2,653 2,416 499 469
Participant contributions  169 173 40 43
Plan amendments  — 1,470 16 26
Actuarial loss (gain) (a)  791 (3,205) (923) (665)
Benefits paid (2,723) (2,555) (383) (370)
Acquisitions 

(dispositions) — net  — — 545 (311)
Exchange rate adjustments — — (1,392) 416

Balance at December 31 (b)  $45,168 $42,947 $ 7,748 $9,014

(a) Principally associated with discount rate changes.

(b) The PBO for the GE Supplementary Pension Plan, which is an unfunded plan, was 
$3,505 million and $3,437 million at year-end 2008 and 2007, respectively.

ACCUMULATED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

GE Pension Plan    $40,313 $38,155
GE Supplementary Pension Plan   2,582 2,292
Other pension plans    7,075 8,175
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GE Pension Trust assets are invested subject to the following 
additional guidelines:

Short-term securities must generally be rated A1/P1 or better, 
except for 15% of such securities that may be rated A2/P2.

Real estate investments may not exceed 25% of total assets.

Investments in restricted securities that are not freely tradable 
may not exceed 30% of total assets (actual was 16% of trust 
assets at December 31, 2008).

According to statute, the aggregate holdings of all qualifying 
employer securities (e.g., GE common stock) and qualifying 
employer real property may not exceed 10% of the fair value of 
trust assets at the time of purchase. GE securities represented 
3.5% and 5.6% of trust assets at year-end 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.

Other pension plans
(weighted average)

    2008 2007

    Target Actual Actual
December 31 allocation allocation allocation

Equity securities   60% 57% 67%
Debt securities   30 32 25
Real estate   4 4 4
Other   6 7 4

PENSION ASSET (LIABILITY)

Principal pension plans  Other pension plans

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2008 2007

Funded status (a)  $ (4,438) $16,753 $(2,374) $(1,603)

Pension asset (liability) 
recorded in the Statement 
of Financial Position

  Pension asset  $ — $20,190 $     9 $   258
  Pension liabilities
   Due within one year (b) (117) (111) (51) (54)
   Due after one year (b)  (4,321) (3,326) (2,332) (1,807)

Net amount recognized  $ (4,438) $16,753 $(2,374) $(1,603)

Amounts recorded in 
shareowners’ equity 
(unamortized)

  Prior service cost  $ 1,739 $ 2,060 $    62 $    65
  Net actuarial loss (gain)  16,447 (4,974) 1,753 654

Total  $18,186 $  (2,914) $ 1,815 $   719

(a) Fair value of assets less PBO, as shown in the preceding tables.

(b) For principal pension plans, primarily represents the GE Supplementary Pension 
Plan liability.

PLANS WITH ASSETS LESS THAN ABO

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Funded plans with assets less than ABO
Plan assets    $4,914 $3,639
Accumulated benefit obligations   5,888 3,974
Projected benefit obligations   6,468 4,595

Unfunded plans (a)

Accumulated benefit obligations   3,352 3,111
Projected benefit obligations   4,303 4,283

(a) Primarily related to the GE Supplementary Pension Plan.

FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

Principal pension plans  Other pension plans

(In millions) 2008 2007 2008 2007

Balance at January 1  $ 59,700 $54,758 $ 7,411 $6,435
Actual gain (loss) on 

plan assets (16,569) 7,188 (1,743) 614
Employer contributions  153 136 627 730
Participant contributions  169 173 40 43
Benefits paid (2,723) (2,555) (383) (370)
Acquisitions 

(dispositions) — net  — — 565 (372)
Exchange rate adjustments — — (1,143) 331

Balance at December 31  $ 40,730 $59,700 $ 5,374 $7,411

PLAN ASSET ALLOCATION

Principal pension plans

    2008 2007

    Target Actual Actual
December 31 allocation allocation allocation

U.S. equity securities   17 – 37% 25% 32%
Non-U.S. equity securities   17 – 37 14 20
Debt securities (including 

cash equivalents)   10 – 40 31 24
Real estate   4 – 14 12 9
Private equities   5 – 15 12 9
Other   1 – 14 6 6

Plan fiduciaries of the GE Pension Plan set investment policies and 
strategies for the GE Pension Trust and oversee its investment 
allocation, which includes selecting investment managers, com-
missioning periodic asset-liability studies and setting long-term 
strategic targets. Long-term strategic investment objectives include 
preserving the funded status of the plan and balancing risk and 
return. Target allocation ranges are guidelines, not limitations, 
and occasionally plan fiduciaries will approve allocations above 
or below a target range.
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Note 7. 

Provision for Income Taxes

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

GE

Current tax expense   $ 3,844 $2,230 $1,849
Deferred tax expense (benefit) from 

temporary differences   (417) 564 703

      3,427 2,794 2,552

GECS

Current tax expense (benefit)  (1,508) 1,268 456
Deferred tax expense (benefit) from 

temporary differences   (867) 93 936

      (2,375) 1,361 1,392

CONSOLIDATED

Current tax expense   2,336 3,498 2,305
Deferred tax expense (benefit) from 

temporary differences   (1,284) 657 1,639

Total    $ 1,052 $4,155 $3,944

GE and GECS file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. 
The GECS provision for current tax expense includes its effect on 
the consolidated return. The effect of GECS on the consolidated 
liability is settled in cash as GE tax payments are due.

Consolidated U.S. earnings from continuing operations 
before income taxes were $2,259 million in 2008, $8,449 million 
in 2007 and $10,154 million in 2006. The corresponding amounts 
for non-U.S.-based operations were $16,882 million in 2008, 
$18,163 million in 2007 and $13,134 million in 2006.

Consolidated current tax expense includes amounts applicable 
to U.S. federal income taxes of a benefit of $723 million in 2008, 
and expenses of $64 million and $530 million in 2007 and 2006, 
respectively, and amounts applicable to non-U.S. jurisdictions of 
$3,060 million, $3,042 million and $1,549 million in 2008, 2007 
and 2006, respectively. Consolidated deferred taxes related to 
U.S. federal income taxes were a benefit of $827 million in 2008 
and expenses of $776 million and $1,529 million in 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
and their tax bases, as well as from net operating loss and tax 
credit carryforwards, and are stated at enacted tax rates expected 
to be in effect when taxes are actually paid or recovered. Deferred 
income tax assets represent amounts available to reduce income 
taxes payable on taxable income in future years. We evaluate 
the recoverability of these future tax deductions and credits by 
assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from 
all sources, including reversal of taxable temporary differences, 
forecasted operating earnings and available tax planning strate-
gies. To the extent we do not consider it more likely than not 
that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, a valuation allowance 
is established. See Note 21.

In 2009, we estimate that we will amortize $323 million of prior 
service cost and $377 million of net actuarial loss for the princi-
pal pension plans from shareowners’ equity into pension cost. 
For other pension plans, the estimated prior service cost and 
net actuarial loss to be amortized over the next fiscal year are 
$10 million and $125 million, respectively. Comparable amortized 
amounts in 2008, respectively, were $321 million and $237 million 
for principal pension plans and $11 million and $79 million for 
other pension plans.

ESTIMATED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS

         2014 –
(In millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2018

Principal 
pension plans $2,725 $2,800 $2,850 $2,925 $2,950 $16,050

Other 
pension plans 345 350 360 370 375 2,105

Postretirement Benefit Plans

2008 COST OF POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND CHANGES IN EQUITY 

OTHER THAN TRANSACTIONS WITH SHAREOWNERS

    Total Retiree Principal Other
    postretirement benefit pension pension
(In millions) benefit plans plans plans plans

Cost of postretirement 
benefit plans $ 2,182 $ 1,569 $   244 $  369

Changes in equity other 
than transactions with 
shareowners

  Net actuarial loss (gain)—
  current year  $22,094 $  (734) $21,658 $1,170

  Prior service cost —
  current year  16 — — 16

  Prior service cost 
  amortization  (1,005) (673) (321) (11)

  Net actuarial gain 
  (loss) amortization  (267) 49 (237) (79)

Total changes in 
equity other than 
transactions with 
shareowners 20,838 (1,358) 21,100 1,096

Cost of postretirement 
benefit plans and 
changes in equity other 
than transactions with 
shareowners $23,020 $   211 $21,344 $1,465



ge 2008 annual report 69

notes to consolidated financial statements

Annually, we file over 7,500 income tax returns in over 250 
global taxing jurisdictions. We are under examination or engaged 
in tax litigation in many of these jurisdictions. During 2007, the IRS 
completed the audit of our consolidated U.S. income tax returns 
for 2000 – 2002. The IRS is currently auditing our consolidated 
U.S. income tax returns for 2003 – 2007. In addition, certain other 
U.S. tax deficiency issues and refund claims for previous years 
remain unresolved. It is reasonably possible that the 2003 – 2005
U.S. audit cycle will be completed during the next 12 months, 
which could result in a decrease in our balance of “unrecognized 
tax benefits” — that is, the aggregate tax effect of differences 
between tax return positions and the benefits recognized in our 
financial statements. We believe that there are no other jurisdic-
tions in which the outcome of unresolved issues or claims is 
likely to be material to our results of operations, financial position 
or cash flows. We further believe that we have made adequate 
provision for all income tax uncertainties.

The balance of unrecognized tax benefits, the amount of 
related interest and penalties we have provided and what we 
believe to be the range of reasonably possible changes in the 
next 12 months, were:

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Unrecognized tax benefits    $6,692 $6,331
Portion that, if recognized, would reduce tax 

expense and effective tax rate (a)   4,453 4,268
Accrued interest on unrecognized tax benefits  1,204 923
Accrued penalties on unrecognized tax benefits  96 77
Reasonably possible reduction to the balance 

of unrecognized tax benefits in succeeding 
12 months    0 – 1,500 0 – 1,500

Portion that, if recognized, would reduce tax 
expense and effective tax rate (a)   0 – 1,100 0 – 1,250

(a) Some portion of such reduction might be reported as discontinued operations.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrec-
ognized tax benefits is as follows:

(In millions) 2008 2007

Balance at January 1    $6,331 $ 6,806
Additions for tax positions of the current year  553 434
Additions for tax positions of prior years  516 1,439
Reductions for tax positions of prior years  (489) (1,939)
Settlements with tax authorities   (173) (330)
Expiration of the statute of limitations  (46) (79)

Balance at December 31    $6,692 $ 6,331

We classify interest on tax deficiencies as interest expense; we 
classify income tax penalties as provision for income taxes. For the 
year ended December 31, 2008, $268 million of interest expense 
and $19 million of tax expense related to penalties were recognized 
in the statement of earnings, compared with $(279) million and 
$(34) million for the year ended December 31, 2007.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 
to the actual income tax rate is provided below.

Our businesses are subject to regulation under a wide variety 
of U.S. federal, state and foreign tax laws, regulations and policies. 
Changes to these laws or regulations may affect our tax liability, 
return on investments and business operations. For example, 
GE’s effective tax rate is reduced because active business 
income earned and indefinitely reinvested outside the United 
States is taxed at less than the U.S. rate. A significant portion of 
this reduction depends upon a provision of U.S. tax law that 
defers the imposition of U.S. tax on certain active financial ser-
vices income until that income is repatriated to the United States 
as a dividend. This provision is consistent with international tax 
norms and permits U.S. financial services companies to compete 
more effectively with foreign banks and other foreign financial 
institutions in global markets. This provision, currently scheduled 
to expire at the end of 2009, has been scheduled to expire on 
five previous occasions, including October of 2008, but there can 
be no assurance that it will continue to be extended. In the 
event this provision is not extended after 2009, the current U.S. 
tax imposed on active financial services income earned outside 
the United States would increase, making it more difficult for U.S. 
financial services companies to compete in global markets. If this 
provision is not extended, we expect our effective tax rate to 
increase significantly after 2010.

We have not provided U.S. deferred taxes on cumulative earn-
ings of non-U.S. affiliates and associated companies that have 
been reinvested indefinitely. These earnings relate to ongoing 
operations and, at December 31, 2008, were approximately 
$75 billion. Most of these earnings have been reinvested in active 
non-U.S. business operations and we do not intend to use these 
earnings as a source of funding for U.S. operations. Because of 
the availability of U.S. foreign tax credits, it is not practicable to 
determine the U.S. federal income tax liability that would be pay-
able if such earnings were not reinvested indefinitely. Deferred 
taxes are provided for earnings of non-U.S. affiliates and associ-
ated companies when we plan to remit those earnings. During 
2008, because the use of foreign tax credits no longer required 
the repatriation of prior-year earnings, we increased the amount 
of prior-year earnings that were indefinitely reinvested outside 
the U.S. by approximately $1.0 billion, resulting in a decrease to 
the income tax provision of approximately $350 million.

As discussed in Note 1, on January 1, 2007, we adopted a 
new accounting standard, FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in 
Income Taxes, resulting in a $49 million decrease in retained 
earnings, an $89 million decrease in goodwill and a $40 million
decrease in income tax liability.
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RECONCILIATION OF U.S. FEDERAL STATUTORY INCOME TAX RATE TO ACTUAL INCOME TAX RATE

Consolidated GE GECS

    2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate  35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (reduction) in rate resulting from 

Inclusion of after-tax earnings of GECS in 
before-tax earnings of GE — — — (12.6) (17.2) (16.3) — — —

Tax on global activities including exports (a)  (26.9) (15.6) (16.7) (5.3) (5.0) (6.5) (74.4) (21.0) (21.1)
U.S. business credits (1.5) (1.1) (1.4) (0.4) (0.3) (0.4) (3.8) (1.5) (2.2)
SES transaction — (2.1) — — — — — (4.0) —
All other — net (1.1) (0.6) — (0.8) (1.4) (0.1) (0.8) 1.4 0.3

    (29.5) (19.4) (18.1) (19.1) (23.9) (23.3) (79.0) (25.1) (23.0)

Actual income tax rate 5.5% 15.6% 16.9% 15.9% 11.1% 11.7% (44.0)% 9.9% 12.0%

(a) 2008 included (1.8)% and (6.5)% from indefinite reinvestment of prior-year earnings for consolidated and GECS, respectively. 

Note 8. 

Earnings Per Share Information

2008 2007 2006

(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)  Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic

CONSOLIDATED

Earnings from continuing operations for per-share calculation (a)  $18,091 $18,089 $22,457 $22,457 $19,345 $19,344
Preferred stock dividends declared  (75) (75) — — — —

Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common 
shareowners for per-share calculation  $18,016 $18,014 $22,457 $22,457 $19,345 $19,344

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations for per-share calculation  (679) (679) (249) (249) 1,399 1,398
Net earnings attributable to common shareowners for 

per-share calculation  17,336 17,335 22,208 22,208 20,744 20,742

AVERAGE EQUIVALENT SHARES

Shares of GE common stock outstanding  10,080 10,080 10,182 10,182 10,359 10,359
Employee compensation-related shares, including stock options  18 — 36 — 35 —

Total average equivalent shares  10,098 10,080 10,218 10,182 10,394 10,359

PER-SHARE AMOUNTS

Earnings from continuing operations  $  1.78 $  1.79 $  2.20 $  2.21 $  1.86 $  1.87
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  (0.07) (0.07) (0.02) (0.02) 0.13 0.14
Net earnings per share  1.72 1.72 2.17 2.18 2.00 2.00

(a) Included an insignificant amount of dividend equivalents in each of the three years ended December 31, 2008.

Earnings-per-share amounts are computed independently for 
earnings from continuing operations, earnings (loss) from dis-
continued operations and net earnings. As a result , the sum of 

per-share amounts from continuing operations and discontinued 
operations may not equal the total per-share amounts for net 
earnings.
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Note 9. 

Investment Securities

Investment securities comprise mainly investment-grade debt securities supporting obligations to annuitants and policyholders in our 
run-off insurance operations and holders of guaranteed investment contracts.

2008 2007

    Gross Gross Gross Gross
    Amortized unrealized unrealized Estimated Amortized unrealized unrealized Estimated
December 31 (In millions)  cost gains losses fair value cost gains losses fair value

GE

Debt — U.S. corporate  $   182 $ — $ — $   182 $   301 $   23 $ — $   324
Equity — available-for-sale  32 — (1) 31 21 3 (5) 19

    214 — (1) 213 322 26 (5) 343

GECS

Debt
U.S. corporate  22,183 512 (2,477) 20,218 21,896 725 (669) 21,952
State and municipal  1,556 19 (94) 1,481 1,106 28 (8) 1,126
Residential mortgage-backed (a)  5,326 70 (1,052) 4,344 5,677 22 (225) 5,474
Commercial mortgage-backed  2,910 14 (788) 2,136 2,930 15 (49) 2,896
Asset-backed  2,881 1 (691) 2,191 2,307 3 (89) 2,221
Corporate — non-U.S.  1,441 14 (166) 1,289 1,489 47 (11) 1,525
Government — non-U.S.  1,300 61 (19) 1,342 1,082 70 (10) 1,142
U.S. government and federal agency  739 65 (100) 704 832 55 (37) 850

Retained interests (b) (c)  6,395 113 (152) 6,356 5,579 178 (57) 5,700
Equity

Available-for-sale  921 26 (160) 787 1,524 265 (120) 1,669
Trading  388 — — 388 386 — — 386

    46,040 895 (5,699) 41,236 44,808 1,408 (1,275) 44,941

ELIMINATIONS  (7) — 4 (3) (7) (1) — (8)

Total  $46,247 $895 $(5,696) $41,446 $45,123 $1,433 $(1,280) $45,276

(a) Substantially collateralized by U.S. mortgages.

(b) Included $1,752 million and $2,227 million of retained interests at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, accounted for in accordance with SFAS 155, Accounting for 
Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments. See Note 30.

(c) Amortized cost and estimated fair value included $20 million and $25 million of trading securities at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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Of our residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) at 
December 31, 2008, we had approximately $1,310 million of 
exposure to residential subprime credit, primarily supporting our 
guaranteed investment contracts, a majority of which have 
received investment-grade credit ratings from the major rating 
agencies. Of the total residential subprime credit exposure, 
$1,093 million was insured by monoline insurers. Our subprime 
investment securities were collateralized primarily by pools of 
individual, direct mortgage loans, not other structured products 
such as collateralized debt obligations. Additionally, a majority 
of exposure to residential subprime credit was investment 
securities with underlying loans originated in 2006 and 2005. 
At December 31, 2008, we had approximately $2,853 million of 
exposure to commercial, regional and foreign banks, primarily 
relating to corporate debt securities, with associated unrealized 
losses of $373 million.

We presently intend to hold our investment securities that 
are in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2008, at least 
until we can recover their respective amortized cost. We have 
the ability to hold our debt securities until their maturities. In 
reaching the conclusion that these investments are not other-
than-temporarily impaired, consideration was given to research 
by our internal and third-party asset managers. With respect to 
corporate bonds, we placed greater emphasis on the credit quality 
of the issuers. With respect to RMBS and commercial mortgage-
backed securities (CMBS), we placed greater emphasis on our 
expectations with respect to cash flows from the underlying 
collateral, and with respect to RMBS, we considered the availability 
of credit enhancements, principally monoline insurance.

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF GECS INVESTMENT IN AVAILABLE-

FOR-SALE DEBT SECURITIES (EXCLUDING MORTGAGE-BACKED AND

ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES)

    Amortized Estimated
(In millions) cost fair value

Due in
2009    $ 1,820 $ 1,777
2010–2013    4,999 4,634
2014–2018    3,841 3,366
2019 and later    16,559 15,257

We expect actual maturities to differ from contractual maturities 
because borrowers have the right to call or prepay certain 
obligations.

The following tables present the gross unrealized losses and esti-
mated fair values of our available-for-sale investment securities.

In loss position for

Less than 12 months 12 months or more

    Gross Gross
    Estimated unrealized Estimated unrealized
December 31 (In millions)  fair value losses fair value losses

2008

Debt
U.S. corporate  $ 6,602 $(1,108) $ 5,629 $(1,369)
State and municipal  570 (44) 278 (50)
Residential mortgage-

backed 1,355 (107) 1,614 (945)
Commercial mortgage-

backed 774 (184) 1,218 (604)
Asset-backed  1,064 (419) 1,063 (272)
Corporate — non-U.S.  454 (106) 335 (60)
Government — non-U.S.  88 (4) 275 (15)
U.S. government and 

federal agency  — — 150 (100)
Retained interests  1,403 (71) 274 (81)
Equity 268 (153) 9 (4)

Total  $12,578 $(2,196) $10,845 $(3,500)

2007
Debt

U.S. corporate  $ 5,766 $  (274) $ 4,341 $  (395)
State and municipal  198 (3) 131 (5)
Residential mortgage-

backed 3,268 (160) 1,223 (65)
Commercial mortgage-

backed 1,483 (33) 848 (16)
Asset-backed  1,417 (62) 478 (27)
Corporate — non-U.S.  505 (8) 124 (3)
Government — non-U.S . 29 (1) 311 (9)
U .S. government and 

federal agency  255 (37) — —
Retained interests  548 (50) 10 (7)
Equity 443 (105) 18 (20)

Total  $13,912 $  (733) $ 7,484 $  (547)

Investment securities amounted to $41,446 million at December 31, 
2008, compared with $45,276 million at December 31, 2007. Most 
of our investment securities relate to our run-off insurance oper-
ations and our issuances of guaranteed investment contracts. 
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GE receivables balances at December 31, 2008 and 2007, before 
allowance for losses, included $11,274 million and $11,008 million, 
respectively, from sales of goods and services to customers, and 
$293 million and $381 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively, from transactions with associated companies.

GE current receivables of $231 million and $252 million at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, arose from sales, prin-
cipally of Aviation goods and services on open account to various 
agencies of the U.S. government, our largest single customer. 
About 5% of GE sales of goods and services were to the U.S. 
government in 2008, compared with 4% in both 2007 and 2006.

Note 11. 

Inventories

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

GE

Raw materials and work in process   $ 8,710 $ 7,893
Finished goods    5,032 5,025
Unbilled shipments    561 539

       14,303 13,457
Less revaluation to LIFO    (706) (623)

      13,597 12,834

GECS

Finished goods    77 63

Total      $13,674 $12,897

Note 12. 

GECS Financing Receivables (investments in loans 
and financing leases)

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Loans, net of deferred income   $310,203 $313,290
Investment in financing leases, 

net of deferred income    67,578 75,015

       377,781 388,305
Less allowance for losses (Note 13)   (5,325) (4,238)

Financing receivables — net   $372,456 $384,067

Included in the above are $6,461 million and $9,708 million of the 
financing receivables of consolidated, liquidating securitization 
entities at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. In addition, 
financing receivables at December 31, 2008, included $2,736 mil-
lion relating to loans that had been acquired and accounted for in 
accordance with SOP 03-3, Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt 
Securities Acquired in a Transfer.

Supplemental information about gross realized gains and 
losses on available-for-sale investment securities follows.

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

GE

Gains   $ — $    5 $ 125
Losses, including impairments  (148) — (1)

Net    (148) 5 124

GECS

Gains (a)   212 1,026 313
Losses, including impairments  (1,472) (141) (181)

Net    (1,260) 885 132

Total    $(1,408) $  890 $ 256

(a) Included gain on sale of Swiss Re common stock of $566 million in 2007.

In the ordinary course of managing our investment securities 
portfolio, we may sell securities prior to their maturities for a 
variety of reasons, including diversification, credit quality, yield and 
liquidity requirements and the funding of claims and obligations 
to policyholders.

Proceeds from investment securities sales amounted to 
$5,239 million, $18,993 million and $12,394 million in 2008, 2007 
and 2006, respectively, principally from the short-term nature of 
the investments that support the guaranteed investment contracts 
portfolio and the 2007 sale of Swiss Re common stock.

We recognized pre-tax gains on trading securities of $108 mil-
lion, $292 million and $5 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively. Investments in retained interests decreased by $113 million 
and $102 million during 2008 and 2007, respectively, reflecting 
declines in fair value accounted for in accordance with SFAS 155.

Note 10. 

Current Receivables

Consolidated (a) GE

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2008 2007

Energy Infrastructure  $ 7,403 $ 7,065 $ 6,409 $ 5,934
Technology Infrastructure  9,214 9,149 5,687 5,443
NBC Universal 3,659 3,800 2,701 2,927
Consumer & Industrial  1,498 2,238 513 630
Corporate items and 

eliminations 296 526 381 642

    22,070 22,778 15,691 15,576
Less allowance for losses  (659) (519) (627) (483)

Total  $21,411 $22,259 $15,064 $15,093

(a) Included GE industrial customer receivables factored through a GECS affiliate and 
reported as financing receivables by GECS. See Note 26.
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NET INVESTMENT IN FINANCING LEASES

Total financing leases  Direct financing leases (a) Leveraged leases (b)

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Total minimum lease payments receivable  $ 81,115 $ 92,137 $63,309 $ 72,399 $ 17,806 $ 19,738
Less principal and interest on third-party nonrecourse debt  (12,720) (14,102) — — (12,720) (14,102)

Net rentals receivable  68,395 78,035 63,309 72,399 5,086 5,636
Estimated unguaranteed residual value of leased assets  10,255 10,306 7,425 7,500 2,830 2,806
Less deferred income  (11,072) (13,326) (8,733) (10,650) (2,339) (2,676)

Investment in financing leases, net of deferred income  67,578 75,015 62,001 69,249 5,577 5,766
Less amounts to arrive at net investment

Allowance for losses  (498) (571) (440) (559) (58) (12)
Deferred taxes  (7,317) (7,089) (3,082) (2,654) (4,235) (4,435)

Net investment in financing leases  $ 59,763 $ 67,355 $58,479 $ 66,036 $  1,284 $  1,319

(a)  Included $824 million and $802 million of initial direct costs on direct financing leases at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(b) Included pre-tax income of $268 million and $412 million and income tax of $106 million and $156 million during 2008 and 2007, respectively. Net investment credits 
recognized on leveraged leases during 2008 and 2007 were inconsequential.

Details of GECS financing receivables — net follow. 

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

COMMERCIAL LENDING AND LEASING (CLL)

Equipment and leasing and other   $ 99,769 $ 96,817
Commercial and industrial    64,332 58,863

       164,101 155,680

GE MONEY

Non-U.S. residential mortgages (a)   59,595 73,042
Non-U.S. installment and revolving credit  24,441 34,669
U.S. installment and revolving credit   27,645 27,914
Non-U.S. auto    18,168 27,368
Other    9,244 10,198

       139,093 173,191

REAL ESTATE    46,735 32,228

ENERGY FINANCIAL SERVICES   8,392 7,898

GE COMMERCIAL AVIATION SERVICES (GECAS) (b)  15,429 14,197

OTHER (c)    4,031 5,111

      377,781 388,305
Less allowance for losses    (5,325) (4,238)

Total     $372,456 $384,067

(a) At December 31, 2008, net of credit insurance, approximately 26% of this portfolio 
comprised loans with introductory, below market rates that are scheduled to adjust 
at future dates; with high loan-to-value ratios at inception; whose terms permitted 
interest-only payments; or whose terms resulted in negative amortization. At the 
origination date, loans with an adjustable rate were underwritten to the reset value.

(b) Included loans and financing leases of $13,078 million and $11,685 million at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, related to commercial aircraft at 
Aviation Financial Services. 

(c) Included loans and financing leases of $4,031 million and $5,106 million at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, related to certain consolidated, liqui-
dating securitization entities.

GECS financing receivables include both loans and financing 
leases. Loans represent transactions in a variety of forms, includ-
ing revolving charge and credit, mortgages, installment loans, 
intermediate-term loans and revolving loans secured by business 
assets. The portfolio includes loans carried at the principal 
amount on which finance charges are billed periodically, and 
loans carried at gross book value, which includes finance charges.

Investment in financing leases consists of direct financing 
and leveraged leases of aircraft, railroad rolling stock, autos, other 
transportation equipment, data processing equipment, medical 
equipment, commercial real estate and other manufacturing, 
power generation, and commercial equipment and facilities.

For federal income tax purposes, the leveraged leases and the 
majority of the direct financing leases are leases in which GECS 
depreciates the leased assets and is taxed upon the accrual of 
rental income. Certain direct financing leases are loans for federal 
income tax purposes. For these transactions, GECS is taxable 
only on the portion of each payment that constitutes interest, 
unless the interest is tax-exempt (e.g., certain obligations of state 
governments). 

Investment in direct financing and leveraged leases represents 
net unpaid rentals and estimated unguaranteed residual values 
of leased equipment, less related deferred income. GECS has no 
general obligation for principal and interest on notes and other 
instruments representing third-party participation related to lev-
eraged leases; such notes and other instruments have not been 
included in liabilities but have been offset against the related 
rentals receivable. The GECS share of rentals receivable on lever-
aged leases is subordinate to the share of other participants who 
also have security interests in the leased equipment.

For federal income tax purposes, GECS is entitled to deduct 
the interest expense accruing on nonrecourse financing related 
to leveraged leases.
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES

    Net rentals 
(In millions) Total loans receivable

Due in
2009 $ 86,957 $19,819
2010 36,970 13,725
2011 30,902 10,624
2012 26,421 7,150
2013 21,624 4,752
2014 and later  107,329 12,325

Total  $310,203 $68,395

We expect actual maturities to differ from contractual maturities. 

Individually impaired loans are defined by GAAP as larger 
balance or restructured loans for which it is probable that the 
lender will be unable to collect all amounts due according to 
original contractual terms of the loan agreement. An analysis of 
impaired loans follows.

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Loans requiring allowance for losses  $2,712 $  986
Loans expected to be fully recoverable  871 391

Total impaired loans  $3,583 $1,377

Allowance for losses  $  635 $  361
Average investment during year  2,064 1,576
Interest income earned while impaired (a)  27 19

(a) Recognized principally on cash basis.

Note 13. 

GECS Allowance for Losses on Financing Receivables

    Provision Balance
    Balance charged to Currency Gross December 31,
(In millions) January 1, 2008 operations exchange Other (a) write-offs Recoveries 2008

CLL

Equipment and leasing and other  $  661 $  838 $  24 $  91 $  (815) $   95 $  894
Commercial and industrial  276 544 (12) 4 (416) 19 415

GE MONEY

Non-U.S. residential mortgages  246 323 (40) 2 (218) 69 382
Non-U.S. installment and revolving credit  1,371 1,748 (194) (223) (2,551) 900 1,051
U.S. installment and revolving credit  985 3,217 — (624) (2,173) 295 1,700
Non-U.S. auto  324 376 (48) (76) (637) 283 222
Other 162 220 (17) 28 (248) 69 214

REAL ESTATE  168 135 (7) 16 (12) 1 301
ENERGY FINANCIAL SERVICES  19 36 — 3 — — 58
GECAS 8 53 — — (1) — 60
OTHER 18 28 — — (18) — 28

TOTAL $4,238 $7,518 $(294) $(779) $(7,089) $1,731 $5,325

(a) Other primarily included the effects of acquisitions, dispositions, reclassifications to held for sale and securitization activity. 
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    Provision Balance
    Balance charged to Currency Gross December 31,
(In millions) January 1, 2007 operations exchange Other (a) write-offs Recoveries 2007

CLL

Equipment and leasing and other  $  427 $  309 $  25 $ 207 $  (422) $  115 $  661
Commercial and industrial  314 192 10 (36) (230) 26 276

GE MONEY

Non-U.S. residential mortgages  415 (139) 10 (3) (129) 92 246
Non-U.S. installment and revolving credit  1,253 1,669 92 (115) (2,324) 796 1,371
U.S. installment and revolving credit  876 1,960 — (703) (1,505) 357 985
Non-U.S. auto  279 279 23 34 (653) 362 324
Other 158 122 4 6 (198) 70 162

REAL ESTATE  155 24 3 3 (25) 8 168
ENERGY FINANCIAL SERVICES  29 (10) — — — — 19
GECAS 15 16 — — (23) — 8
OTHER 24 9 — — (17) 2 18

TOTAL $3,945 $4,431 $ 167 $(607) $(5,526) $1,828 $4,238

(a) Other primarily included the effects of acquisitions and securitization activity. 

    Provision Balance
    Balance charged to Currency Gross December 31,
(In millions) January 1, 2006 operations exchange Other (a) write-offs Recoveries 2006

CLL

Equipment and leasing and other  $  590 $   67 $   9 $  (8) $  (369) $  138 $  427
Commercial and industrial  338 57 10 13 (155) 51 314

GE MONEY

Non-U.S. residential mortgages  397 69 34 (8) (177) 100 415
Non-U.S. installment and revolving credit  1,060 1,382 60 36 (2,010) 725 1,253
U.S. installment and revolving credit  701 1,175 — (217) (1,045) 262 876
Non-U.S. auto  238 284 24 12 (591) 312 279
Other 165 80 18 8 (184) 71 158

REAL ESTATE  189 (5) 1 4 (39) 5 155
ENERGY FINANCIAL SERVICES  41 (12) — — — — 29
GECAS 179 (52) — — (112) — 15
OTHER 22 17 — 12 (29) 2 24

TOTAL $3,920 $3,062 $ 156 $(148) $(4,711) $1,666 $3,945

(a) Other primarily included the effects of acquisitions and securitization activity. 

See Note 12 for amounts related to consolidated, liquidating securitization entities.
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Amortization of GECS equipment leased to others was $8,173 mil-
lion, $7,222 million and $5,839 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Noncancellable future rentals due from customers 
for equipment on operating leases at December 31, 2008, are as 
follows:

(In millions)

Due in
2009     $ 9,103
2010     7,396
2011     5,542
2012     4,157
2013     3,109
2014 and later     8,714

Total      $38,021

Note 15. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

GOODWILL

GE $56,394 $55,689
GECS 25,365 25,427

Total  $81,759 $81,116

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GE

Intangible assets subject to amortization  $ 9,010 $ 9,278
Indefinite-lived intangible assets ( a)  2,354 2,355

    11,364 11,633

GECS

Intangible assets subject to amortization  3,613 4,509

Total  $14,977 $16,142

(a) Indefinite-lived intangible assets principally comprised trademarks, tradenames 
and U.S. Federal Communications Commission licenses.

Note 14. 

Property, Plant and Equipment

    Depreciable
December 31 (Dollars in millions) lives-new (in years) 2008 2007 

ORIGINAL COST

GE

Land and improvements  8 (a) $    738 $    698
Buildings, structures and 

related equipment  8–40 7,354 7,700
Machinery and equipment  4–20 22,114 20,569
Leasehold costs and manufacturing 

plant under construction  1–10 2,305 2,121

    32,511 31,088

GECS (b)

Land and improvements, buildings, 
structures and related equipment 2–40 (a) 7,076 6,051

Equipment leased to others
  Aircraft  20 40,478 37,271
  Vehicles  1–14 32,098 32,079
  Railroad rolling stock  5–36 4,402 3,866
  Construction and manufacturing 2–25 3,363 3,031
  Mobile equipment  12–25 2,954 2,964
  All other  2–40 2,789 2,961

    93,160 88,223

Total  $125,671 $119,311

NET CARRYING VALUE

GE

Land and improvements  $    705 $    612
Buildings, structures and 

related equipment  3,768 4,101
Machinery and equipment  7,999 7,634
Leasehold costs and manufacturing 
  plant under construction  1,961 1,795

    14,433 14,142

GECS (b)

Land and improvements, buildings, 
structures and related equipment  4,527 3,703

Equipment leased to others
  Aircraft (c)  32,288 30,414
  Vehicles  18,149 20,701
  Railroad rolling stock  2,915 2,789
  Construction and manufacturing  2,333 2,055
  Mobile equipment  2,022 1,976
  All other  1,863 2,108

    64,097 63,746

Total  $ 78,530 $ 77,888

(a) Depreciable lives exclude land.

(b) Included $1,748 million and $1,513 million of original cost of assets leased to GE 
with accumulated amortization of $491 million and $315 million at December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively.

(c) The GECAS business of Capital Finance recognized impairment losses of $72 million
in 2008 and $110 million in 2007 recorded in the caption “Other costs and expenses” 
in the Statement of Earnings to reflect adjustments to fair value based on current 
market values from independent appraisers.
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Goodwill balances increased $3,694 million in 2008 from new 
acquisitions. The most significant increases related to acquisitions 
of Hydril Pressure Control ($725 million) at Energy Infrastructure, 
Merrill Lynch Capital ($643 million) at Capital Finance, Vital Signs 
($594 million) and Whatman plc. ($592 million) at Technology 
Infrastructure, Bank BPH ($470 million) at Capital Finance, CDM 
Resource Management, Ltd. ($229 million) at Capital Finance and 
CitiCapital ($166 million) at Capital Finance. During 2008, the 
goodwill balance increased by $599 million related to purchase 
accounting adjustments for prior-year acquisitions. The most 
significant of these adjustments were increases of $267 million
and $171 million associated with the 2007 acquisitions of Oxygen 
Media Corp. by NBC Universal and Sanyo Electric Credit Co., Ltd. 
by Capital Finance, respectively. In 2008, goodwill balances 
decreased $2,639 million as a result of the stronger U.S. dollar.

Goodwill balances increased $9,028 million in 2007 from new 
acquisitions. The most significant increases related to acquisitions 
of Smiths Aerospace Group Ltd. ($3,877 million) by Technology 
Infrastructure; Vetco Gray ($1,379 million) by Energy Infrastructure; 
Diskont und Kredit AG and Disko Leasing GmbH (DISKO) and ASL 
Auto Service-Leasing GmbH (ASL), the leasing businesses of KG 
Allgemeine Leasing GmbH & Co. ($694 million) by Capital Finance; 
Oxygen Media ($604 million) by NBC Universal; and Sanyo Electric 
Credit Co., Ltd. ($548 million) by Capital Finance. During 2007, the 
goodwill balance declined by $269 million related to purchase 
accounting adjustments for prior-year acquisitions.

Changes in goodwill balances follow.

2008 2007

    Acquisitions/ Dispositions, Acquisitions/ Dispositions,
    purchase currency purchase currency
    Balance accounting exchange Balance Balance accounting exchange Balance
(In millions) January 1 adjustments and other December 31 January 1 (a) adjustments and other December 31

Energy Infrastructure  $ 9,960 $  750 $  (767) $ 9,943 $ 7,956 $1,818 $  186 $ 9,960
Technology Infrastructure  26,130 1,116 (562) 26,684 22,043 4,292 (205) 26,130
NBC Universal  18,733 403 (163) 18,973 18,000 733 — 18,733
Capital Finance  25,427 2,024 (2,086) 25,365 22,754 1,938 735 25,427
Consumer & Industrial  866 — (72) 794 557 (22) 331 866

Total  $81,116 $4,293 $(3,650) $81,759 $71,310 $8,759 $1,047 $81,116

(a) January 1, 2007, balance decreased by $89 million related to new accounting standards. See Note 1.

Upon closing an acquisition, we estimate the fair values of 
assets and liabilities acquired and consolidate the acquisition as 
quickly as possible. Given the time it takes to obtain pertinent 
information to finalize the acquired company’s balance sheet, 
then to adjust the acquired company’s accounting policies, 
procedures, and books and records to our standards, it is often 
several quarters before we are able to finalize those initial fair 
value estimates. Accordingly, it is not uncommon for our initial 
estimates to be subsequently revised.

We test goodwill for impairment at least annually. Given the 
significant changes in the business climate for financial services 
and our stated strategy to reduce our Capital Finance ending 
net investment, we re-tested goodwill for impairment at the 
reporting units within Capital Finance during the fourth quarter 
of 2008. In performing this analysis, we revised our estimated 
future cash flows and discount rates, as appropriate, to reflect 
current market conditions in the financial services industry. In 
each case, no impairment was indicated. Reporting units within 
Capital Finance are CLL, GE Money, Real Estate, Energy Financial 
Services and GECAS, which had goodwill balances at December 31, 
2008 of $12,784 million, $9,081 million, $1,183 million, $2,162 mil-
lion and $155 million, respectively.
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Note 16. 

All Other Assets

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

GE

Investments
Associated companies  $  2,785 $  1,871
Other 608 633

    3,393 2,504
Contract costs and estimated earnings  5,999 5,983
Film and television costs  4,667 4,143
Long-term receivables, including notes (a)  2,613 2,331
Derivative instruments  527 889
Pension asset — principal plans  — 20,190
Other (b)  5,236 4,568

    22,435 40,608

GECS

Investments
Real estate (c) (d)  36,679 40,488
Associated companies  18,694 17,025
Assets held for sale (e)  5,038 10,690
Cost method (d)  2,482 2,742
Other 1,854 1,018

    64,747 71,963
Derivative instruments  12,115 3,271
Advances to suppliers  2,187 2,046
Deferred acquisition costs  1,230 1,282
Other (b)  5,442 4,830

    85,721 83,392

ELIMINATIONS  (1,257) (1,152)

Total  $106,899 $122,848

(a) Included loans to GECS of $1,038 million and $1,132 million at December 31, 2008 
and 2007, respectively.

(b) Included $494 million at December 31, 2008, of unamortized fees related to our 
participation in the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program and the Commercial 
Paper Funding Facility.

(c) GECS investment in real estate consisted principally of two categories: real estate 
held for investment and equity method investments. Both categories contained a 
wide range of properties including the following at December 31, 2008: office 
buildings (45%), apartment buildings (17%), industrial properties (11%), retail facilities 
(9%), franchise properties (7%), parking facilities (2%) and other (9%). At December 31, 
2008, investments were located in the Americas (47%), Europe (31%) and Asia (22%).

(d) The fair value of and unrealized loss on cost method investments in a continuous 
loss position for less than 12 months at December 31, 2008, were $565 million and 
$98 million, respectively. The fair value of and unrealized loss on cost method 
investments in a continuous loss position for 12 months or more at December 31, 
2008, were $64 million and $4 million, respectively. The fair value of and unrealized 
loss on cost method investments in a continuous loss position for less than 12 
months at December 31, 2007, were $546 million and $93 million, respectively. The 
fair value of and unrealized loss on cost method investments in a continuous loss 
position for 12 months or more at December 31, 2007, were $18 million and 
$8 million, respectively.

(e) Assets were classified as held for sale on the date a decision was made to dispose 
of them through sale, securitization or other means. Such assets consisted primar-
ily of credit card receivables, loans and real estate properties, and were accounted 
for at the lower of carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell. These 
amounts are net of valuation allowances of $112 million and $153 million at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS SUBJECT TO AMORTIZATION

    Gross
    carrying Accumulated
December 31 (In millions)  amount amortization Net

GE

2008

Customer-related  $ 4,551 $  (900) $3,651
Patents, licenses and trademarks 4,751 (1,690) 3,061
Capitalized software 4,706 (2,723) 1,983
All other  470 (155) 315

Total  $14,478 $(5,468) $9,010

2007
Customer-related  $ 4,526 $  (698) $3,828
Patents, licenses and trademarks 4,561 (1,369) 3,192
Capitalized software 4,573 (2,589) 1,984
All other  436 (162) 274

Total  $14,096 $(4,818) $9,278

GECS

2008

Customer-related  $ 1,746 $  (613) $1,133
Patents, licenses and trademarks 589 (460) 129
Capitalized software 2,170 (1,476) 694
Lease valuations  1,805 (594) 1,211
Present value of future profits  831 (401) 430
All other  181 (165) 16

Total  $ 7,322 $(3,709) $3,613

2007
Customer-related  $ 2,395 $  (869) $1,526
Patents, licenses and trademarks 428 (309) 119
Capitalized software 1,832 (1,095) 737
Lease valuations  1,841 (360) 1,481
Present value of future profits  818 (364) 454
All other  347 (155) 192

Total    $ 7,661 $(3,152) $4,509

During 2008, we recorded additions to intangible assets subject 
to amortization of $2,029 million. The components of finite-lived 
intangible assets acquired during 2008 and their respective 
weighted-average amortizable period are: $756 million—Customer-
related (17.1 years); $382 million—Patents, licenses and trademarks 
(17.4 years); $765 million — Capitalized software (4.4 years); 
$38 million—Lease valuations (8.7 years); and $88 million—All other 
(9.4 years).

Consolidated amortization related to intangible assets subject 
to amortization was $2,091 million and $2,071 million for 2008 
and 2007, respectively. We estimate that annual pre-tax amorti-
zation for intangible assets subject to amortization over the next 
five calendar years to be as follows: 2009 — $1,772 million;
2010—$1,541 million; 2011—$1,326 million; 2012—$1,145 million; 
2013 — $957 million.
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Note 18. 

Borrowings

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

2008 2007

    Average Average
December 31 (Dollars in millions)  Amount rate (a) Amount rate (a)

GE

Commercial paper
U.S. $ — —% $  1,798 4.73%
Non-U.S.  1 7.82 1 4.00

Payable to banks  78 2.91 189 5.07
Current portion of 

long-term debt  1,703 0.84 1,547 5.36
Other 593  571

    2,375  4,106

GECS

Commercial paper
U.S.

  Unsecured (b)  62,768 2.12 72,392 4.69
  Asset-backed (c) 3,652 2.57 4,775 4.94

Non-U.S.  9,033 4.12 28,711 4.99
Current portion of 

long-term debt (d)  69,682 3.83 56,301 5.01
Bank deposits (e) (f)  29,634 3.47 11,486 3.04
Bank borrowings (g)  10,028 2.75 6,915 5.31
GE Interest Plus notes (h) 5,633 3.58 9,590 5.23
Other 3,103  2,250

    193,533  192,420

ELIMINATIONS  (2,213)  (1,426)

Total  $193,695  $195,100

(a) Based on year-end balances and year-end local currency interest rates. Current 
portion of long-term debt included the effects of related interest rate and currency 
swaps, if any, directly associated with the original debt issuance.

(b) At December 31, 2008, GE Capital had issued and outstanding, $21,823 million of 
senior, unsecured debt that was guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) under the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program. GE Capital 
and GE entered into an Eligible Entity Designation Agreement and GE Capital is 
subject to the terms of a Master Agreement, each entered into with the FDIC. The 
terms of these agreements include, among other things, a requirement that GE 
and GE Capital reimburse the FDIC for any amounts that the FDIC pays to holders 
of debt that is guaranteed by the FDIC.

(c) Consists entirely of obligations of consolidated, liquidating securitization entities. 
See Note 12.

(d) Included $326 million and $1,106 million related to asset-backed senior notes, 
issued by consolidated, liquidating securitization entities at December 31, 2008 
and 2007, respectively.

(e) Included $11,793 million and $10,789 million of deposits in non-U.S. banks at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(f) Included certificates of deposits distributed by brokers of $17,841 million and 
$697 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(g) Term borrowings from banks with a remaining term to maturity of less than 
12 months.

(h) Entirely variable denomination floating rate demand notes.

Note 17. 

Assets and Liabilities of Businesses Held for Sale

On January 7, 2009, we exchanged our GE Money businesses in 
Austria and Finland, the credit card and auto businesses in the U.K., 
and the credit card business in Ireland for a 100% ownership 
interest in Interbanca S.p.A., a leading Italian corporate bank. Assets 
and liabilities of $7,887 million and $636 million, respectively, were 
classified as held for sale at December 31, 2008; we recognized a 
$184 million loss, net of tax, related to the classification of the 
assets held for sale at lower of carrying amount or estimated fair 
value less costs to sell.

On December 24, 2008, we committed to sell a portion of 
our Australian residential mortgage business, including certain 
underlying mortgage receivables, and expect to complete this 
sale during the first quarter of 2009. Assets of $2,669 million 
were classified as held for sale at December 31, 2008 (liabilities 
were insignificant); we recognized a $38 million loss, net of tax, 
related to the classification of the assets held for sale at lower 
of carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell.

Summarized financial information is shown below.

December 31 (In millions)  2008

ASSETS

Cash and equivalents     $    35
Financing receivables — net    9,915
Intangible assets — net     394
Other     212

Assets of businesses held for sale    $10,556

LIABILITIES

Liabilities of businesses held for sale    $   636
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Committed credit lines totaling $60.0 billion had been extended 
to us by 65 banks at year-end 2008. Availability of these lines is 
shared between GE and GECS with $12.6 billion and $60.0 billion
available to GE and GECS, respectively. The GECS lines include 
$37.4 billion of revolving credit agreements under which we can 
borrow funds for periods exceeding one year. Additionally, 
$21.3 billion are 364-day lines that contain a term-out feature 
that allows GE or GECS to extend the borrowings for one year 
from the date of expiration of the lending agreement. We pay 
banks for credit facilities, but amounts were insignificant in each 
of the past three years.

INTEREST RATE AND CURRENCY RISK is managed through the direct 
issuance of debt or use of derivatives. We take positions in view 
of anticipated behavior of assets, including prepayment behavior. 
We use a variety of instruments, including interest rate and cur-
rency swaps and currency forwards, to achieve our interest rate 
objectives.

The following table provides additional information about 
derivatives designated as hedges of borrowings in accordance 
with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities, as amended.

DERIVATIVE FAIR VALUES BY ACTIVITY/INSTRUMENT

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Cash flow hedges    $(4,529) $   497
Fair value hedges    8,304 (75)

Total    $ 3,775 $   422

Interest rate swaps   $ 3,425 $(1,559)
Currency swaps    350 1,981

Total    $ 3,775 $   422

We regularly assess the effectiveness of all hedge positions 
where required using a variety of techniques, including cumula-
tive dollar offset and regression analysis, depending on which 
method was selected at inception of the respective hedge. 
Adjustments related to fair value hedges increased the carrying 
amount of debt outstanding at December 31, 2008, by 
$9,127 million. At December 31, 2008, the maximum term of 
derivative instruments that hedge forecasted transactions was 
27 years. See Note 29.

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

   2008
    Average
December 31 (Dollars in millions) rate (a) Maturities 2008 2007

GE

Senior notes 5.11% 2013–2017 $  8,962 $  8,957
Industrial development/

pollution control bonds 1.10 2011–2027 264 266
Payable to banks, 

principally U.S. 6.93 2010–2023 317 1,988
Other (b) 284 445

    9,827 11,656

GECS

Senior notes
Unsecured (c) 4.80 2010–2055 299,186 283,097
Asset-backed (d) 5.12 2010–2035 5,002 5,528

Extendible notes — — — 8,500
Subordinated notes (e) 5.70 2012–2037 2,866 3,313
Subordinated debentures (f) 6.00 2066–2067 7,315 8,064
Bank deposits (g) 4.49 2010–2018 6,699 —

    321,068 308,502

ELIMINATIONS (828) (1,145)

Total  $330,067 $319,013

(a) Based on year-end balances and year-end local currency interest rates, including 
the effects of related interest rate and currency swaps, if any, directly associated 
with the original debt issuance.

(b) A variety of obligations having various interest rates and maturities, including 
certain borrowings by parent operating components and affiliates.

(c) At December 31, 2008, GE Capital had issued and outstanding, $13,420 million of 
senior, unsecured debt that was guaranteed by the FDIC under the Temporary 
Liquidity Guarantee Program. GE Capital and GE entered into an Eligible Entity 
Designation Agreement and GE Capital is subject to the terms of a Master Agreement, 
each entered into with the FDIC. The terms of these agreements include, among 
other things, a requirement that GE and GE Capital reimburse the FDIC for any 
amounts that the FDIC pays to holders of debt that is guaranteed by the FDIC.

(d) Included $2,104 million and $3,410 million of asset-backed senior notes, issued by 
consolidated, liquidating securitization entities at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. See Note 12.

(e) Included $750 million of subordinated notes guaranteed by GE at December 31, 
2008 and 2007.

(f) Subordinated debentures receive rating agency equity credit and were hedged at 
issuance to the U.S. dollar equivalent of $7,725 million.

(g) Entirely certificates of deposits with maturities greater than one year.

Our borrowings are addressed below from the perspectives of 
liquidity, interest rate and currency risk management. Additional 
information about borrowings and associated swaps can be 
found in Note 29.

LIQUIDITY is affected by debt maturities and our ability to repay 
or refinance such debt. Long-term debt maturities over the next 
five years follow.

(In millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

GE   $ 1,703 $    44 $    65 $    32 $ 5,022
GECS  69,682 (a) 62,894 52,835 47,573 27,426

(a) Fixed and floating rate notes of $734 million contain put options with exercise 
dates in 2009, and which have final maturity beyond 2013.
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Note 20. 

All Other Liabilities

This caption includes liabilities for various items including non-
current compensation and benefits, deferred income, interest on 
tax liabilities, unrecognized tax benefits, accrued participation and 
residuals, environmental remediation, asset retirement obligations, 
derivative instruments, product warranties and a variety of sun-
dry items.

Accruals for non-current compensation and benefits amounted 
to $22,543 million and $22,322 million for year-end 2008 and 
2007, respectively. These amounts include postretirement benefits, 
pension accruals, and other compensation and benefit accruals 
such as deferred incentive compensation. The increase in 2008 
was primarily the result of an increase in pension accruals, partially 
offset by a decrease in accrued deferred incentive compensation 
and benefits from new healthcare supplier contracts.

We are involved in numerous remediation actions to clean up 
hazardous wastes as required by federal and state laws. Liabilities 
for remediation costs exclude possible insurance recoveries and, 
when dates and amounts of such costs are not known, are not 
discounted. When there appears to be a range of possible costs 
with equal likelihood, liabilities are based on the low end of such 
range. Uncertainties about the status of laws, regulations, tech-
nology and information related to individual sites make it difficult 
to develop a meaningful estimate of the reasonably possible 
aggregate environmental remediation exposure.

Note 19. 

GECS Investment Contracts, Insurance Liabilities and 
Insurance Annuity Benefits

GECS investment contracts, insurance liabilities and insurance 
annuity benefits comprise mainly obligations to annuitants and 
policyholders in our run-off insurance operations and holders of 
guaranteed investment contracts.

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Investment contracts    $ 4,212 $ 4,536
Guaranteed investment contracts   10,828 11,705

Total investment contracts   15,040 16,241
Life insurance benefits (a)    16,259 15,416
Unpaid claims and claims adjustment expenses  2,145 1,726
Unearned premiums    623 656
Universal life benefits    302 320

Total     $34,369 $34,359

(a) Life insurance benefits are accounted for mainly by a net-level-premium method 
using estimated yields generally ranging from 3.0% to 8.5% in both 2008 and 2007.

When insurance affiliates cede insurance to third parties, such 
as reinsurers, they are not relieved of their primary obligation 
to policyholders. Losses on ceded risks give rise to claims for 
recovery; we establish allowances for probable losses on such 
receivables from reinsurers as required. Reinsurance recoverables 
are included in the caption “Other GECS receivables” on our 
Statement of Financial Position, and amounted to $1,062 million
and $381 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

We recognize reinsurance recoveries as a reduction of the 
Statement of Earnings caption “Investment contracts, insurance 
losses and insurance annuity benefits.” Reinsurance recoveries 
were $221 million, $104 million and $162 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Note 21. 

Deferred Income Taxes

Aggregate deferred income tax amounts are summarized below.

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

ASSETS

GE     $(13,493) $(13,122)
GECS    (11,180) (6,293)

       (24,673) (19,415)

LIABILITIES

GE     9,544 16,513
GECS    19,713 15,392

       29,257 31,905

Net deferred income tax liability   $  4,584 $ 12,490

Principal components of our net liability (asset) representing 
deferred income tax balances are as follows:

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

GE

Intangible assets    $ 2,664 $ 2,609
Contract costs and estimated earnings  2,319 2,215
Depreciation    1,205 1,360
Investment in global subsidiaries   444 318
Pension asset —principal plans   — 7,067
Provision for expenses (a)    (6,578) (6,426)
Retiree insurance plans   (4,355) (4,616)
Non-U.S. loss carryforwards (b)   (800) (925)
Other — net    1,152 1,789

       (3,949) 3,391

GECS

Financing leases    7,317 7,089
Operating leases    4,882 4,478
Investment in global subsidiaries   2,127 (1,203)
Intangible assets    1,360 1,427
Allowance for losses   (2,459) (1,478)
Cash flow hedges    (2,260) (496)
Net unrealized losses on securities   (1,634) (14)
Non-U.S. loss carryforwards (b)   (979) (805)
Other — net    179 101

       8,533 9,099

Net deferred income tax liability   $ 4,584 $12,490

(a) Represented the tax effects of temporary differences related to expense accruals 
for a wide variety of items, such as employee compensation and benefits, pension 
plan liabilities, interest on tax liabilities, product warranties and other sundry items 
that are not currently deductible.

(b) Net of valuation allowances of $635 million and $557 million for GE and $260 mil-
lion and $196 million for GECS, for 2008 and 2007, respectively. Of the net deferred 
tax asset as of December 31, 2008, of $1,779 million, $33 million relates to net 
operating loss carryforwards that expire in various years ending from December 31,
2009, through December 31, 2011; $160 million relates to net operating losses that 
expire in various years ending from December 31, 2012, through December 31, 2023; 
and $1,586 million relates to net operating loss carryforwards that may be carried 
forward indefinitely.

Note 22. 

Minority Interest in Equity of Consolidated Affiliates

Minority interest in equity of consolidated affiliates includes com-
mon shares in consolidated affiliates and preferred stock issued 
by affiliates of GE Capital. Preferred shares that we are required 
to redeem at a specified or determinable date are classified as 
liabilities. The balance is summarized as follows:

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Minority interest in consolidated affiliates
NBC Universal    $5,091 $5,025
Others (a)    3,579 2,698

Minority interest in preferred stock (b)

GE Capital affiliates    277 281

Total     $8,947 $8,004

(a) Included minority interest in partnerships and common shares of consolidated 
affiliates.

(b) The preferred stock pays cumulative dividends at an average rate of 6.81%.
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Note 23. 

Shareowners’ Equity

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

PREFERRED STOCK ISSUED (a) (b)  $ — $ — $ —

COMMON STOCK ISSUED (a) (b)  $    702 $    669 $    669

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Balance at January 1  $  8,324 $  3,254 $  3,137
Investment securities — net of deferred taxes of $(2,528), $(510) and $111  (3,813) (972) 297
Currency translation adjustments — net of deferred taxes of $4,082, $(1,319) and $(1,417)  (10,890) 4,662 3,776
Cash flow hedges — net of deferred taxes of $(1,982), $(213) and $75  (2,781) 23 599
Benefit plans — net of deferred taxes of $(7,379), $860 and $182 (c)  (13,288) 2,566 287
Reclassification adjustments 

Investment securities — net of deferred taxes of $734, $(375) and $(279)  595 (512) (520)
Currency translation adjustments  (117) (135) (127)
Cash flow hedges — net of deferred taxes of $295, $(119) and $(60)  117 (562) (376)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — net of deferred taxes of $(2,715)  — — (3,819)

Balance at December 31 (d)  $ (21,853) $  8,324 $  3,254

OTHER CAPITAL

Balance at January 1  $ 26,100 $ 25,486 $ 25,227
Common stock issuance (b)  11,972 — —
Preferred stock and warrant issuance (b)  2,965 — —
Gains (losses) on treasury stock dispositions and other (b)  (647) 614 259

Balance at December 31  $ 40,390 $ 26,100 $ 25,486

RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance at January 1 (e)  $117,362 $106,867 $ 96,926
Net earnings  17,410 22,208 20,742
Dividends (b) (f)  (12,649) (11,713) (10,675)

Balance at December 31  $122,123 $117,362 $106,993

COMMON STOCK HELD IN TREASURY

Balance at January 1  $ (36,896) $ (24,893) $ (17,326)
Purchases (b)  (3,508) (14,913) (10,512)
Dispositions (b)  3,707 2,910 2,945

Balance at December 31  $ (36,697) $ (36,896) $ (24,893)

TOTAL EQUITY

Balance at December 31  $104,665 $115,559 $111,509

(a) Additions resulting from issuances in 2008 were inconsequential for preferred stock and $33 million for common stock.

(b) Total dividends and other transactions with shareowners, inclusive of additions to par value discussed in note (a), increased equity by $1,873 million in 2008, and reduced equity 
by $23,102 million in 2007 and $17,983 million in 2006.

(c) For 2008, included $(43) million of prior service costs for plan amendments, $534 million of amortization of prior service costs, $(13,980) million of gains (losses) arising during 
the year and $201 million of amortization of gains (losses) — net of deferred taxes of $(24) million, $441 million, $(7,893) million and $97 million, respectively. For 2007, included 
$(3,122) million of prior service costs for plan amendments, $494 million of amortization of prior service costs, $4,666 million of gains (losses) arising during the year and 
$528 million of amortization of gains (losses) — net of deferred taxes of $(2,482) million, $339 million, $2,639 million and $364 million, respectively.

(d) At December 31, 2008, included additions to equity of $2,865 million related to hedges of our investments in financial services subsidiaries that have functional currencies 
other than the U.S. dollar and reductions of $3,332 million related to cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions, of which we expect to transfer $1,892 million to earnings as 
an expense in 2009 along with the earnings effects of the related forecasted transaction.

(e) 2007 opening balance change reflects cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles of $(49) million related to adopting FIN 48 and $(77) million related to adoption of 
FSP FAS 13-2. The cumulative effect of adopting SFAS 159 at January 1, 2008, was insignificant. See Note 1.

(f) For 2008, included $75 million of dividends on preferred stock.
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All grants of GE options under all plans must be approved by 
the Management Development and Compensation Committee, 
which consists entirely of independent directors.

STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS
    Securities
    Securities Weighted available
    to be issued average for future
December 31, 2008 (Shares in thousands)   upon exercise exercise price issuance

APPROVED BY SHAREOWNERS

Options  214,824 $36.30 (a)

RSUs  36,392 (b) (a)

PSUs  1,050 (b) (a)

NOT APPROVED BY SHAREOWNERS

(CONSULTANTS’ PLAN)

Options  683 35.85 (c)

RSUs  91 (b) (c)

Total  253,040 $36.30 462,787

(a) In 2007, the Board of Directors approved the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 
Plan). The Plan replaced the 1990 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The maximum number 
of shares that may be granted under the Plan is 500 million shares, of which no 
more than 250 million may be available for awards granted in any form provided 
under the Plan other than options or stock appreciation rights. The approximate 
105.9 million shares available for grant under the 1990 Plan were retired upon 
approval of the 2007 Plan. Total shares available for future issuance under the 2007 
Plan amounted to 439.0 million shares at December 31, 2008.

(b) Not applicable.

(c) Total shares available for future issuance under the consultants’ plan amount to 
23.8 million shares.

Outstanding options expire on various dates through 
December 11, 2018.

The following table summarizes information about stock 
options outstanding at December 31, 2008.

STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

(Shares in thousands) Outstanding Exercisable

    Average Average
    exercise exercise
Exercise price range Shares Average life (a) price Shares price 

Under $27.00 784 4.6 $22.50 568 $23.94
27.01–32.00 66,510 6.1 28.36 40,767 28.39
32.01–37.00 61,593 4.6 34.73 47,045 34.91
37.01–42.00 32,555 4.7 39.19 19,843 39.47
42.01–47.00 42,045 2.0 43.29 42,045 43.29
Over $47.00 12,020 1.7 56.86 12,020 56.86

Total   215,507 4.4 $36.30 162,288 $37.59

At year-end 2007, options with an average exercise price of $36.98 were exercisable 
on 168 million shares.

(a) Average contractual life remaining in years.

SHARES OF GE PREFERRED STOCK

On October 16, 2008, GE issued 30,000 shares of GE’s 10% 
cumulative perpetual preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share, 
having an aggregate liquidation value of $3.0 billion, and warrants 
to purchase 134,831,460 shares of GE’s common stock, par value 
$0.06 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $3.0 billion
in cash. The preferred stock is redeemable at GE’s option after 
three years, in whole or in part, at a price of 110% of liquidation 
value plus accrued and unpaid dividends. The warrants are exer-
cisable at the holder’s option at any time and from time to time, 
in whole or in part, for five years at an exercise price of $22.25 
per share of common stock and are settled through physical 
share issuance. GE has 50 million authorized shares of preferred 
stock ($1.00 par value), and has issued 30 thousand shares as of 
December 31, 2008.

SHARES OF GE COMMON STOCK

On September 25, 2008, we suspended our three-year, $15 billion 
share repurchase program, which was initiated in December 2007. 
Under this program, on a book basis, we repurchased 99.1 million 
shares for a total of $3.1 billion during 2008.

On October 7, 2008, GE completed an offering of 547.8 million 
shares of common stock at a price of $22.25 per share.

Common shares issued and outstanding are summarized in 
the following table.

December 31 (In thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Issued 11,693,829 11,145,252 11,145,212
In treasury  (1,156,932) (1,157,653) (867,839)

Outstanding  10,536,897 9,987,599 10,277,373

Note 24. 

Other Stock-Related Information

We grant stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs) and perfor-
mance share units (PSUs) to employees under the 2007 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan. This plan replaced the 1990 Long-Term Incentive 
Plan. In addition, we grant options and RSUs in limited circum-
stances to consultants, advisors and independent contractors 
(primarily non-employee talent at NBC Universal) under a plan 
approved by our Board of Directors in 1997 (the consultants’ 
plan). There are outstanding grants under one shareowner-
approved option plan for non-employee directors. Share require-
ments for all plans may be met from either unissued or treasury 
shares. Stock options expire 10 years from the date they are 
granted and vest over service periods that range from one to five 
years. RSUs give the recipients the right to receive shares of our 
stock upon the vesting of their related restrictions. Restrictions on 
RSUs vest in various increments and at various dates, beginning 
after one year from date of grant through grantee retirement. 
Although the plan permits us to issue RSUs settleable in cash, 
we have only issued RSUs settleable in shares of our stock. PSUs 
give recipients the right to receive shares of our stock upon the 
achievement of certain performance targets.
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OTHER STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
    Weighted
    Weighted average
    average remaining Aggregate
    Shares grant date contractual intrinsic value
    (In thousands) fair value term (In years) (In millions)

RSUs outstanding at 
January 1, 2008  37,129 $33.48

Granted  10,794 28.74
Vested (9,445) 31.34
Forfeited  (1,995) 34.61

RSUs outstanding at 
December 31, 2008 36,483 $32.57 2.9 $591

RSUs expected to vest 33,239 $32.61 2.8 $538

The fair value of each restricted stock unit is the market price of 
our stock on the date of grant. The weighted average grant date 
fair value of RSUs granted during 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $28.74, 
$38.84 and $33.95, respectively. The total intrinsic value of RSUs 
vested during 2008, 2007 and 2006 amounted to $274 million,
$181 million and $132 million, respectively. As of December 31,
2008, there was $687 million of total unrecognized compensation 
cost related to nonvested RSUs. That cost is expected to be rec-
ognized over a weighted average period of two years, of which 
approximately $205 million is expected to be recognized in 2009. 
As of December 31, 2008, 1.1 million PSUs with a weighted 
average remaining contractual term of two years, an aggregate 
intrinsic value of $17 million and $10 million of unrecognized 
compensation cost were outstanding.

Other share-based compensation expense recognized in net 
earnings amounted to $155 million, $173 million and $130 million 
in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The total income tax benefit 
recognized in earnings for all share-based compensation arrange-
ments amounted to $106 million, $118 million and $117 million
in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

When stock options are exercised and restricted stock vests, 
the difference between the assumed tax benefit and the actual 
tax benefit must be recognized in our financial statements. In 
circumstances in which the actual tax benefit is lower than the 
estimated tax benefit, SFAS 123(R) requires that difference to be 
recorded in equity, to the extent there are sufficient accumulated 
excess tax benefits, as defined by the standard. At December 31,
2008, our accumulated excess tax benefits are sufficient to absorb 
any future differences between actual and estimated tax benefits 
for all of our outstanding option and restricted stock grants.

Note 25. 

Supplemental Cash Flows Information

Changes in operating assets and liabilities are net of acquisitions 
and dispositions of principal businesses.

Amounts reported in the “Payments for principal businesses 
purchased” line in the Statement of Cash Flows is net of cash 
acquired and included debt assumed and immediately repaid in 
acquisitions.

STOCK OPTION ACTIVITY
    Weighted
    Weighted average
    average remaining Aggregate
    Shares grant date contractual intrinsic value
    (In thousands) fair value term (In years) (In millions)

Outstanding at 
January 1, 2008  213,382 $36.68

Granted  25,317 28.21
Exercised  (13,271) 26.62
Forfeited  (2,831) 35.18
Expired (7,090) 37.40

Outstanding at 
December 31, 2008 215,507 $36.30 4.4 $ —

Exercisable at 
December 31, 2008 162,288 $37.59 3.0 $ —

Options expected 
to vest  47,092 $32.45 8.5 $ —

We measure the fair value of each stock option grant at the date 
of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted 
average grant-date fair value of options granted during 2008, 
2007 and 2006 was $5.26, $9.28 and $7.99, respectively. The 
following assumptions were used in arriving at the fair value of 
options granted during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively: risk-
free interest rates of 3.4%, 4.2% and 4.8%; dividend yields of 
4.4%, 2.9% and 2.9%; expected volatility of 27%, 25% and 24%; 
and expected lives of six years and nine months, six years and 
ten months, and six years and two months. Risk-free interest rates 
reflect the yield on zero-coupon U.S. Treasury securities. Expected 
dividend yields presume a set dividend rate. For stock options 
granted in the fourth quarter of 2008, we used a historical five-
year average for the dividend yield. Expected volatilities are based 
on implied volatilities from traded options and historical volatility 
of our stock. The expected option lives are based on our historical 
experience of employee exercise behavior.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2008, 2007 
and 2006 amounted to $45 million, $375 million and $587 million, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2008, there was $251 million 
of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested 
options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted 
average period of two years, of which approximately $84 million
is expected to be recognized in 2009.

Stock option expense recognized in net earnings amounted 
to $69 million in both 2008 and 2007, and $96 million in 2006. 
Cash received from option exercises during 2008, 2007 and 2006 
was $353 million, $747 million and $622 million, respectively. The 
tax benefit realized from stock options exercised during 2008, 
2007 and 2006 was $15 million, $131 million and $203 million,
respectively.
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57% interest in the Sundance Channel. There were no significant 
non-cash transactions in 2007. In 2006, we had a significant non-
cash transaction in connection with our sale of GE Insurance 
Solutions: Swiss Re assumed $1,700 million of debt, and GE 
received $2,238 million of newly issued Swiss Re common stock. 
See Note 2. 

Amounts reported in the “All other operating activities” line 
in the Statement of Cash Flows consists primarily of adjustments 
to current and noncurrent accruals and deferrals of costs and 
expenses, adjustments for gains and losses on assets, increases 
and decreases in assets held for sale and adjustments to assets. 
In 2008, GE received $300 million (12.7 million shares) worth of 
its shares in connection with the disposition of NBC Universal’s 

Certain supplemental information related to GE and GECS cash flows is shown below.

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2006

GE

NET DISPOSITIONS (PURCHASES) OF GE SHARES FOR TREASURY

Open market purchases under share repurchase program  $  (3,222) $ (13,896) $  (8,054)
Other purchases  (286) (1,017) (2,458)
Dispositions  2,259 2,594 1,958

    $  (1,249) $ (12,319) $  (8,554)

GECS

ALL OTHER OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net change in other assets  $  (1,461) $  (1,507) $  (1,709)
Amortization of intangible assets  994 879 599
Realized losses (gains) on investment securities  1,260 (885) (132)
Change in other liabilities  4,514 3,378 3,345
Other 3,201 (2,404) (1,068)

    $   8,508 $    (539) $   1,035

NET INCREASE IN GECS FINANCING RECEIVABLES

Increase in loans to customers $(411,913) $(408,611) $(371,835)
Principal collections from customers — loans  363,455 322,074 296,708
Investment in equipment for financing leases  (21,671) (26,489) (25,618)
Principal collections from customers — financing leases  20,159 20,868 18,791
Net change in credit card receivables  (34,498) (38,405) (25,787)
Sales of financing receivables  67,093 86,399 67,471

    $ (17,375) $ (44,164) $ (40,270)

ALL OTHER INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of securities by insurance activities  $  (4,190) $ (13,279) $ (11,891)
Dispositions and maturities of securities by insurance activities  4,690 15,602 11,635
Other assets — investments  (205) (10,218) (6,242)
Change in other receivables  3,331 (2,456) (55)
Other 2,353 1,621 558

    $   5,979 $  (8,730) $  (5,995)

NEWLY ISSUED DEBT HAVING MATURITIES LONGER THAN 90 DAYS

Short-term (91 to 365 days)  $  34,445 $   1,226 $   1,237
Long-term (longer than one year)  87,949 90,769 86,028
Proceeds — nonrecourse, leveraged lease  113 24 1,015

    $ 122,507 $  92,019 $  88,280

REPAYMENTS AND OTHER REDUCTIONS OF DEBT HAVING MATURITIES LONGER THAN 90 DAYS

Short-term (91 to 365 days)  $ (66,015) $ (43,937) $ (42,273)
Long-term (longer than one year)  (462) (4,482) (5,576)
Principal payments — nonrecourse, leveraged lease  (637) (1,109) (1,404)

    $ (67,114) $ (49,528) $ (49,253)

ALL OTHER FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales of investment contracts  $  11,433 $  12,641 $  16,418
Redemption of investment contracts  (13,304) (13,862) (17,603)
Capital contribution  5,500 — —
Other 9 17 11

    $   3,638 $  (1,204) $  (1,174)
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Note 27. 

Operating Segments

Basis for Presentation
Our operating businesses are organized based on the nature of 
markets and customers. Segment accounting policies are the 
same as described in Note 1. Segment results for our financial 
services businesses reflect the discrete tax effect of transactions, 
but the intraperiod tax allocation is reflected outside of the seg-
ment unless otherwise noted in segment results.

Effects of transactions between related companies are elimi-
nated and consist primarily of GECS dividends to GE; GE customer 
receivables sold to GECS; GECS services for trade receivables 
management and material procurement; buildings and equipment 
(including automobiles) leased by GE from GECS; IT and other 
services sold to GECS by GE; aircraft engines manufactured by GE 
that are installed on aircraft purchased by GECS from third-party 
producers for lease to others; medical equipment manufactured 
by GE that is leased by GECS to others; and various investments, 
loans and allocations of GE corporate overhead costs.

A description of our operating segments as of December 31,
2008, can be found below, and details of segment profit by 
operating segment can be found in the Summary of Operating 
Segments table in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Energy Infrastructure
Power plant products and services, including design, installation, 
operation and maintenance services are sold into global markets. 
Gas, steam and aeroderivative turbines, generators, combined 
cycle systems, controls and related services, including total asset 
optimization solutions, equipment upgrades and long-term main-
tenance service agreements are sold to power generation and 
other industrial customers. Renewable energy solutions include 
wind turbines and solar technology. Water treatment services 
and equipment include specialty chemical treatment programs, 
water purification equipment, mobile treatment systems and 
desalination processes.

The Oil & Gas business sells surface and subsea drilling and 
production systems, equipment for floating production platforms, 
compressors, turbines, turboexpanders and high pressure reactors 
to national, international and independent oil and gas companies. 
Services include equipment overhauls and upgrades, pipeline 
inspection and integrity services, remote diagnostic and monitor-
ing and contractual service agreements. The acquisition of Hydril 
Pressure Controls in April 2008 strengthened the drilling solutions 
portfolio through the addition of blow out preventers, control 
technology and associated services.

Note 26. 

Intercompany Transactions

Effects of transactions between related companies are elimi-
nated and consist primarily of GECS dividend to GE; GE customer 
receivables sold to GECS; GECS services for trade receivables 
management and material procurement; buildings and equip-
ment (including automobiles) leased by GE from GECS; information 
technology (IT) and other services sold to GECS by GE; aircraft 
engines manufactured by GE that are installed on aircraft pur-
chased by GECS from third-party producers for lease to others; 
medical equipment manufactured by GE that is leased by GECS 
to others; and various investments, loans and allocations of GE 
corporate overhead costs. 

These intercompany transactions are reported in the GE and 
GECS columns of our financial statements (and include customer 
receivables sold from GE to GECS), but are eliminated in deriving 
our Consolidated financial statements. The effects of these elimi-
nations on our Consolidated cash flows from operating, investing 
and financing activities follow.

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2006

OPERATING

Sum of GE and GECS cash from 
operating activities — continuing 
operations   $ 50,290 $ 48,316 $ 45,351

Elimination of GECS dividend to GE  (2,351) (7,291) (9,847)
Net decrease (increase) in GE 

customer receivables sold to GECS  90 (255) (2,036)
Other reclassifications and eliminations (188) (828) (956)

Consolidated cash from operating 
activities — continuing operations  $ 47,841 $ 39,942 $ 32,512

INVESTING

Sum of GE and GECS cash used for 
investing activities — continuing 
operations   $(39,615) $(67,845) $(54,132)

Net increase (decrease) in GE 
customer receivables sold to GECS  (90) 255 2,036

Other reclassifications and eliminations (320) 1,202 1,223

Consolidated cash used for investing 
activities — continuing operations  $(40,025) $(66,388) $(50,873)

FINANCING

Sum of GE and GECS cash from 
financing activities — continuing 
operations   $ 22,760 $ 18,751 $ 16,772

Elimination of short-term 
intercompany borrowings (a)  (787) 1,950 (2,732)

Elimination of GECS dividend to GE  2,351 7,291 9,847
Other reclassifications and eliminations 316 99 (48)

Consolidated cash from financing 
activities — continuing operations  $ 24,640 $ 28,091 $ 23,839

(a) Represents GE investment in GECS short-term borrowings, such as commercial paper.
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NBC Universal 
Principal businesses are the broadcast of U.S. network television, 
production and distribution of films and television programs, 
operation of television stations, operation of cable/satellite tele-
vision networks around the world, operation of theme parks, and 
investment and programming activities in digital media and the 
Internet.

Capital Finance 
CLL products include loans, leases and other financial services to 
customers, including manufacturers, distributors and end-users 
for a variety of equipment and major capital assets. These assets 
include industrial-related facilities and equipment; commercial and 
residential real estate; vehicles; corporate aircraft; and equipment 
used in many industries, including the construction, manufacturing, 
transportation, telecommunications and healthcare industries.

GE Money offers a range of financial products including private-
label credit cards; personal loans; bank cards; auto loans and 
leases; mortgages; debt consolidation; home equity loans; deposits 
and other savings products; and small and medium enterprise 
lending on a global basis. 

Capital Finance also provides financial products to airlines, 
aircraft operators, owners, lenders and investors, including 
leases, aircraft purchasing and trading, loans, engine/spare parts 
financing, fleet planning and financial advisory services. 

Financial products to the global energy and water industries 
include structured and common equity, debt, leasing, project 
finance, broad-based commercial finance and investments in 
operating leases.

Consumer & Industrial 
Products include major appliances and related services for 
products such as refrigerators, freezers, electric and gas ranges, 
cooktops, dishwashers, clothes washers and dryers, microwave 
ovens, room air conditioners and residential water system 
products. These products are distributed both to retail outlets 
and direct to consumers, mainly for the replacement market, 
and to building contractors and distributors for new installations. 
Lighting products include a wide variety of lamps and lighting 
fixtures, including light-emitting diodes. Electrical equipment and 
control products include lighting and power panels, switchgear, 
and circuit breakers. Products and services are sold in North 
America and in global markets under various GE and private-
label brands.

Technology Infrastructure 
Aviation products and services include jet engines, aerospace 
systems and equipment, replacement parts and repair and 
maintenance services for all categories of commercial aircraft; 
for a wide variety of military aircraft, including fighters, bombers, 
tankers and helicopters; for marine applications; and for executive 
and regional aircraft. Products and services are sold worldwide 
to airframe manufacturers, airlines and government agencies. 

Healthcare products include diagnostic imaging systems such 
as magnetic resonance (MR), computed tomography (CT) and 
positron emission tomography (PET) scanners, X-ray, nuclear 
imaging and ultrasound. Healthcare manufactured technologies 
include patient monitoring, diagnostic cardiology, bone densi-
tometry, anesthesiology and oxygen therapy, and neonatal and 
critical care devices. Related services, including equipment 
monitoring and repair, information technologies and customer 
productivity services. Products also include diagnostic imaging 
agents used in medical scanning procedures, products used in 
the purification of biopharmaceuticals, and tools for protein and 
cellular analysis for pharmaceutical and academic research. 
Products and services are sold worldwide to hospitals, medical 
facilities, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, and to 
the life science research market. 

Transportation products and maintenance services include 
diesel electric locomotives, transit propulsion equipment, motor-
ized wheels for off-highway vehicles, gearing technology for wind 
turbines, drill motors, marine and stationary power generation, 
and railway signaling and office systems. 

Enterprise Solutions offers integrated solutions using sensors 
for temperature, pressure, moisture, gas and flow rate as well as 
non-destructive testing inspection equipment, including radio-
graphic, ultrasonic, remote visual and eddy current. Enterprise 
Solutions also offers security and life safety technologies, including 
explosives and narcotics detection, intrusion and access control, 
video surveillance and sensor monitoring equipment, and fire 
detection and provides protection and control, communications, 
power sensing and power quality products and services that 
increase the reliability of electrical power networks and critical 
equipment and offering wireless data transmission. Plant auto-
mation, hardware, software and embedded computing systems 
including controllers, embedded systems, advanced software, 
motion control, computer numerical controls, operator interfaces, 
industrial computers, and lasers are also provided by Enterprise 
Solutions. Markets are extremely diverse. Products and services 
are sold to residential, commercial and industrial end-users, 
including utilities, original equipment manufacturers, electrical 
distributors, retail outlets, airports, railways, and transit authorities. 
Increasingly, products and services are developed for and sold 
in global markets.
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REVENUES

Total revenues (a) Intersegment revenues (b) External revenues

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Energy Infrastructure  $ 38,571 $ 30,698 $ 25,221 $   664 $   351 $   488 $ 37,907 $ 30,347 $ 24,733
Technology Infrastructure  46,316 42,801 37,687 273 113 216 46,043 42,688 37,471
NBC Universal  16,969 15,416 16,188 89 35 52 16,880 15,381 16,136
Capital Finance  67,008 66,301 56,378 1,333 1,128 1,013 65,675 65,173 55,365
Consumer & Industrial  11,737 12,663 13,202 196 143 235 11,541 12,520 12,967
Corporate items and eliminations 1,914 4,609 2,892 (2,555) (1,770) (2,004) 4,469 6,379 4,896

Total  $182,515 $172,488 $151,568 $ — $ — $ — $182,515 $172,488 $151,568

(a) Revenues of GE businesses include income from sales of goods and services to customers and other income.

(b) Sales from one component to another generally are priced at equivalent commercial selling prices.

Revenues from customers located in the United States were $85,301 million, $86,247 million and $81,057 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Revenues from customers located outside the United States were $97,214 million, $86,241 million and $70,511 million in 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Assets (a) (b) Property, plant and equipment additions (c) Depreciation and amortization

At December 31 For the years ended December 31 For the years ended December 31

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Energy Infrastructure  $ 33,836 $ 31,466 $ 24,456 $ 1,226 $ 1,054 $   867 $   838 $   774 $   672
Technology Infrastructure  58,967 57,670 49,641 1,395 1,954 1,389 1,520 1,569 1,269
NBC Universal  33,781 33,089 31,425 131 306 352 354 357 361
Capital Finance  572,903 583,965 491,000 15,313 17,832 14,489 10,238 8,864 6,971
Consumer & Industrial  5,065 5,351 5,740 284 363 373 397 434 497
Corporate items and eliminations 93,217 84,142 95,011 281 247 195 221 310 262

Total  $797,769 $795,683 $697,273 $18,630 $21,756 $17,665 $13,568 $12,308 $10,032

(a) Assets of discontinued operations are included in Corporate items and eliminations for all periods presented.

(b) Total assets of the Energy Infrastructure, Technology Infrastructure, NBC Universal, Capital Finance and Consumer & Industrial operating segments at December 31, 2008, 
include investment in and advances to associated companies of $640 million, $711 million, $954 million, $18,694 million and $394 million, respectively, which contributed 
approximately $91 million, $67 million, $134 million, $2,217 million and $33 million, respectively, to segment pre-tax income for the year ended December 31, 2008. 
Aggregate summarized financial information for significant associated companies assuming a 100% ownership interest included: total assets of $154,825 million, primarily 
financing receivables of $85,554 million; total liabilities of $128,959 million, primarily bank deposits of $65,514 million; revenues totaling $22,347 million; and net earnings 
totaling $3,583 million.

(c) Additions to property, plant and equipment include amounts relating to principal businesses purchased.

Interest and other financial charges Provision (benefit) for income taxes

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Capital Finance  $25,094 $22,611 $17,079 $(1,914) $1,225 $1,560
Corporate items and eliminations (a)  1,115 1,151 1,800 2,966 2,930 2,384

Total  $26,209 $23,762 $18,879 $ 1,052 $4,155 $3,944

(a) Included amounts for Energy Infrastructure, Technology Infrastructure, NBC Universal and Consumer & Industrial for which our measure of segment profit excludes interest and 
other financial charges and income taxes.

Property, plant and equipment — net associated with operations 
based in the United States were $27,667 million, $27,188 million
and $25,699 million at year-end 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
Property, plant and equipment — net associated with operations 

based outside the United States were $50,863 million, 
$50,700 million and $44,929 million at year-end 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.
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Note 28. 

Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS 157, Fair Value 
Measurements, for all financial instruments and non-financial 
instruments accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis. 
SFAS 157 establishes a new framework for measuring fair value 
and expands related disclosures. Broadly, the SFAS 157 framework 
requires fair value to be determined based on the exchange price 
that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
(an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for 
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants. SFAS 157 establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy 
based upon observable and non-observable inputs. 

For financial assets and liabilities, fair value is the price we 
would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction with a market participant at the measurement 
date. In the absence of active markets for the identical assets or 
liabilities, such measurements involve developing assumptions 
based on market observable data and, in the absence of such 
data, internal information that is consistent with what market 
participants would use in a hypothetical transaction that occurs 
at the measurement date.

Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from indepen-
dent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market 
assumptions. Preference is given to observable inputs. These two 
types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1  —  Quoted prices for identical instruments in active 
markets.

Level 2 —  Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; 
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 
markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations 
whose inputs are observable or whose significant value 
drivers are observable. 

Level 3 —  Significant inputs to the valuation model are 
unobservable.

We maintain policies and procedures to value instruments using 
the best and most relevant data available. In addition, we have 
risk management teams that review valuation, including indepen-
dent price validation for certain instruments. Further, in other 
instances, we retain independent pricing vendors to assist in 
valuing certain instruments. 

The following section describes the valuation methodologies 
we use to measure different financial instruments at fair value.

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities
When available, we use quoted market prices to determine the fair 
value of investment securities, and they are included in Level 1. 
Level 1 securities primarily include publicly-traded equity securities.

When quoted market prices are unobservable, we use quotes 
from independent pricing vendors based on recent trading activity 
and other relevant information including market interest rate 
curves, referenced credit spreads and estimated prepayment rates 
where applicable. These investments are included in Level 2 and 
primarily comprise our portfolio of corporate fixed income, and 
government, mortgage and asset-backed securities. In infrequent 
circumstances, our pricing vendors may provide us with valuations 
that are based on significant unobservable inputs, and in those 
circumstances we classify the investment securities in Level 3.

As part of our adoption of SFAS 157 in the first quarter of 
2008, we conducted a review of our primary pricing vendor, with 
the assistance of an accounting firm, to validate that the inputs 
used in that vendor’s pricing process are deemed to be market 
observable as defined in the standard. More specifically, we used 
a combination of approaches to validate that the process used 
by the pricing vendor is consistent with the requirements of the 
standard and that the levels assigned to these valuations are 
reasonable. While we were not provided access to proprietary 
models of the vendor, our review included on-site walk-throughs 
of the pricing process, methodologies and control procedures for 
each asset class for which prices are provided. Our review also 
included an examination of the underlying inputs and assump-
tions for a sample of individual securities, a process we have 
continued to perform for each reporting period. Based on this 
examination, and the ongoing review performed, we believe that 
the valuations used in our financial statements are reasonable 
and are appropriately classified in the fair value hierarchy. As of 
December 31, 2008, the valuation provided by pricing services 
was $26,654 million and was classified in Level 2. The valuations 
provided by pricing services based on significant unobservable 
inputs was insignificant, and those investment securities are 
classified as Level 3.

Retained interests in securitizations are valued using a dis-
counted cash flow model that considers the underlying structure 
of the securitization and estimated net credit exposure, prepay-
ment assumptions, discount rates and expected life. Investment 
securities priced using non-binding broker quotes and retained 
interests are included in Level 3. We use non-binding broker 
quotes as our primary basis for valuation when there is limited, 
or no, relevant market activity for a specific instrument or for 
other instruments that share similar characteristics. We have not 
adjusted the prices we have obtained. Level 3 investment securities 
valued using non-binding broker quotes totaled $2,074 million 
at December 31, 2008, and were classified as available-for-sale 
securities. Level 3 retained interests totaled $6,356 million at 
December 31, 2008.
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Derivatives
We use closing prices for derivatives included in Level 1, which are 
traded either on exchanges or liquid over-the-counter markets. 

The majority of our derivatives portfolio is valued using internal 
models. The models maximize the use of market observable inputs 
including interest rate curves and both forward and spot prices 
for currencies and commodities. Derivative assets and liabilities 
included in Level 2 primarily represent interest rate swaps, cross-
currency swaps and foreign currency and commodity forward 
and option contracts. 

Derivative assets and liabilities included in Level 3 primarily 
represent interest rate products that contain embedded option-
ality or prepayment features. 

Loans
When available, we use observable market data, including pricing 
on recent closed market transactions, to value loans which are 
included in Level 2. When this data is unobservable, we use 
valuation methodologies using current market interest rate data 
adjusted for inherent credit risk, and such loans are included in 
Level 3. When appropriate, loans are valued using collateral 
values as a practical expedient.

Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS 159, The Fair Value 
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. Upon adoption, 
we elected to report $172 million of commercial mortgage loans 
at fair value in order to have them on the same accounting 
basis (measured at fair value through earnings) as the derivatives 
economically hedging these loans. 

We receive one quote for Level 2 and Level 3 securities where 
third-party quotes are used as our basis for fair value measure-
ment. As is the case with our primary pricing vendor, third-party 
providers of quotes do not provide access to their proprietary 
valuation models, inputs and assumptions. Accordingly, our risk 
management personnel conduct internal reviews of pricing for all 
such investment securities at least quarterly to ensure reason-
ableness of valuations used in our financial statements. These 
reviews are designed to identify prices that appear stale, those 
that have changed significantly from prior valuations, and other 
anomalies that may indicate that a price may not be accurate. We 
also follow established routines for reviewing and reconfirming 
valuations with the pricing provider, if deemed appropriate. In 
addition, the pricing vendor has an established challenge process 
in place for all security valuations, which facilitates identification 
and resolution of potentially erroneous prices. Based on the 
information available, we believe that the fair values provided by 
the brokers are consistent with the principles of SFAS 157.

Private equity investments held in investment company affili-
ates are initially valued at cost. Valuations are reviewed at the 
end of each quarter utilizing available market data to determine 
whether or not any fair value adjustments are necessary. Such 
market data include any comparable public company trading 
multiples. Unobservable inputs include company-specific funda-
mentals and other third-party transactions in that security. Our 
valuation methodology for private equity investments is applied 
consistently, and these investments are generally included in 
Level 3.

The following table presents our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2008. Included 
in the table are investment securities of $21,967 million, primarily supporting obligations to annuitants and policyholders in our run-
off insurance operations, and $8,190 million supporting obligations to holders of guaranteed investment contracts. Such securities 
are primarily investment grade. In addition, the table includes $12,642 million and $5,236 million of derivative assets and liabilities, 
respectively, with highly rated counterparties, primarily used for risk management purposes. Also included are retained interests in 
securitizations totaling $6,356 million. 

    FIN 39
December 31, 2008 (In millions)  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 netting (a) Net balance

ASSETS

Investment securities  $1,158 $27,332 $12,956 $ — $41,446
Derivatives (b)  — 18,911 1,142 (7,411) 12,642
Other (c)  1 288 1,105 — 1,394

Total  $1,159 $46,531 $15,203 $(7,411) $55,482

LIABILITIES

Derivatives  $    2 $12,643 $   166 $(7,575) $ 5,236
Other (d)  — 1,031 — — 1,031

Total  $    2 $13,674 $   166 $(7,575) $ 6,267

(a) FIN 39, Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts, permits the netting of derivative receivables and derivative payables when a legally enforceable master netting 
agreement exists. Included fair value adjustments related to our own and counterparty credit risk.

(b) The fair value of derivatives included an adjustment for our non-performance risk. At December 31, 2008, the adjustment for our non-performance risk was a gain of $177 million.

(c) Included private equity investments and loans designated under the fair value option. 

(d) Primarily represented the liability associated with certain of our deferred incentive compensation plans accounted for in accordance with EITF Issue 97-14, Accounting for 
Deferred Compensation Arrangements Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a Rabbi Trust and Invested.
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The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments measured on a recurring basis for the year ended December 31, 2008. 
The majority of our Level 3 balances consist of investment securities classified as available-for-sale with changes in fair value recorded 
in equity. 

CHANGES IN LEVEL 3 INSTRUMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008

    Net realized/ Net change
    unrealized in unrealized
    gains (losses) gains (losses)
    Net realized/ included in relating to
    unrealized accumulated instruments
    gains (losses) nonowner Purchases, Transfers in still held at
    included changes other issuances and and/or out December 31, December 31,
(In millions)  January 1, 2008 in earnings (a) than earnings settlements of Level 3 (b) 2008 2008 (c)

Investment securities  $12,447 $  430 $(1,586) $ 671 $  994 $12,956 $   7
Derivatives (d) (e)  265 866 141 (256) (13) 1,003 636
Other  1,330 (157) (29) (90) 51 1,105 (165)

Total   $14,042 $1,139 $(1,474) $ 325 $1,032 $15,064 $ 478

(a) Earnings effects are primarily included in the “GECS revenues from services” and “Interest and other financial charges” captions in the Statement of Earnings. 

(b) Transfers in and out of Level 3 are considered to occur at the beginning of the period. Transfers into Level 3 were a result of increased use of non-binding broker quotes that 
could not be validated with other market observable data, resulting from continued deterioration in the credit markets.

(c) Represented the amount of total gains or losses for the period included in earnings attributable to the change in unrealized gains (losses) relating to assets and liabilities 
classified as Level 3 that are still held at December 31, 2008.

(d) Earnings from Derivatives were partially offset by $760 million in losses from related derivatives included in Level 2 and $4 million in losses from underlying debt obligations in 
qualifying fair value hedges.

(e) Represented derivative assets net of derivative liabilities and included cash accruals of $27 million not reflected in the fair value hierarchy table. 

Certain assets that are carried on our Statement of Financial 
Position at historical cost, require fair value charges to earnings 
when they are deemed to be impaired. As these impairment 
charges are non-recurring, they are not included in the preced-
ing tables.

Included in this category are certain loans that have been 
reduced for the fair value of their underlying collateral when 
deemed impaired, and cost and equity method investments that 

are written down to fair value when their declines are determined 
to be other-than-temporary. At December 31, 2008, these amounts 
were $48 million identified as Level 2 and $3,145 million identified 
as Level 3. Of assets still held at December 31, 2008, we recognized 
$587 million, pre-tax, of losses related to non-recurring fair value 
measurements of loans, and $495 million, pre-tax, of other-than-
temporary impairments of cost and equity method investments 
during 2008. 
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Note 29. 

Financial Instruments

2008 2007

Assets (liabilities) Assets (liabilities)

    Notional Carrying Estimated Notional Carrying Estimated
December 31 (In millions)  amount amount (net) fair value amount amount (net) fair value

GE

Assets
Investments and notes receivable  $ (a) $     269 $     269 $ (a) $     538 $     538

Liabilities
Borrowings (b)  (a) (12,202) (12,267) (a) (15,762) (15,819)

GECS

Assets
Loans  (a) 305,376 292,797 (a) 309,623 307,425
Other commercial mortgages  (a) 1,501 1,427 (a) 4,891 4,939
Loans held for sale  (a) 3,640 3,670 (a) 3,808 3,809
Other financial instruments (c)  (a) 2,637 2,810 (a) 2,764 3,150

Liabilities
Borrowings (b) (d)  (a) (514,601) (504,439) (a) (500,922) (503,607)
Investment contract benefits  (a) (4,212) (4,536) (a) (4,536) (4,914)
Guaranteed investment contracts  (a) (10,828) (10,677) (a) (11,705) (11,630)
Insurance — credit life (e)  1,165 (44) (31) 1,500 (35) (24)

(a) These financial instruments do not have notional amounts.

(b) See Note 18.

(c) Principally cost method investments.

(d) Included effects of interest rate and cross-currency derivatives.

(e) Net of reinsurance of $3,103 million and $2,815 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value in our Statement 
of Financial Position are discussed below. Consistent with 
SFAS 107, Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,
the disclosure excludes finance leases and non-financial assets 
and liabilities. Apart from certain of our borrowings and certain 
marketable securities, few of the instruments discussed below 
are actively traded and their fair values must often be determined 
using financial models. Realization of the fair value of these 
instruments depends upon market forces beyond our control, 
including marketplace liquidity. 

A description of how we estimate fair values follows. Estimates 
of fair value at December 31, 2008, were determined in accordance 
with SFAS 107, as amended by SFAS 157.

Loans
Based on quoted market prices, recent transactions and/or 
discounted future cash flows, using rates we would charge to 
similar borrowers with similar maturities.

Borrowings
Valuation methodologies using current market interest rate data 
which are comparable to market quotes adjusted for our non-
performance risk.

Investment Contract Benefits
Based on expected future cash flows, discounted at currently 
offered rates for immediate annuity contracts or cash surrender 
values for single premium deferred annuities.

Guaranteed Investment Contracts
Based on valuation methodologies using current market interest 
rate data, adjusted for our non-performance risk.

All Other Instruments
Based on observable market transactions, valuation methodologies 
using current market interest rate data adjusted for inherent 
credit risk and/or quoted market prices.

Assets and liabilities that are reflected in the accompanying 
financial statements at fair value are not included in the above 
disclosures; such items include cash and equivalents, investment 
securities and derivative financial instruments.

Additional information about certain categories in the table 
above follows.

INSURANCE — CREDIT LIFE

Certain insurance affiliates, primarily in GE Money, issue credit 
life insurance designed to pay the balance due on a loan if the 
borrower dies before the loan is repaid. As part of our overall risk 
management process, we cede to third parties a portion of this 
associated risk, but are not relieved of our primary obligation to 
policyholders.
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LOAN COMMITMENTS

Notional amount

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007

Ordinary course of business lending 
commitments (a) (b)    $  8,507 $ 11,731

Unused revolving credit lines (c)

Commercial    25,011 24,554
Consumer — principally credit cards   252,867 477,285

(a) Excluded investment commitments of $3,501 million and $4,864 million as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(b) Included a $1,067 million secured commitment associated with an arrangement 
that can increase to a maximum of $4,943 million based on the asset volume 
under the arrangement. 

(c) Excluded inventory financing arrangements, which may be withdrawn at our 
option, of $14,503 million and $14,654 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.

Derivatives and Hedging
We conduct our business activities in diverse markets around 
the world, including countries where obtaining local funding is 
sometimes inefficient. The nature of our activities exposes us to 
changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. We 
manage such risks using various techniques including issuing 
debt whose terms correspond to terms of the funded assets, as 
well as combinations of debt and derivatives that achieve our 
objectives. We also are exposed to various commodity price risks 
and address certain of these risks with commodity contracts. 
By policy, we do not use derivatives for speculative purposes. 
We value derivatives that are not exchange-traded with internal 
market-based valuation models. When necessary, we also obtain 
information from our derivative counterparties to validate our 
models and to value the few products that our internal models 
do not address.

We use interest rate swaps, currency derivatives and commod-
ity derivatives to reduce the variability of expected future cash 
flows associated with variable rate borrowings and commercial 
purchase and sale transactions, including commodities. We use 
interest rate swaps, currency swaps and interest rate and currency 
forwards to hedge the fair value effects of interest rate and 
currency exchange rate changes on local and non-functional 
currency denominated fixed-rate borrowings and certain types 
of fixed-rate assets. We use currency swaps and forwards to 
protect our net investments in global operations conducted in non-
U.S. dollar currencies. We intend all of these positions to qualify 
as hedges and to be accounted for as hedges.

We use swaps, futures and option contracts, including caps, 
floors and collars, as economic hedges of changes in interest rates, 
currency exchange rates and equity prices on certain types of 
assets and liabilities. We sometimes use credit default swaps to 
economically hedge the credit risk of various counterparties 
with which we have entered into loan or leasing arrangements. 
We occasionally obtain equity warrants as part of sourcing or 
financing transactions. Although these instruments are derivatives, 
their economic risks are similar to, and managed on the same 
basis as, risks of other equity instruments we hold. These instru-
ments are marked to market through earnings.

Earnings Effects of Derivatives Designated as Hedges
The following table provides information about the earnings 
effects of derivatives designated and qualifying as hedges.

PRE-TAX GAINS (LOSSES)

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2006

CASH FLOW HEDGES

Ineffectiveness   $   8 $ (3) $ 10
Amounts excluded from the measure 

of effectiveness   5 (17) (16)
FAIR VALUE HEDGES

Ineffectiveness   (600) 7 (47)
Amounts excluded from the measure 

of effectiveness   (26) (13) 33

Ineffectiveness primarily related to changes in the present value 
of the initial credit spread over the benchmark interest rate 
associated with hedges of our fixed rate borrowings.

In 2008, 2007 and 2006, we recognized insignificant gains 
and losses related to hedged forecasted transactions and firm 
commitments that did not occur by the end of the originally 
specified period.

Guarantees of Derivatives
We do not sell credit default swaps; however, as a part of our 
risk management services, we provide performance guarantees 
to third-party financial institutions related to plain vanilla interest 
rate swaps on behalf of certain customers related to variable rate 
loans we have extended to them. The underwriting risk inherent 
in these arrangements is essentially similar to that of a fixed rate 
loan. Under these arrangements, the guarantee is secured, usually 
by the asset being purchased or financed, or by other assets of 
the guaranteed party. In addition, these agreements are under-
written to provide for collateral value that exceeds the combination 
of the loan amount and the initial expected future exposure of 
the derivative. These credit support arrangements mature on the 
same date as the related financing arrangements or transactions 
and are across a broad spectrum of diversified industries and 
companies. The fair value of our guarantee is $28 million at 
December 31, 2008. Because we are guaranteeing the performance 
of the customer under these arrangements, our exposure to loss 
at any point in time is limited to the fair value of the customer’s 
derivative contracts that are in a liability position. The aggregate 
termination value of such contracts at December 31, 2008, was 
$386 million before consideration of any offsetting effect of 
collateral. At December 31, 2008, collateral value was sufficient 
to cover the loan amount and the fair value of the customer’s 
derivative, in the event we had been called upon to perform under 
the guarantee. If we assumed that, on January 1, 2009, interest 
rates moved unfavorably by 100 basis points across the yield curve 
(a “parallel shift” in that curve), the effect on the fair value of such 
contracts, without considering any potential offset of the under-
lying collateral, would have been an increase of $161 million. 
Given our strict underwriting criteria, we believe the likelihood that 
we will be required to perform under the guarantee is remote.

Additional information regarding our use of derivatives is 
provided in Note 18 and Note 23.
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Counterparty Credit Risk
We manage counterparty credit risk, the risk that counterparties 
will default and not make payments to us according to the terms 
of the agreements, on an individual counterparty basis. Thus, 
when a legal right of offset exists, we net certain exposures by 
counterparty and include the value of collateral to determine the 
amount of ensuing exposure. When net exposure to a counter-
party, based on the current market values of agreements and 
collateral, exceeds credit exposure limits (see following table), we 
take action to reduce exposure. Such actions include prohibiting 
additional transactions with the counterparty, requiring collateral 
from the counterparty (as described below) and terminating or 
restructuring transactions.

Swaps are required to be executed under master agreements 
containing mutual credit downgrade provisions that provide the 
ability to require assignment or termination in the event either 
party is downgraded below A3 or A–. In certain cases we have 
entered into collateral arrangements that provide us with the right 
to hold collateral (cash or U.S. Treasury or other highly-rated 
securities) when the current market value of derivative contracts 
exceeds a specified limit. We evaluate credit risk exposures and 
compliance with credit exposure limits net of such collateral.

Fair values of our derivatives can change significantly from 
period to period based on, among other factors, market move-
ments and changes in our positions. At December 31, 2008, 
our exposure to counterparties, after consideration of netting 
arrangements and collateral, was about $1,800 million.

Following is GECS policy relating to initial credit rating 
requirements and to exposure limits to counterparties.

COUNTERPARTY CREDIT CRITERIA

Credit rating

    Moody’s S&P

Foreign exchange forwards and other 
derivatives less than one year  P–1 A–1

All derivatives between one and five years  Aa3 (a) AA– (a)

All derivatives greater than five years  Aaa (a) AAA (a)

(a) Counterparties that have an obligation to provide collateral to cover credit 
exposure in accordance with a credit support agreement must have a minimum 
A3/A– rating.

EXPOSURE LIMITS

(In millions)

Minimum rating Exposure(a)

    Without
    With collateral collateral
Moody’s S&P arrangements arrangements

Aaa  AAA $100 $75
Aa3  AA–  50 50
A3   A–  5 —

(a) For derivatives with maturities less than one year, counterparties are permitted to 
have unsecured exposure up to $150 million with a minimum rating of A–1/P–1. 
Exposure to a counterparty is determined net of collateral.

Note 30. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We securitize financial assets and arrange other forms of asset-
backed financing in the ordinary course of business to improve 
shareowner returns. The securitization transactions we engage in 
are similar to those used by many financial institutions. Beyond 
improving returns, these securitization transactions serve as 
funding sources for a variety of diversified lending and securities 
transactions. Historically, we have used both GE-supported and 
third-party Variable Interest Entities (VIEs) to execute off-balance 
sheet securitization transactions funded in the commercial paper 
and term markets.

Investors in these entities only have recourse to the assets 
owned by the entity and not to our general credit, unless noted 
below. We did not provide non-contractual support to consoli-
dated or unconsolidated VIEs in either 2008 or 2007. We do not 
have implicit support arrangements with any VIEs.

Variable Interest Entities
When evaluating whether we are the primary beneficiary of a 
VIE and must therefore consolidate the entity, we perform a 
qualitative analysis that considers the design of the VIE, the 
nature of our involvement and the variable interests held by 
other parties. If that evaluation is inconclusive as to which party 
absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses or residual 
returns, a quantitative analysis is performed to determine who is 
the primary beneficiary. The largest single category of VIEs that 
we are involved with are Qualifying Special Purpose Entities 
(QSPEs), which meet specific characteristics defined in U.S. GAAP 
that exclude them from the scope of consolidation standards.

Consolidated Variable Interest Entities
Upon adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46(R) on July 1, 2003 and 
January 1, 2004, respectively, we consolidated certain VIEs with 
$54.0 billion of assets and $52.6 billion of liabilities, which are 
further described below. At December 31, 2008, assets and 
liabilities of those VIEs, and additional VIEs consolidated as a 
result of subsequent acquisitions of financial companies, totaled 
$26,626 million and $21,256 million, respectively (at December 31, 
2007, assets and liabilities were $32,382 million and $24,342 million, 
respectively). 
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The VIEs included in our consolidated financial statements 
include the following:

Securitization entities that hold financing receivables and other 
financial assets. Since they were consolidated in 2003, these 
assets have continued to run off; totaled $4,000 million at 
December 31, 2008; and are included in Note 12 ($5,013 mil-
lion in 2007). There has been no significant difference between 
the performance of these financing receivables and our on-
book receivables on a blended basis. The liabilities of these 
securitization entities, which consist primarily of commercial 
paper, totaled $3,868 million at December 31, 2008, and are 
included in Note 18 ($4,834 million in 2007). Contractually the 
cash flows from these financing receivables must first be 
used to pay down outstanding commercial paper and interest 
thereon as well as other expenses of the entity. Excess cash 
flows are available to GE. The creditors of these entities have 
no claim on the other assets of GE.

If the short-term credit rating of GE Capital or these entities 
were reduced below A–1/P–1, we would be required to pro-
vide substitute liquidity for those entities or provide funds 
to retire the outstanding commercial paper. The maximum 
net amount that we would be required to provide in the 
event of such a downgrade is determined by contract, and 
totaled $3,753 million at December 31, 2008. As the borrow-
ings of these entities are already reflected in our consoli-
dated Statement of Financial Position, there would be no 
change in our debt if this were to occur.

Trinity, a group of sponsored special purpose entities, which 
invests in a portfolio of mainly investment-grade investment 
securities using proceeds raised from guaranteed investment 
contracts (GICs) it issues to investors (principally municipalities). 
At December 31, 2008, these entities held $8,190 million of 
investment securities, included in Note 9, and $1,002 million
of cash and other assets ($11,101 million and $517 million,
respectively, at December 31, 2007). The associated guaran-
teed investment contract liabilities, included in Note 19, were 
$10,828 million and $11,705 million at the end of December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively. 

If the long-term credit rating of GE Capital were to fall below 
AA–/Aa3 or its short-term credit rating were to fall below 
A–1+/P–1, GE Capital would be required to provide approx-
imately $3,493 million of capital to such entities as of 
December 31, 2008, pursuant to letters of credit issued by 
GE Capital. To the extent that entities’ liabilities exceed the 
ultimate value of the proceeds from the sale of their assets 
and the amount drawn under the letters of credit, GE Capital 
could be required to provide such excess amount. As of 
December 31, 2008, the value of these entities’ liabilities 
was $10,749 million and the fair value of their assets was 
$9,191 million (which included unrealized losses on investment 
securities of $2,055 million). With respect to these investment 
securities, we intend to hold them at least until such time as 
their individual fair values exceed their amortized cost and we 
have the ability to hold all such debt securities until maturity. 

As the borrowings of these entities are already reflected in 
our consolidated Statement of Financial Position, there would 
be no change in our debt if this were to occur. 

Penske Truck Leasing Co., L.P. (Penske), a rental truck leasing 
joint venture. The total consolidated assets and liabilities of 
Penske at December 31, 2008, were $7,444 million and 
$1,339 million, respectively ($8,075 million and $1,482 million at 
December 31, 2007, respectively). Penske’s main consolidated 
asset is property, plant and equipment leased to others, 
included in Note 14, which totaled $5,499 million at December 31, 
2008, ($6,100 million at December 31, 2007). There are no 
recourse arrangements between GE and Penske.

The remaining assets and liabilities of VIEs that are included in our 
consolidated financial statements were acquired in transactions 
subsequent to adoption of FIN 46(R) on January 1, 2004. Assets 
of these entities consist of amortizing securitizations of financial 
assets originated by acquirees in Australia and Japan, and real 
estate partnerships. There are no recourse arrangements between 
GE and these entities.

Off-Balance Sheet Entities
The vast majority of our involvement with unconsolidated VIEs 
relates to our securitization activities and is detailed in the table 
below.

Our involvement with unconsolidated VIEs consists of the 
following activities: assisting in the formation and financing of 
an entity, providing recourse and/or liquidity support, servicing 
the assets and receiving variable fees for services provided. The 
classification in our financial statements of our variable interests in 
these entities depends on the nature of the entity. As described 
below, our retained interests in securitization-related VIEs and 
QSPEs is reported in financing receivables or investment securities 
depending on its legal form. Variable interests in partnerships and 
corporate entities would be classified as either equity method or 
cost method investments. 

In the ordinary course of business, we make equity invest-
ments in entities in which we are not the primary beneficiary 
but may hold a variable interest such as limited partner equity 
interests or mezzanine debt investment. These investments 
totaled $2,871 million at year-end 2008 and are classified in 
two captions in our financial statements. At December 31, 2008, 
“All other assets” included investments in entities accounted 
for under either the equity method or the cost method, which 
totaled $1,897 million ($1,089 million at December 31, 2007). 
In addition, at December 31, 2008, we held financing receivables, 
included in Note 12, totaling $974 million ($567 million at 
December 31, 2007) representing debt financing provided to 
these VIEs. Our maximum exposure to loss related to such 
entities at December 31, 2008, was $4,030 million ($2,559 million
at December 31, 2007), and includes our investment in the 
unconsolidated VIEs and our contractual obligations to fund new 
investments by the entities. None of these investments is 
individually significant. 
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When we securitize financing receivables we retain interests 
in the transferred receivables in two forms: a seller’s interest in 
the assets of the QSPE, which we classify as financing receivables, 
and subordinated interests in the assets of the QSPE, which we 
classify as investment securities.

Other than those entities described above, we also hold 
passive investments in RMBS, CMBS and asset-backed securities 
issued by entities that may be either VIEs or QSPEs. Such invest-
ments were, by design, investment grade at issuance and held by 
a diverse group of investors. As we have no formal involvement in 
such entities beyond our investment, we believe that the likeli-
hood is remote that we would be required to consolidate them. 
Further information about such investments is provided in Note 9.

We transfer assets to QSPEs in the ordinary course of business 
as part of our ongoing securitization activities. In our securitization 
transactions, we transfer assets to a QSPE in exchange for cash, 
which is funded by beneficial interests issued by the QSPE to third 
parties and our retained interests in the assets transferred. 

The financing receivables in our QSPEs have similar risks and 
characteristics to our on-book financing receivables and were 
underwritten to the same standard. Accordingly, the perfor-
mance of these assets has been similar to our on-book financing 
receivables; however, the blended performance of the pools of 
receivables in our QSPEs reflects the eligibility screening require-
ments that we apply to determine which receivables are selected 
for sale. Therefore, the blended performance can differ from the 
on-book performance. 

Financing receivables transferred to securitization entities that remain outstanding and our retained interests in those financing 
receivables at December 31, 2008 and 2007 follows.

    Commercial Credit card
December 31 (In millions) Equipment (a)(b) real estate (b) receivables Other assets (b) Total assets

2008

Asset amount outstanding  $13,298 $7,970 $26,046 $5,250 $52,564
Included within the amount above are retained interests of:

Financing receivables (c)  339 — 3,802 — 4,141
Investment securities  747 222 4,806 532 6,307

2007
Asset amount outstanding  $15,566 $9,244 $26,248 $5,067 $56,125
Included within the amount above are retained interests of:

Financing receivables (c)  764 — 3,455 — 4,219
Investment securities  763 454 3,922 535 5,674

(a) Includes inventory floorplan receivables.

(b) In certain equipment and commercial real estate transactions entered into prior to December 31, 2004, we provided contractual credit and liquidity support to third parties 
who purchased debt in the QSPEs. We have not entered into additional arrangements since that date. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, liquidity support amounted to 
$2,143 million and $2,810 million, respectively. Credit support amounted to $2,164 million and $2,804 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Liabilities with 
recourse obligations related to off-balance sheet assets were $8 million and $3 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The maximum exposure to loss under 
these obligations was $124 million and $99 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(c) Uncertificated sellers interests.

We have not provided non-contractual support to any QSPEs in 
2008 or 2007. We do not have any implicit support arrangements 
with QSPEs.
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Retained Interests in Securitization Transactions
When we transfer financing receivables, we determine the fair 
value of retained interests received as part of the securitization 
transaction in accordance with SFAS 157. Further information 
about how fair value is determined is presented in Note 28. 
Retained interests in securitized receivables that are classified as 
investment securities are reported at fair value in each reporting 
period. These assets decrease as cash is received on the under-
lying financing receivables. Retained interests classified as financing 
receivables are accounted for the same as our on-book financing 
receivables.

Key assumptions used in measuring the fair value of retained 
interests classified as investment securities and the sensitivity 
of the current fair value to changes in those assumptions related 
to all outstanding retained interests at December 31, 2008 and 
2007 were:

    Commercial Credit card Other
(In millions) Equipment real estate receivables assets

2008

Discount rate (a)  17.6% 25.8% 15.1% 13.4%
Effect of

10% adverse change  $ (15) $(14) $  (53) $ (1)
20% adverse change (30) (26) (105) (3)

Prepayment rate (a) (b) 19.5% 11.3% 9.6% 52.0%
Effect of

10% adverse change $ (2) $ (3) $(60) $ —
20% adverse change  (5) (7) (118) (1)

Estimate of credit losses (a) 0.7% 1.3% 16.2% —%
Effect of

10% adverse change  $ (5) $ (2) $ (223) $ —
20% adverse change  (10) (4) (440) —

Remaining weighted 
average asset lives 
(in months) 14 55 10 4

Net credit losses  $ 91 $  1 $1,815 $ 5
Delinquencies 139 56 1,833 80

2007
Discount rate (a)  13.7% 15.2% 14.8% 14.9%
Effect of

10% adverse change  $ (11) $(20) $  (36) $ (3)
20% adverse change  (22) (38) (72) (6)

Prepayment rate (a) (b) 16.4% 3.4% 10.8% 35.1%
Effect of

10% adverse change  $ (7) $ (5) $  (80) $ (2)
20% adverse change  (12) (9) (148) (4)

Estimate of credit losses (a)  1.2% 1.0% 9.0% 0.1%
Effect of

10% adverse change  $ (5) $ (8) $ (110) $ (1)
20% adverse change  (9) (13) (222) (1)

Remaining weighted 
average lives (in months)  16 53 8 24

Net credit losses  $ 55 $  1 $  941 $ —
Delinquencies 53 12 1,514 27

(a) Based on weighted averages.

(b) Represented a payment rate on credit card receivables, inventory financing 
receivables (included within equipment) and trade receivables (included within 
other assets).

Activity related to retained interests classified as investment 
securities in our consolidated financial statements follows.

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

CASH FLOWS ON TRANSFERS

Proceeds from new transfers  $ 6,655 $22,767 $19,288
Proceeds from collections reinvested 

in revolving period transfers  70,144 61,625 46,944
Cash flows on retained interests 

recorded as investment securities  5,935 4,265 2,964
EFFECT ON GECS REVENUES

FROM SERVICES

Net gain on sale   $ 1,133 $ 1,805 $ 1,187
Change in fair value on SFAS 155 

retained interests   (113) (102) —
Other-than-temporary impairments  (330) (114) (37)

Derivative Activities
The QSPEs use derivatives to manage interest rate risk between 
the assets and liabilities. At inception of the transaction, the QSPE 
will enter into derivative contracts to receive a floating rate of 
interest and pay a fixed rate with terms that effectively match 
those of the financial assets held. In some cases, we are the 
counterparty to such derivative contracts, in which case a second 
derivative is executed with a third party to substantially eliminate 
the exposure created by the first derivative. At December 31,
2008, the fair value of such derivative contracts was $752 million
($134 million at December 31, 2007). We have no other derivatives 
arrangements with QSPEs or other VIEs.

Servicing Activities
As part of a securitization transaction, we may provide servicing in 
exchange for a market-based fee that is determined on principal 
balances. Where the fee does not represent market-based 
compensation for these services, a servicing asset or liability is 
recorded, as appropriate. The fair value of the servicing asset or 
liability is subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risk. 
Servicing assets and liabilities are amortized to earnings in pro-
portion to and over the period of servicing activity. The amount of 
our servicing assets and liabilities was insignificant at December 31, 
2008 and 2007. We received servicing fees from QSPEs of 
$641 million, $566 million and $381 million in 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

When we provide servicing as an “Aaa” rated provider we 
are contractually permitted to commingle cash collected from 
customers on financing receivables sold to investors with our 
own cash prior to payment to a QSPE. At December 31, 2008, 
the balance owed to QSPEs from such collections and included 
in cash and equivalents was $4,446 million ($5,121 million at 
December 31, 2007). Balances owed by QSPE to GE at 
December 31, 2008, and included in other GECS receivables, 
were $2,346 million, principally for receivable purchases 
($3,507 million at December 31, 2007).
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INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS. These are agreements that require 
us to fund up to $693 million under residual value guarantees 
on a variety of leased equipment. Under most of our residual 
value guarantees, our commitment is secured by the leased 
asset at termination of the lease. The liability for these indem-
nification agreements was $332 million at December 31, 2008. 
We had $1,742 million of other indemnification commitments 
arising primarily from sales of businesses or assets.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION. These are agreements to provide 
additional consideration in a business combination to the 
seller if contractually specified conditions related to the 
acquired entity are achieved. At December 31, 2008, we had 
total maximum exposure for future estimated payments of 
$118 million, of which none was earned and payable.

Our guarantees are provided in the ordinary course of business. 
We underwrite these guarantees considering economic, liquidity 
and credit risk of the counterparty. We believe that the likelihood 
is remote that any such arrangements could have a significant 
adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or 
liquidity. We record liabilities for guarantees at estimated fair 
value, generally the amount of the premium received, or if we do 
not receive a premium, the amount based on appraisal, observed 
market values or discounted cash flows. Any associated expected 
recoveries from third parties are recorded as other receivables, 
not netted against the liabilities.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the likelihood that we will be 
called upon to perform on these guarantees is remote.

Product Warranties
We provide for estimated product warranty expenses when we sell 
the related products. Because warranty estimates are forecasts 
that are based on the best available information—mostly historical 
claims experience — claims costs may differ from amounts pro-
vided. An analysis of changes in the liability for product warranties 
follows.

(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

Balance at January 1  $1,541 $1,339 $1,240
Current-year provisions  1,038 827 829
Expenditures (a)  (917) (763) (729)
Other changes  13 138 (1)

Balance at December 31  $1,675 $1,541 $1,339

(a) Primarily related to Technology Infrastructure and Energy Infrastructure.

Note 31. 

Commitments and Guarantees

Commitments, Including Guarantees
In our Aviation business of Technology Infrastructure, we had 
committed to provide financial assistance on $1,291 million of 
future customer acquisitions of aircraft equipped with our 
engines, including commitments made to airlines in 2008 for 
future sales under our GE90 and GEnx engine campaigns. The 
GECAS business of Capital Finance had placed multiple-year 
orders for various Boeing, Airbus and other aircraft with list 
prices approximating $17,248 million and secondary orders with 
airlines for used aircraft of approximately $1,653 million at 
December 31, 2008.

At December 31, 2008, NBC Universal had $8,102 million of 
commitments to acquire film and television programming, 
including U.S. television rights to future Olympic Games and 
National Football League games, contractual commitments 
under various creative talent arrangements and various other 
arrangements requiring payments through 2014.

At December 31, 2008, we were committed under the follow-
ing guarantee arrangements beyond those provided on behalf of 
securitization entities. See Note 30.

CREDIT SUPPORT. We have provided $9,151 million of credit sup-
port on behalf of certain customers or associated companies, 
predominantly joint ventures and partnerships, using arrange-
ments such as standby letters of credit and performance 
guarantees. These arrangements enable these customers and 
associated companies to execute transactions or obtain 
desired financing arrangements with third parties. Should the 
customer or associated company fail to perform under the 
terms of the transaction or financing arrangement, we would 
be required to perform on their behalf. Under most such 
arrangements, our guarantee is secured, usually by the asset 
being purchased or financed, but possibly by certain other 
assets of the customer or associated company. The length of 
these credit support arrangements parallels the length of the 
related financing arrangements or transactions. The liability for 
such credit support was $72 million for December 31, 2008.
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Note 32. 

Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

First quarter  Second quarter  Third quarter  Fourth quarter

(In millions; per-share amounts in dollars)  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS

Earnings from continuing operations  $ 4,351 $ 4,911 $ 5,394 $ 5,608 $ 4,477 $ 5,111 $ 3,867 $ 6,827
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  (47) (340) (322) (226) (165) 448 (145) (131)

Net earnings  4,304 4,571 5,072 5,382 4,312 5,559 3,722 6,696
Preferred stock dividends declared  — — — — — — (75) —

Net earnings attributable to common 
shareowners  $ 4,304 $ 4,571 $ 5,072 $ 5,382 $ 4,312 $ 5,559 $ 3,647 $ 6,696

Per-share amounts — earnings from
continuing operations 

  Diluted earnings per share  $  0.43 $  0.48 $  0.54 $  0.54 $  0.45 $  0.50 $  0.36 $  0.68
  Basic earnings per share  0.44 0.48 0.54 0.55 0.45 0.50 0.36 0.68
Per-share amounts — earnings (loss)

from discontinued operations
  Diluted earnings per share  — (0.03) (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) 0.04 (0.01) (0.01)
  Basic earnings per share  — (0.03) (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) 0.04 (0.01) (0.01)
Per-share amounts — net earnings 
  Diluted earnings per share  0.43 0.44 0.51 0.52 0.43 0.54 0.35 0.66
  Basic earnings per share  0.43 0.44 0.51 0.52 0.43 0.55 0.35 0.67

SELECTED DATA

GE

Sales of goods and services  $24,186 $21,688 $27,846 $24,269 $28,868 $24,690 $31,114 $29,149
Gross profit from sales  6,280 5,660 7,302 6,537 6,930 6,357 8,229 7,757

GECS

Total revenues  18,038 17,409 19,032 17,170 18,431 18,066 15,786 19,291
Earnings from continuing operations  2,456 3,407 2,774 2,416 2,010 3,219 534 3,375

For GE, gross profit from sales is sales of goods and services less 
costs of goods and services sold.

Earnings-per-share amounts are computed independently each 
quarter for earnings from continuing operations, earnings (loss) 
from discontinued operations and net earnings. As a result, the 

sum of each quarter’s per-share amount may not equal the total 
per-share amount for the respective year; and the sum of per-
share amounts from continuing operations and discontinued 
operations may not equal the total per-share amounts for net 
earnings for the respective quarters.
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Financial Measures that Supplement Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles

We sometimes use information derived from consolidated financial 
information but not presented in our financial statements prepared 
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP). Certain of these data are considered “non-GAAP financial 
measures” under U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission rules. 
Specifically, we have referred, in various sections of this Annual 
Report, to:

Industrial organic revenue growth in 2008

Average organic revenue growth for the three years ended 
December 31, 2008

Average total shareowners’ equity, excluding effects of 
discontinued operations

Cash generated by our industrial businesses

Ratio of debt to equity at GE Capital, net of cash and equiva-
lents and with classification of hybrid debt as equity

GE pre-tax earnings from continuing operations before income 
taxes, excluding GECS earnings from continuing operations, 
the corresponding effective tax rates and the reconciliation of 
the U.S. federal statutory rate to those effective tax rates for 
the three years ended December 31, 2008

Delinquency rates on managed equipment financing loans 
and leases and managed consumer financing receivables for 
2008, 2007 and 2006

The reasons we use these non-GAAP financial measures and the reconciliations to their most directly comparable GAAP financial mea-
sures follow.

Industrial Organic Revenue Growth in 2008
(In millions) 2008 2007 % change

GE revenues as reported      $121,753 $115,584
Less GECS earnings from continuing operations    7,774 12,417

Industrial revenues      113,979 103,167
Less the effects of 

Acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions of businesses acquired for investment) 
and currency exchange rates     4,054 2,031

The 2008 Olympics broadcasts     1,020 —

Industrial revenues excluding the effects of acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions 
of businesses acquired for investment), currency exchange rates and the 2008 Olympics broadcasts 
(Industrial organic revenues)     $108,905 $101,136 8%

Organic Revenue Growth in 2008
(In millions) 2008 2007 % change

GE consolidated revenues as reported    $182,515 $172,488
Less the effects of 

Acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions of businesses acquired for investment) 
and currency exchange rates     10,139 2,992

The 2008 Olympics broadcasts     1,020 —

GE consolidated revenues excluding the effects of acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions 
of businesses acquired for investment), currency exchange rates and the 2008 Olympics broadcasts 
(organic revenues)      $171,356 $169,496 1%

Organic Revenue Growth in 2007
(In millions) 2007 2006 % change

GE consolidated revenues as reported    $172,488 $151,568
Less the effects of 

Acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions of businesses acquired for investment) and 
currency exchange rates     12,803 4,992

The 2006 Olympics broadcasts     — 684
Reclassification of discontinued operations    (250) (275)

GE consolidated revenues excluding the effects of acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions 
of businesses acquired for investment), currency exchange rates, the 2006 Olympics broadcasts and 
reclassifications of discontinued operations (organic revenues)  $159,935 $146,167 9%
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Organic Revenue Growth in 2006
(In millions) 2006 2005 % change

GE consolidated revenues as reported    $151,568 $136,262
Less the effects of

Acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions of businesses acquired for investment) 
and currency exchange rates     5,213 2,750

The 2006 Olympics broadcasts     684 —
Restatement and immaterial adjustments    (219) 398
Reclassifications of discontinued operations    (11,407) (11,552)

GE consolidated revenues excluding the effects of acquisitions, business dispositions (other than dispositions 
of businesses acquired for investment), currency exchange rates, the 2006 Olympics broadcasts, 
restatement and immaterial adjustments and reclassifications of discontinued operations (organic revenues) $157,297 $144,666 9%

Three-year average      6%

Organic revenue growth measures revenue excluding the effects of acquisitions, business dispositions and currency exchange rates, 
and without the effects of the 2008 and 2006 Olympics broadcasts, the restatement and immaterial adjustments and reclassifications 
of discontinued operations. We believe that this measure provides management and investors with a more complete understanding 
of underlying operating results and trends of established, ongoing operations by excluding the effect of acquisitions, dispositions and 
currency exchange, which activities are subject to volatility and can obscure underlying trends, and the 2008 and 2006 Olympics 
broadcasts, the restatement and immaterial adjustments and reclassification of discontinued operations, which if included would over-
shadow trends in ongoing revenues. We also believe that presenting organic revenue growth separately for our industrial businesses 
provides management and investors with useful information about the trends of our industrial businesses and enables a more direct 
comparison to other non-financial businesses and companies. Management recognizes that the term “organic revenue growth” may be 
interpreted differently by other companies and under different circumstances. Although this may have an effect on comparability of 
absolute percentage growth from company to company, we believe that these measures are useful in assessing trends of the respec-
tive businesses or companies and may therefore be a useful tool in assessing period-to-period performance trends.

Average Total Shareowners’ Equity, Excluding Effects of Discontinued Operations (a)

December 31 (In millions)  2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Average total shareowners’ equity (b)  $113,387 $113,842 $109,174 $110,998 $94,521
Less the effects of

Cumulative earnings from discontinued operations  — — — 2,094 2,985
Average net investment in discontinued operations  (590) 3,640 11,658 13,298 8,743

Average total shareowners’ equity, excluding effects of 
discontinued operations (a)  $113,977 $110,202 $ 97,516 $ 95,606 $82,793

(a) Used for computing return on average shareowners’ equity and return on average total capital invested shown in the Selected Financial Data section.

(b) On an annual basis, calculated using a five-point average.

Our ROTC calculation excludes earnings (losses) of discontinued 
operations from the numerator because U.S. GAAP requires us 
to display those earnings (losses) in the Statement of Earnings. 
We exclude the cumulative effect of earnings (losses) of discon-
tinued operations from the denominator in our ROTC calculation 
(1) for each of the periods for which related discontinued opera-
tions were presented, and (2) for our average net investment in 
discontinued operations since July 1, 2005. Had we disposed of 
these operations before July 1, 2005, we would have applied 
the proceeds to reduce parent-supported debt at GE Capital. 
However, since parent-supported debt at GE Capital was retired by 
June 30, 2005, we have assumed that we would have distributed 
the proceeds after that time to shareowners through share 
repurchases, thus reducing average total shareowners’ equity. 

Our calculation of average total shareowners’ equity may not be 
directly comparable to similarly titled measures reported by 
other companies. We believe that it is a clearer way to measure 
the ongoing trend in return on total capital for the continuing 
operations of our businesses given the extent that discontinued 
operations have affected our reported results. We believe that 
this results in a more relevant measure for management and 
investors to evaluate performance of our continuing operations, on 
a consistent basis, and to evaluate and compare the performance 
of our continuing operations with the ongoing operations of 
other businesses and companies.

Definitions indicating how the above-named ratios are calcu-
lated using average total shareowners’ equity, excluding effects 
of discontinued operations, can be found in the Glossary.
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We have provided the GE Capital ratio of debt to equity on a basis 
that reflects the use of cash and equivalents to reduce debt, and 
with long-term debt due in 2066 and 2067 classified as equity. 
We believe this is a useful comparison to a GAAP-based ratio of 
debt to equity because cash balances may be used to reduce debt 
and because this long-term debt has equity-like characteristics. 
The usefulness of this supplemental measure may be limited, 
however, as the total amount of cash and equivalents at any point 
in time may be different than the amount that could practically 
be applied to reduce outstanding debt, and it may not be advan-
tageous or practical to replace debt that does not mature for 
more than 50 years with equity. Also, in February 2009, the GE 
Board authorized a capital contribution of up to $9.5 billion to 
GE Capital, which is expected to be made in the first quarter of 
2009. The effect of this contribution on GE Capital equity is not 
reflected in the ratio above. Despite these potential limitations, we 
believe that this measure, considered along with the correspond-
ing GAAP measure, provides investors with additional information 
that may be more comparable to other financial institutions and 
businesses.

GE Income Tax Rate, Excluding GECS Earnings
(In millions) 2008 2007 2006

GE earnings from continuing 
operations before income taxes  $21,516 $25,251 $21,896

Less GECS earnings from 
continuing operations   7,774 12,417 10,219

Total    $13,742 $12,834 $11,677

GE provision for income taxes  $ 3,427 $ 2,794 $ 2,552
GE effective tax rate, excluding 

GECS earnings   24.9% 21.8% 21.9%

Reconciliation of U.S. Federal Statutory Income Tax Rate to 
GE Income Tax Rate, Excluding GECS Earnings
    2008 2007 2006

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate  35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Reduction in rate resulting from

Tax on global activities including exports (8.2) (9.9) (12.2)
U.S. business credits   (0.6) (0.6) (0.7)

All other — net   (1.3) (2.7) (0.2)

      (10.1) (13.2) (13.1)

GE income tax rate, excluding 
GECS earnings   24.9% 21.8% 21.9%

We believe that the GE effective tax rate is best analyzed in relation 
to GE earnings before income taxes excluding the GECS net 
earnings from continuing operations, as GE tax expense does 
not include taxes on GECS earnings. Management believes that 
in addition to the Consolidated and GECS tax rates shown in 
Note 7, this supplemental measure provides investors with useful 
information as it presents the GE effective tax rate that can be 
used in comparing the GE results to other non-financial services 
businesses.

Cash Generated by our Industrial Businesses
(In millions) 2008

Cash from GE’s operating activities as reported  $19,086
Less dividends from GECS  2,351

Cash from GE’s operating activities excluding dividends 
from GECS (industrial CFOA)  $16,735

We refer to cash generated by our industrial businesses as 
“industrial CFOA,” which we define as GE’s cash from operating 
activities less the amount of dividends received by GE from GECS. 
This includes the effects of intercompany transactions, including 
GECS services for material procurement, trade receivables 
management and factoring; buildings and equipment leasing by 
GE from GECS; information technology and other services sold 
to GECS by GE; aircraft engines manufactured by GE that are 
installed on aircraft purchased by GECS from third-party producers 
for lease to others; medical equipment manufactured by GE 
that is leased by GECS to others; and various investments, loans 
and allocations of GE corporate overhead costs. We believe that 
investors may find it useful to compare GE’s operating cash flows 
without the effect of GECS dividends, since these dividends are 
not representative of the operating cash flows of our industrial 
businesses and can vary from period to period based upon the 
results of the financial services businesses. Management recog-
nizes that this measure may not be comparable to cash flow 
results of companies which contain both industrial and financial 
services businesses, but believes that this comparison is aided 
by the provision of additional information about the amounts of 
dividends paid by our financial services business and the separate 
presentation in our financial statements, of the Financial Services 
(GECS) cash flows statement. We believe that our measure of 
industrial CFOA provides management and investors with a useful 
measure to compare the capacity of our industrial operations to 
generate operating cash flow with the operating cash flow of other 
non-financial businesses and companies and as such provides a 
useful measure to supplement the reported GAAP CFOA measure.

Ratio of Debt to Equity at GE Capital, Net of Cash and 
Equivalents and with Classification of Hybrid Debt as Equity
December 31 (Dollars in millions)  2008

GE Capital debt  $510,356
Less cash and equivalents  36,430
Less hybrid debt  7,725

    $466,201

GE Capital equity  $ 58,229
Plus hybrid debt  7,725

    $ 65,954

Ratio  7.07:1
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Delinquency Rates on Certain Financing Receivables
Delinquency rates on managed equipment financing loans and 
leases and managed consumer financing receivables follow.

Equipment Financing
December 31 2008 2007 2006

Managed   2.17% 1.21% 1.22%
Off-book   1.20 0.71 0.52
On-book   2.34 1.33 1.42

Consumer
December 31 2008 2007 2006

Managed   7.47% 5.38% 5.22%
U.S.   7.14 5.52 4.93
Non-U.S.   7.64 5.32 5.34

Off-book   8.24 6.64 5.49
U.S.   8.24 6.64 5.49
Non-U.S.   (a) (a) (a)

On-book   7.35 5.22 5.20
U.S.   6.39 4.78 4.70
Non-U.S.   7.64 5.32 5.34

(a) Not applicable.

Delinquency rates on on-book and off-book equipment financ-
ing loans and leases increased from December 31, 2007 to 
December 31, 2008, as a result of continuing weakness in the 
economic and credit environment. In addition, delinquency rates 
on on-book equipment financing loans and leases increased 
from December 31, 2007 to December 31, 2008, as a result of 
the inclusion of the CitiCapital acquisition and Sanyo acquisition 
in Japan, which contributed an additional 12 and 9 basis points, 
respectively, at December 31, 2008.

The increases in off-book and on-book delinquencies for 
consumer financing receivables in the U.S. from December 31,
2007 to December 31, 2008, reflect the continued rise in delin-
quencies across the U.S. credit card receivables platforms. The 
increase in on-book delinquency for consumer financing receiv-
ables outside of the U.S. reflects the effects of the declining U.K. 
housing market. The increase in off-book delinquencies for 
consumer financing receivables in the U.S. from December 31,
2006 to December 31, 2007, reflected both a change in the mix 
of the receivables securitized during 2007—for example, our Care 
Credit receivables which generally have a higher delinquency 
rate than our core private label card portfolio—as well as the risk 
in the delinquencies across the broader portfolio of U.S. credit 
card receivables.

We believe that delinquency rates on managed financing 
receivables provide a useful perspective of our portfolio quality 
and are key indicators of financial performance. We use this non-
GAAP financial measure because it provides information that 
enables management and investors to understand the underlying 
operational performance and trends of certain financing receiv-
ables and facilitates a comparison with the performance of our 

competitors. The same underwriting standards and ongoing risk 
monitoring are used for both on-book and off-book portfolios as 
the customer’s credit performance will affect both loans retained 
on the Statement of Financial Position and securitized loans. We 
believe that managed basis information is useful to management 
and investors, enabling them to understand both the credit risks 
associated with the loans reported on the Statement of Financial 
Position and our retained interests in securitized loans.

Five-Year Financial Performance Graph: 2004 – 2008

COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE RETURN AMONG GE, S&P 500 

AND DOW JONES INDUSTRIAL AVERAGE

The annual changes for the five-year period shown in the graph 
on this page are based on the assumption that $100 had been 
invested in GE stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index and 
the Dow Jones Industrial Average on December 31, 2003, and 
that all quarterly dividends were reinvested. The total cumulative 
dollar returns shown on the graph represent the value that such 
investments would have had on December 31, 2008.

20072006200520042003 2008
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

(In dollars)

GE
S&P 500
DJIA

134
130

119121

100

61

    2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

GE   $100 $121 $119 $130 $134 $61
S&P 500 100 111 116 135 142 89
DJIA  100 106 107 128 139 95
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BACKLOG Unfilled customer orders for products and product 
services (12 months for product services).

BORROWING Financial liability (short or long-term) that obligates 
us to repay cash or another financial asset to another entity.

BORROWINGS AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL CAPITAL INVESTED

For GE, the sum of borrowings and mandatorily redeemable 
preferred stock, divided by the sum of borrowings, mandatorily 
redeemable preferred stock, minority interest and total share-
owners’ equity.

CASH EQUIVALENTS Highly liquid debt instruments with original 
maturities of three months or less, such as commercial paper. 
Typically included with cash for reporting purposes, unless desig-
nated as available-for-sale and included with investment securities.

CASH FLOW HEDGES Qualifying derivative instruments that we 
use to protect ourselves against exposure to variability in future 
cash flows. The exposure may be associated with an existing 
asset or liability, or with a forecasted transaction. See “Hedge.”

COMMERCIAL PAPER Unsecured, unregistered promise to repay 
borrowed funds in a specified period ranging from overnight to 
270 days.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENT A financial instrument or contract with 
another party (counterparty) that is designed to meet any of a 
variety of risk management objectives, including those related 
to fluctuations in interest rates, currency exchange rates or 
commodity prices. Options, forwards and swaps are the most 
common derivative instruments we employ. See “Hedge.”

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS Certain businesses we have sold or 
committed to sell within the next year and therefore will no longer 
be part of our ongoing operations. The net earnings, assets and 
liabilities, and cash flows of such businesses are separately classi-
fied on our Statement of Earnings, Statement of Financial Position 
and Statement of Cash Flows, respectively, for all periods presented.

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE Provision for income taxes as a percentage 
of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and 
accounting changes. Does not represent cash paid for income 
taxes in the current accounting period. Also referred to as “actual 
tax rate” or “tax rate.”

EQUIPMENT LEASED TO OTHERS Rental equipment we own that is 
available to rent and is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

FAIR VALUE HEDGE Qualifying derivative instruments that we use 
to reduce the risk of changes in the fair value of assets, liabilities 
or certain types of firm commitments. Changes in the fair values 
of derivative instruments that are designated and effective as fair 
value hedges are recorded in earnings, but are offset by correspond-
ing changes in the fair values of the hedged items. See “Hedge.”

FINANCING RECEIVABLES Investment in contractual loans and 
leases due from customers (not investment securities).

FORWARD CONTRACT Fixed price contract for purchase or sale of 
a specified quantity of a commodity, security, currency or other 
financial instrument with delivery and settlement at a specified 
future date. Commonly used as a hedging tool. See “Hedge.”

GOODWILL The premium paid for acquisition of a business. 
Calculated as the purchase price less the fair value of net assets 
acquired (net assets are identified tangible and intangible assets, 
less liabilities assumed).

GUARANTEED INVESTMENT CONTRACTS (GICs) Deposit-type prod-
ucts that guarantee a minimum rate of return, which may be 
fixed or floating.

HEDGE A technique designed to eliminate risk. Often refers to the 
use of derivative financial instruments to offset changes in interest 
rates, currency exchange rates or commodity prices, although 
many business positions are “naturally hedged” — for example, 
funding a U.S. fixed-rate investment with U.S. fixed-rate borrow-
ings is a natural interest rate hedge.

INTANGIBLE ASSET A non-financial asset lacking physical substance, 
such as goodwill, patents, licenses, trademarks and customer 
relationships.

INTEREST RATE SWAP Agreement under which two counterparties 
agree to exchange one type of interest rate cash flow for another. 
In a typical arrangement, one party periodically will pay a fixed 
amount of interest, in exchange for which that party will receive 
variable payments computed using a published index. See “Hedge.”

INVESTMENT SECURITIES Generally, an instrument that provides an 
ownership position in a corporation (a stock), a creditor relationship 
with a corporation or governmental body (a bond), rights to con-
tractual cash flows backed by pools of financial assets or rights 
to ownership such as those represented by options, subscription 
rights and subscription warrants.

MANAGED RECEIVABLES Total receivable amounts on which we 
continue to perform billing and collection activities, including 
receivables that have been sold with and without credit recourse 
and are no longer reported on our Statement of Financial Position.

MATCH FUNDING A risk control policy that provides funding for a 
particular financial asset having the same currency, maturity and 
interest rate characteristics as that asset. Match funding is exe-
cuted directly, by issuing debt, or synthetically, through a combi-
nation of debt and derivative financial instruments. For example, 
when we lend at a fixed interest rate in the U.S., we can borrow 
those U.S. dollars either at a fixed rate of interest or at a floating 
rate executed concurrently with a pay-fixed interest rate swap. 
See “Hedge.”

MONETIZATION Sale of financial assets to a third party for cash. 
For example, we sell certain loans, credit card receivables and trade 
receivables to third-party financial buyers, typically providing at 
least some credit protection and often agreeing to provide collec-
tion and processing services for a fee. Monetization normally results 
in gains on interest-bearing assets and losses on non-interest 
bearing assets. See “Securitization” and “Variable Interest Entity.”
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OPERATING PROFIT GE earnings from continuing operations before 
interest and other financial charges, income taxes and effects of 
accounting changes.

OPTION The right, not the obligation, to execute a transaction at 
a designated price, generally involving equity interests, interest 
rates, currencies or commodities. See “Hedge.”

PREMIUM Rate that is charged under insurance/reinsurance 
contracts.

PRODUCT SERVICES For purposes of the financial statement display 
of sales and costs of sales in our Statement of Earnings, “goods” is 
required by U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission regulations 
to include all sales of tangible products, and “services” must include 
all other sales, including broadcasting and other services activities. 
In our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operations we 
refer to sales of both spare parts (goods) and related services 
as sales of “product services,” which is an important part of our 
operations.

PRODUCT SERVICES AGREEMENTS Contractual commitments, with 
multiple-year terms, to provide specified services for products in 
our Energy Infrastructure and Technology Infrastructure installed 
base — for example, monitoring, maintenance, service and spare 
parts for a gas turbine/generator set installed in a customer’s 
power plant.

PRODUCTIVITY The rate of increased output for a given level of 
input, with both output and input measured in constant currency.

PROGRESS COLLECTIONS Payments received from customers as 
deposits before the associated work is performed or product is 
delivered.

QUALIFYING SPEs (QSPEs) These entities are a specific type of 
Variable Interest Entity defined in SFAS 140, Transfers of Financial 
Assets to a Qualifying Special Purpose Entity. The activities of a 
QSPE are significantly limited and entirely specified in the legal 
documents that established the entity. There also are significant 
limitations on the types of assets and derivative instruments they 
may hold and the types and extent of activities and decision-
making they may engage in. 

REINSURANCE A form of insurance that insurance companies buy 
for their own protection.

RETAINED INTEREST A portion of a transferred financial asset 
retained by the transferor that provides rights to receive portions 
of the cash inflows from that asset.

RETURN ON AVERAGE SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY Earnings from con-
tinuing operations before accounting changes divided by average 
total shareowners’ equity, excluding effects of discontinued oper-
ations (on an annual basis, calculated using a five-point average). 
Average total shareowners’ equity, excluding effects of discon-
tinued operations, as of the end of each of the years in the 
five-year period ended December 31, 2008, is described in the 
Supplemental Information section.

RETURN ON AVERAGE TOTAL CAPITAL INVESTED For GE, earnings 
from continuing operations before accounting changes plus the 
sum of after-tax interest and other financial charges and minority 
interest, divided by the sum of the averages of total shareowners’ 
equity (excluding effects of discontinued operations), borrowings, 
mandatorily redeemable preferred stock and minority interest (on 
an annual basis, calculated using a five-point average). Average 
total shareowners’ equity, excluding effects of discontinued oper-
ations as of the end of each of the years in the five-year period 
ended December 31, 2008, is described in the Supplemental 
Information section.

SECURITIZATION A process whereby loans or other receivables are 
packaged, underwritten and sold to investors. In a typical trans-
action, assets are sold to a special purpose entity, which purchases 
the assets with cash raised through issuance of beneficial inter-
ests (usually debt instruments) to third-party investors. Whether 
or not credit risk associated with the securitized assets is retained 
by the seller depends on the structure of the securitization. See 
“Monetization” and “Variable interest entity.”

SUBPRIME For purposes of GE Money related discussion, sub-
prime includes credit card, installment and revolving loans to 
U.S. borrowers whose credit score is less than 660 based upon 
GE Capital’s proprietary scoring models, which add various 
qualitative and other factors to the base FICO credit score. FICO 
credit scores are a widely accepted rating of individual consumer 
creditworthiness.

TURNOVER Broadly based on the number of times that working 
capital is replaced during a year. Current receivables turnover is 
total sales divided by the five-point average balance of GE current 
receivables. Inventory turnover is total sales divided by a five-point 
average balance of inventories. See “Working capital.”

UNPAID CLAIMS AND CLAIMS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES Claims 
reserves for events that have occurred, including both reported 
and incurred-but-not-reported (IBNR) reserves, and the expenses 
of settling such claims.

VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY Entity defined by Financial Accounting 
Standards Board Interpretation 46 (Revised), and that must be 
consolidated by its primary beneficiary. A variable interest entity 
has one or both of the following characteristics: (1) its equity at 
risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities 
without additional subordinated financial support from other 
parties, or (2) as a group, the equity investors lack one or more 
of the following characteristics: (a) direct/indirect ability to make 
decisions, (b) obligation to absorb expected losses, or (c) right to 
receive expected residual returns.

WORKING CAPITAL Represents GE current receivables and inven-
tories, less GE accounts payable and progress collections.

glossary
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CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
General Electric Company
3135 Easton Turnpike, Fairfield, CT 06828
(203) 373-2211

ANNUAL MEETING
GE’s 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareowners will be held on Wednesday, 
April 22, 2009 at the Orange County Convention Center in Orlando, 
Florida.

SHAREOWNER SERVICES
To transfer securities, write to GE Share Owner Services, c/o The Bank 
of New York Mellon, P.O. Box 358010, Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8010.

For shareowner inquiries, including enrollment information and 
a prospectus for the Direct Purchase and Reinvestment Plan, 
“GE Stock Direct,” write to GE Share Owner Services, c/o The Bank of 
New York Mellon, P.O. Box 358016, Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8016; or call 
(800) 786-2543 (800-STOCK-GE) or (201) 680-6848; or send an e-mail 
to shrrelations@bnymellon.com.

For Internet access to general shareowner information and certain 
forms, including transfer instructions or stock power, visit the Web site 
at www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd.

STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION
In the United States, GE common stock is listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange (its principal market). It also is listed on certain non-U.S. 
exchanges, including the London Stock Exchange and Euronext Paris.

TRADING AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION
Common Stock Market Price Dividends

(In dollars) High Low Declared

2008
Fourth quarter   $25.75 $12.58 $.31
Third quarter   30.39 22.16 .31
Second quarter   38.52 26.15 .31
First quarter   37.74 31.65 .31

2007
Fourth quarter   $42.15 $36.07 $.31
Third quarter   42.07 36.20 .28
Second quarter   39.77 34.55 .28
First quarter   38.28 33.90 .28

As of December 31, 2008, there were about 604,000 shareowner 
accounts of record.

FORM 10-K AND OTHER REPORTS; CERTIFICATIONS
The financial information in this report, in the opinion of management, 
substantially conforms with information required in the “Form 10-K 
Report” filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
in February 2009. However, the Form 10-K Report also contains addi-
tional information, and it can be viewed at www.ge.com/secreports.

Copies also are available, without charge, from GE Corporate 
Investor Communications, 3135 Easton Turnpike, Fairfield, CT 06828.

General Electric Capital Services, Inc. and General Electric Capital 
Corporation file Form 10-K Reports with the SEC, and these can also 
be viewed at www.ge.com/secreports.

GE has included as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
fiscal year 2008 filed with the SEC certifications of GE’s Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer certifying the quality of the company’s 
public disclosure. GE’s Chief Executive Officer has also submitted to the 
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) a certification certifying that he is 
not aware of any violations by GE of the NYSE corporate governance 
listing standards.

Information on the GE Foundation, GE’s philanthropic organization, 
can be viewed at www.gefoundation.com.

INTERNET ADDRESS INFORMATION
Visit us online at www.ge.com for more information about GE and its 
products and services.

The 2008 GE Annual Report is available online at www.ge.com/
annualreport. For detailed news and information regarding our 
strategy and our businesses, please visit our Press Room online 
at www.genewscenter.com, our Investor Information site at 
www.ge.com/investor or our corporate blog at www.gereports.com.

PRODUCT INFORMATION
For information about GE’s consumer products and services, visit us 
at www.geconsumerandindustrial.com.

CORPORATE OMBUDSPERSON
To report concerns related to compliance with the law, GE policies or 
government contracting requirements, write to GE Corporate 
Ombudsperson, P.O. Box 911, Fairfield, CT 06824; or call (800) 227-5003 
or (203) 373-2603; or send an e-mail to ombudsperson@corporate.
ge.com.

CONTACT THE GE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
For reporting complaints about GE’s financial reporting, internal con-
trols and procedures, auditing matters or other concerns to the Board of 
Directors or the Audit Committee, write to GE Board of Directors, 
General Electric Company (W2E), 3135 Easton Turnpike, Fairfield, CT 
06828; or call (800) 417-0575 or (203) 373-2652; or send an e-mail to 
directors@corporate.ge.com.

©2009 General Electric Company Printed in U.S.A.

Note: Unless otherwise indicated by the context, the term “GE,” “General Electric” 
and “Company” are used on the basis of consolidation described on page 56.
GE, , ecomagination, and imagination at work are trademarks and service 
marks of the General Electric Company; NBC, CNBC and Universal Pictures are 
trademarks and service marks of NBC Universal. Other marks used throughout 
are trademarks and service marks of their respective owners.

Patent applications filed in 2008 by GE include U.S. original and other applications.

Caution Concerning Forward-Looking Statements: This document contains 
“forward-looking statements” — that is, statements related to future, not past, 
events. In this context, forward-looking statements often address our expected 
future business and financial performance and financial condition, and often 
contain such words as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” or 
“will.” Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to 
different degrees, uncertain. For us, particular uncertainties that could cause our 
actual results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-
looking statements include: the severity and duration of current economic and 
financial conditions, including volatility in interest and exchange rates, commodity 
and equity prices and the value of financial assets; the impact of U.S. and foreign 
government programs to restore liquidity and stimulate national and global 
economies; the impact of conditions in the financial and credit markets on the 
availability and cost of GE Capital’s funding and on our ability to reduce GE Capital’s 
asset levels and commercial paper exposure as planned; the impact of conditions 
in the housing market and unemployment rates on the level of commercial and 
consumer credit defaults; our ability to maintain our current credit rating and 
the impact on our funding costs and competitive position if we do not do so; the 
soundness of other financial institutions with which GE Capital does business; 
the adequacy of our cash flow and earnings and other conditions which may 
affect our ability to maintain our quarterly dividend at the current level; the level 
of demand and financial performance of the major industries we serve, includ-
ing, without limitation, air and rail transportation, energy generation, network 
television, real estate and healthcare; the impact of regulation and regulatory, 
investigative and legal proceedings and legal compliance risks; strategic actions, 
including acquisitions and dispositions and our success in integrating acquired 
businesses; and numerous other matters of national, regional and global scale, 
including those of a political, economic, business and competitive nature. We do 
not undertake to update our forward-looking statements.



Thanks to the customers, partners, and GE employees 
who appear in this annual report for contributing 
their time and support.

The paper used in this report was supplied by 
participants of the Sustainable Initiative Programs. 
The majority of the power utilized to manufacture 
this paper was renewable energy, produced with 
GE’s wind and biogas technologies, and powered 
by GE steam engines and turbine engines. 

Visit our interactive online annual report 
at www.ge.com/annualreport

D
es

ig
n:

 V
SA

 P
ar

tn
er

s,
 In

c.
 

Pr
in

tin
g:

 C
en

ve
o 



General Electric Company
Fairfi eld, Connecticut 06828
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